
AGENDA COVER 
Regular Joint Meeting of the 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/ 
 REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY  

MEETING DATE: THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 10, 2011 
 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS:  420 CAPITOLA AVENUE, CAPITOLA 
 

 
0 
 
 
 

Elected Officials 
 

Dennis Norton, Mayor 
Michael Termini, Vice Mayor 

Stephanie Harlan, Council Member 
Kirby Nicol, Council Member 
Sam Storey, Council Member 

 
Jacques Bertrand, City Treasurer 

 
 

City Staff Members 
 

Jamie Goldstein, City Manager 
John G. Barisone, City Attorney 
Pamela Greeninger, City Clerk 

Mike Card, Chief of Police 
Derek Johnson, 

Community Development Director 
Steven Jesberg, Public Works Director 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

p 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Notice regarding City Council Meetings:  The City Council meets regularly on the 2nd and 4th 
Thursday of each month immediately following the Redevelopment Agency Meeting, at approximately 
7:00 p.m., in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola. 
 
Notice regarding Redevelopment Agency Meetings: Redevelopment Agency meetings are held on 
the 2nd and 4th Thursday of each month commencing between 6 p.m. and 7 p.m.  The exact time of 
commencement will be determined by the Executive Director (based upon his/her estimate of time 
required) and shall be set forth in the notice of meeting posted at the place of meeting in accordance 
with Govt. Code §54954.2(a). Exceptions are the 2nd meeting in November is held on the 4th Tuesday, 
and in December when there is only one regular meeting on the 2nd Thursday of the month.   
 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials: The City Council/Redevelopment Agency Agenda and the 
complete Agenda Packet are available on the Internet at the City’s website: www.ci.capitola.ca.us.   
Agendas are also available at the Capitola Post Office located at 826 Bay Avenue, Capitola. 
 
Agenda Document Review:  The complete agenda packet is available at City Hall and at the 
Capitola Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday meeting.   
Need more information?   Contact the City Clerk’s office at 831-475-7300. 
 
Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Pursuant to Government 
Code §54957.5, materials related to an agenda item submitted after distribution of the agenda packet 
are available for public inspection at the Reception Office at City Hall, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
California, during normal business hours. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons 
with a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1990.  Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the 
meeting in the City Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in 
the meeting due to a disability, please contact the City Clerk’s office at least 24-hours in advance of 
the meeting at (831) 475-7300. In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental 
sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 
Televised Meetings:  City Council/Redevelopment Agency meetings are cablecast “Live” on Charter 
Communications Cable TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed at 12:00 Noon on the Saturday 
following the meetings on Community Television of Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and 
Comcast Channel 25).  Meetings can also be viewed from the City’s website: www.ci.capitola.ca.us. 

CLOSED SESSION                        5:30 P.M. 
JOINT CITY COUNCIL/REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY REGULAR MEETING    7:00 P.M.  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

Regular Joint Meeting of the 
CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

Thursday, February 10, 2011 

 
5:30 P.M - CLOSED SESSION - CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE  

 
An announcement regarding the items to be discussed in Closed Session will be made in the City 
Hall Council Chambers prior to the Closed Session.    Members of the public may, at this time, 
address the City Council/Redevelopment Agency Directors on closed session items only. 
  
CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION (Govt. Code §54956.9a) 
 

Talbert vs. City of Capitola, et al [U.S. District Court Case No. C 10-03113 JW (N.D. Cal.)] 
 
Surf and Sand, LLC vs. City of Capitola, et al (Surf & Sand Mobile Home Park) [Superior 

Court of the State of California for County of Santa Cruz, Case #CV 167716] 
 
Surf and Sand, LLC vs. City of Capitola, et al (Surf & Sand Mobile Home Park) [U.S. District 

Court N.D., Case No. C09-05542 RS (Judge Richard Seeborg)] 
 

 Los Altos/El Granada Investors vs. City of Capitola, et al (Castle Mobile Estates) [U.S. 
 District Court N.D., Case No. CV 04-05138 JF (Judge Jeremy Fogel)]  

 
Vieira Enterprises, Inc. vs. City of Capitola (Cabrillo Mobile Estates) 
 

 City of Capitola vs. Soquel Union Elementary School District 
Santa Cruz Superior Court Case #167649 
 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION  
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to subdivision (b) of Government Code §54956.9: 
One Case:  Vieira Enterprises, Inc. vs. City of Capitola (Cabrillo Mobile Estates) 
 
The City is in receipt of a December 30, 2010, Fair Return rent increase application for 
Cabrillo Mobilehome Park, which claims that if it is not granted in its entirety, the City will be 
liable for the unconstitutional taking of Mr. Vieira’s property and further claims that the City’s 
past enforcement of its rent control ordinance has already functioned to effect such a 
taking. 

 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY – FEBRUARY 10, 2011  PAGE 2 

 
REGULAR JOINT MEETING 

OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY  
 

ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Council Members/Directors Harlan, Termini, Nicol, Storey, 

and Mayor/Chairperson Norton  
 

* * * PRESENTATIONS * * * 
 

Presentation by Julie Boudreau, Education and Outreach Coordinator  
for Hospice of Santa Cruz County 

 
Presentation by Carrie Stevens, Program Manager 

 for Big Brothers Big Sisters 
 

1. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION  
 
2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS  

 
A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

 
B. Public Comments 

Oral Communications allows time for members of the Public to address the City 
Council/Redevelopment Agency on any item not on the Agenda.  Presentations 
will be limited to three minutes per speaker.   Individuals may not speak more 
than once during Oral Communications.  All speakers must address the entire 
legislative body and will not be permitted to engage in dialogue. All speakers 
are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so 
that their name may be accurately recorded in the minutes.  A MAXIMUM of 30 
MINUTES is set aside for Oral Communications at this time. 
 

C. Staff Comments 
 
D. City Council/RDA Director/Treasurer Comments/Committee Reports 

City Council Members/Redevelopment Agency Directors/City Treasurer may 
comment on matters of a general nature or identify issues for staff response or 
future council/RDA consideration.  Council Members/RDA Directors/Committee 
Representatives may present oral updates from standing committees at this 
time. 
 

E. Committee Appointments  
Council Members/RDA Directors/Committee Representatives may present oral 
updates from standing committees at this time.  Committee appointments may 
also be made by the City Council/Redevelopment Agency at this time. 
 

 1) Nomination of City Representative to serve on the Santa Cruz 
   County Hazardous Materials Advisory Commission. 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY – FEBRUARY 10, 2011  PAGE 3 

 
F. Approval of Check Register Reports 
 
 1) City:  Approval of City Check Register Reports dated January 

   21 and January 28, 2011 
 
 2) RDA:  Approval of Redevelopment Agency Check Register 

 Report dated January 21, 2011 
 

3. CONSENT CALENDAR 
All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the City Council/ 
Redevelopment Agency to be routine and will be enacted by one motion in the form 
listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these items prior to the time the 
Council votes on the action unless members of the public or the Council request 
specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for separate 
discussion will be considered following “Other Business.” 

 
A. Approve Reading by Title of all Ordinances and Resolutions and 

declare that said Titles which appear on the Public Agenda shall be 
determined to have been read by Title and Further Reading Waived. 

 
B. City/RDA:  Approve City Council/Redevelopment Agency Minutes of 

the Joint Regular Meetings of January 13 and January 27, 2011.  
 
C. Receive Planning Commission Action Minutes for the Regular 

Meeting of February 3, 2011. 
 
D. RDA:  Receive RDA Treasurer’s Report for the quarter ended 

December 31, 2010 (Unaudited). 
 
E. Approve request from the Capitola-Soquel Chamber of Commerce 

for a Special Event Permit for the 6th Annual Vintage Motorcycle 
Show “Bikes on the Bay” with DJ Music to be held on Sunday, June 
26, 2011, from 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. at the Capitola Mall; and 
approve grant for permit fees in the Amount of $150. 

 
F. Approve request from the Capitola-Soquel Chamber of Commerce 

for a Special Event Permit, Encroachment Permit and Entertainment 
Permit for the 29th Annual Art & Wine Festival in Capitola Village and 
live music in Esplanade Park on Saturday and Sunday, September 
10 and 11, 2011; and approve grant for permits and Police and 
Public Works Department fees in the amount of $2,303. 

 
 
 
 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY – FEBRUARY 10, 2011  PAGE 4 

 
3. CONSENT CALENDAR - Continued 

 
G. Approve Special Event Permit Request by the Capitola Art & 

Cultural Commission for the 2011 Twilight Concert Series at the 
Bandstand in Esplanade Park on 11 Wednesday evenings from 6:00 
p.m. to 8:00 p.m., and the hanging of a banner prior to each concert. 

 
4. PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each 
 item listed as a Public Hearing.  The following procedure is followed for each Public 
 Hearing listed:  1) Staff Explanation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) Council Comments; 4) 
 Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) City Council discussion; and 6) Decision. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A. Public Hearing on Project Application #10-104, 100-200 Kennedy 
Drive, to consider Appeal of a Planning Commission approval for a 
Master Use Permit for an existing industrial property in the IP 
(Industrial Park) Zoning District;  APN: 036-031-01; Filed: 12/15/10; 
Property Owner:  John McCoy.  Presentation:  Community 
Development Department. 

 
B. Public Hearing to consider Ordinance on SmartMeters.  
 Presentation:  Public Works Department. 

 
5. OTHER BUSINESS 

 
A. Approval of the draft Bicycle Transportation Plan.  Staff 

recommendation: approve the draft Bicycle Transportation Plan, 
adopt Resolution authorizing the submittal of the Bicycle 
Transportation Account Grant Application for FY 2011-2012, and 
approve a Notice of Exemption pursuant to Sections 15301 and 
15304 of the California Environmental Quality Act. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTE:  Any person seeking to challenge a City Council decision made as a result of a proceeding in 
which, by law, a hearing is required to be given, evidence is required to be taken, and the discretion in 
the determination of facts is vested in the City Council, shall be required to commence that court action 
within ninety (90) days following the date on which the decision becomes final as provided in Code of 
Civil Procedure §1094.6.  Please refer to code of Civil Procedure §1094.6 to determine how to calculate 
when a decision becomes “final.”  Please be advised that in most instances the decision become “final” 
upon the City Council’s announcement of its decision at the completion of the public hearing.  Failure to 
comply with this 90-day rule will preclude any person from challenging the City Council decision in court.



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY – FEBRUARY 10, 2011  PAGE 5 

 
5. OTHER BUSINESS - Continued 

 
B. Request from the Capitola Public Safety and Community Service 

Foundation for approval of a Special Event Permit for the 6th Annual 
Capitola Rod & Custom Classic Car Show in Capitola Village on 
Saturday and Sunday, June 11 and 12, 2011, and approval of a 
grant in the amount of $1,406.  Staff recommendation: approve 
Special Event Permit and a Grant in the amount of $1,406 for Permit 
Fees. 

 
  
  

AT THIS POINT, ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT CALENDAR WILL BE CONSIDERED 

 
 
6. COUNCIL/RDA DIRECTOR/STAFF COMMUNICATIONS 
 
 
7. ADJOURNMENT 

 Adjourn to a Special Joint Budget Session of the City Council/ 
Redevelopment Agency to be held on Thursday, February 17, 2011, at 
6:00 p.m., in the City Hall Council Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, 
Capitola, California. 



R:\Agenda Staff Reports\2011 Agenda Reports\02-10-11\Hazardous Materials Commission Nomination.docx 

          Item #: 2.E.1) 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 

 
FROM:  OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK 
 
DATE:  FEBRUARY 1, 2011 
 
SUBJECT: NOMINATION OF THE CITY’S REPRESENTATIVE TO THE COUNTY OF SANTA 

CRUZ HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ADVISORY COMMISSION  
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommended Action:  By motion, nominate Gene Benson to continue to serve as the City’s 

Representative on the County of Santa Cruz Hazardous Materials Advisory Commission, and 
direct staff to forward the City Council’s nomination to Mark Stone, Chairperson of the Board of 
Supervisors, who will make the actual appointment.  

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
BACKGROUND 
On July 14, 2005, the City Council nominated Gene Benson to serve as the city’s representative to the 
County of Santa Cruz Hazardous Materials Advisory Commission. Mr. Benson was appointed to fill the 
unexpired term which ended on  April 1, 2007, and was subsequently nominated and appointed by the 
Board to serve on the current term which ends April 1, 2011.    
 
DISCUSSION 
The Board of Supervisors has informed Mr. Benson that his term on the Hazardous Materials Advisory 
Commission will expire on April 1, 2011, and that if he is interested in continuing to serve as the City of 
Capitola’s representative, he should inform the City Council. 
 
On January 25, 2011, the council members received the attached email from Mr. Benson informing 
them of his interest to continue to serve on the Hazardous Materials Advisory Commission.  Mr. 
Benson plans to attend the February 10, 2011, meeting and will be available to report on commission 
activities and respond to questions of council members. 
 
Mayor Norton asked staff to include this item on the Council’s agenda for consideration.  The City 
Council has the option of nominating Gene Benson to serve another 4-year term, or to seek letters of 
interest from Capitola citizens interested in serving as the city’s representative on the Hazardous 
Materials Advisory Commission . 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Email dated  1/25/11 from Gene Benson 
 
 
Report Prepared By:  Pamela Greeninger, MMC 

 City Clerk  
Reviewed and Forwarded 

         By City Manager:  _______ 







































R:\Agenda Staff Reports\2011 Agenda Reports\02-10-11\RDA-Council Minutes.docx 

            Item #: 3.B. 
 

CITY COUNCIL/REDEVELOPMENT 
AGENCY  

AGENDA REPORT 
 

        MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 
 
FROM:  OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK/RDA SECRETARY 
 
DATE:  February 1, 2011 
 
SUBJECT: CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MINUTE APPROVAL  
  MINUTES OF THE JOINT REGULAR MEETINGS OF JANUARY 13 AND 27, 2011 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommended Action:  By motion, that the City Council/Redevelopment Agency Directors approve 

the subject minutes as submitted.  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Attached for City Council/Redevelopment Agency review and approval are the subject minutes.   
  
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Minutes of January 13 and 27, 2011 
 
 
  
Report Prepared By:  Pamela Greeninger, MMC 

 City Clerk/RDA Secretary 
 

 
        Reviewed and Forwarded by 
          City Manager/Executive Director: _____ 

 
  













































             Item #: 3.C. 
 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 

MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR  
 
DATE:  FEBRUARY 3, 2011 
 
SUBJECT:     PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION MINUTES OF FEBRUARY 3, 2011 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Chairperson Ortiz called the Joint Meeting of the Planning Commission and Traffic and Parking 
Commission to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 
Planning Commissioners, Ed Newman, Mick Routh, Linda Smith and Chairperson Gayle Ortiz 
Absent: Ron Graves  
 
Traffic and Parking Commission Members:  Ed Bottorff, Carin Hanna, Linda Hanson, Margaret 
Kinstler, Vicki Muse, Anne Nicol, Molly Ording, Peter Roddy, Nels Westman, (Note:  Mick 
Routh sits on the Traffic and Parking Commission as the Planning Commission representative) 
Absent: Gary Wetsel 
 
Staff: Community Development Director Derek Johnson 
 Public Works Director Steven Jesberg 
 Minute Clerk Danielle Uharriet 
 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda - NONE 

 
B. Public Comments - NONE 

 
C. Commission Comments 

 
Commissioner Smith complimented staff on the e-packet 
 

D. Staff Comments - NONE 
 
 
3. PRESENTATION 
 

Capitola Village Parking Structure Planning Project Report by Watry Design Inc. and 
Traffic Impact, Circulation, and Congestion Relief Study by RBF Consulting 

 
  



4. ADJOURNMENT 
 

The Planning Commission and the Traffic and Parking Commission adjourned the meeting at    
8:35 p.m. 

 
The Planning Commission adjourned to a Regular Meeting of to be held on Thursday, March 
3, 2011 at 7:00 p.m., in the City Hall Council Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
California. 

 
The Traffic and Parking Commission adjourned to a Regular Meeting to be held on 
Wednesday, February 9, 2011 at 6:30 p.m. in the Community Room, 420 Capitola Avenue, 
Capitola, California 

 
 



                         RDA Item #: 3.D.  
 

CAPITOLA REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
                     MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 

 
 
FROM:           FINANCE DEPARTMENT  
 
DATE:           FEBRUARY 2, 2011 
 
SUBJECT:    RDA Treasurer’s Report for the quarter ended December 31, 2010 (unaudited) 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Recommended Action:  Accept quarterly report. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Capitola RDA Treasurer’s report is presented quarterly to the RDA Board of Directors. 
 
DISCUSSION 
Following is a summary of some key elements of the 12/31/10 RDA Annual Statement of Indebtedness: 
 

 
 
 
RDA cash balance at quarter-end is as follows: 
 

  

Source/Purpose of Indebtedness

Debt
1.) Loan from City - Rispin land purchase 1,350,000$     104,600$      Rispin Purchase Agreement
2.) Loan from City - Cooperative Agreement 618,028$        47,900$        FY 1997 thru 2001 Admin Svcs Loan
3.) Loan from Stone & Youngberg/Chase NYC 1,000,000$     47,500$        Tax Allocation Note - 9/29/14
4.) Capitola Library Construction Contract 2,477,100$     162,900$      Capitola Library Construction - 2/1/18
5.) Santa Cruz County Agreement - Library Distr., Sect. 3 91,800$          45,900$        Yrs 1-20 Pass-throughs - 6/30/12
6.) Santa Cruz County Agreement - Special Distr., Sect. 4 40,200$          20,100$        Yrs 1-20 Pass-throughs - 6/30/12

5,577,128$     428,900$      

Annual Pass Throughs
7.) Santa Cruz County 4,713,776$     528,000$      Pass-through Agreement, est. 2002-17
8.) Central Fire District 3,077,775$     323,000$      Pass-through Agreement, est. 2002-17
9.) Library District 561,957$        62,800$        Pass-through Agreement, est. 2002-17

10.) Special District 289,060$        27,600$        Pass-through Agreement, est. 2002-17

11.) 
SERAF (Supplemental Educational Relief Augmentation 
Fund) 144,616$        144,616$      SERAF shift for FY009-10, 10-11

8,787,184$     1,086,016$   

Obligation to Low/Mod Housing
12.) 20% Housing Set-Aside 5,823,040$     463,360$      20% Pass through Req., est. 2002-17

Total 20,187,352$   1,978,276$   

INDEBTEDNESS COMMITTED AS OF JUNE, 30, 2010
Remaining 

Principal Due

Principal & 
Interest Due 
FY 2010-11

RDA 
Operating

Low/Moderate 
Income 
Housing

Total RDA 
Cash

Bank of America (106,300)$     355,900$        249,600$       
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 3,529,600$    618,400$        4,148,000$    

Total RDA Cash 3,423,300$    974,300$        4,397,600$    

Total RDA Cash, 12/31/10



Agency Agenda report - RDA Treasurer’s Report, Quarter ended December 31, 2010                 Page  2 

C:\Documents and Settings\mdeiter\Desktop\Agenda Working Folder\3.D RDA Treasurer's Report.docx 

  
  
The following table shows activity and resulting fund balances for RDA Operating and Low/Moderate 
Income Housing Funds: 
 

  
 
 
Significant activity for second quarter 2010-11, ended December 31, 2010, includes: 
 
Revenue 
$1,264,300 tax increment, offset by $252,900 20% set aside pass through and revenue 
 
Expenditures: 
$613,540 pass throughs associated with tax increment 
$49,200 First Time Home Buyer loan 
$30,000 Capitola Road/42nd Street Improvement project 
$28,140 Housing Services contracts 

- $22,900 Emergency Housing assistance of $95,000 Community Action Board contract 
- $3,780 of $7,560 Wharf Road Manor rent subsidy program 
- $1,490 of $20,000 Housing Authority Security Deposit Program 

$26,155 interest only loan payment for City $1,350,000 Rispin purchase loan 
$24,745 Rispin clean-up and securing site 
$20,460 tourism/economic development   
      - $10,000 Q2 and Q3 payments for $20,000 Capitola Chamber Visitor Services contract 
      - $5,000   Q2 and Q3 payments for $10,000 Capitola Chamber Economic Development contract 
      - $2,885 quarterly payment for $11,540 Santa Cruz County Conference and Visitors Council 
      - $2,575 quarterly payment for $10,300 Santa Cruz County Conference and Visitors Council  
 Cultural Tourism contract 
 
Report prepared by:       
Lonnie Wagner, Accountant II 
 
Approved by: 
Derek Johnson 
Deputy Executive Director __________________            Reviewed and forwarded by: 
                     Debbie Johnson 
           RDA Treasurer  _____________                       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

Revenue Expenditures
RDA Operating 3,067,100$      (181,700)$  1,264,300$  724,900$      3,424,800$     
Low/Mod Housing 808,100$         (6,000)$      252,900$     78,900$        976,100$        

Total 3,875,200$      (187,700)$  1,517,200$  803,800$      4,400,900$     

Ending Fund 
Balance - 

12/31/2010
Net Prior 

Qtr. Activity

Beginning Fund 
Balance - 
7/1/2010

Q2, 2010-11































             Item #: 3.F. 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 

 
FROM:  POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 
DATE:  FEBRUARY 2, 2011 
 
SUBJECT: APPROVE REQUEST FOR SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT FROM THE CAPITOLA-

SOQUEL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE FOR THE 29TH ANNUAL ART AND WINE 
FESTIVAL IN CAPITOLA VILLAGE AND LIVE MUSIC IN ESPLANADE PARK ON 
SATURDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, AND SUNDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2011; AND 
APPROVE GRANT FOR PERMITS AND PUBLIC WORKS FEES IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$2,303.00 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommended Action:  By motion and roll call vote, that the City Council: 
 

1) Approve the Special Event Permit, including all other permits, for the 29th Annual 
Capitola Art & Wine Festival to be held Saturday and Sunday, September 10 and 11, 
2011, and authorize the Capitola Police Department to issue said permits; and 

2) Approve Grant in the amount of $2,303.00 for permits and Public Works fees. 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Capitola Art and Wine Festival has taken place annually for the past 28 years.  This year will mark 
the Festival’s 29th anniversary. The impact of this event on City services has remained consistent over 
the last several years and few additional calls for service have been generated.  The Festival 
Committee is requesting approval for the Festival to occur on September 10 from 10:00 AM to 7:00 PM 
and September 11 from 10:00 AM to 6:00 PM.  During the Festival, a number of entertainment events 
will take place on the Bandstand.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The events of the Festival are held every year, requiring the same levels of extra police presence.  The 
Police Department has standard operations orders in place for the duration of the event.  The 
committee is requesting to hang banners and signage at all booths, balloon bouquets at all Festival 
entrances, and special lighting at Esplanade Park stage.  During the Festival, four parking stalls will be 
reserved for organizers in the Pacific Cove parking lot.  Handicap access parking for the Festival will 
be temporarily located in four parking spaces along the 300 block of Capitola Avenue. 200 vendors will 
attend the Festival.  The anticipated daily attendance will be approximately 30,000 people.  
 
Three shuttle buses will move people to and from the event. A medical station is manned and provided 
by Dominican Hospital staff.  The Chamber of Commerce will supply liability and workers 
compensation insurance.  
 
The Special Events Permit also serves as a permit for the stage during the Art and Wine Festival 
activities live music in Esplanade Park, as well as a banner request with the following conditions: 



2-10-11 AGENDA REPORT:  SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT ART & WINE FESTIVAL              Page 2 

  

 
 Encroachment permit will be issued 
 Entertainment permit will be issued 
 Amplified sound permit will be issued 
 Festival staff has the Bandstand reserved for Saturday and Sunday 
 ABC licenses will be obtained 
 A Certificate of Insurance indemnifying the City of Capitola will be obtained 
 Security for the event will be provided by the Capitola Police Department 
 Hours of operation have been clearly established 
 No open containers of alcohol in public outside the Festival boundaries 
 Adequate portable restrooms and trash containers have been secured for the event 
 The Fire Marshal will review and approve the event 
 The County Health Inspector will review and approve the event 
 Public Works will hang banners as requested 
 Abide by all Capitola Municipal Codes 

 
The CEQA Guidelines Section 15323: “Normal Operations of Facilities for Public Gatherings” 
exemption consists of the normal operations of existing facilities for public gatherings for which the 
facilities were designed, where there is a past history of the facility being used for the same or similar 
kind of purpose. 

As the proposed project includes the normal use of public facilities for which the facilities were 
designed, and as there is a past history of the event, the project qualifies for this exemption. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The fiscal impact of this event to the City of Capitola generally is minimal for Police Department 
staffing. The Art and Wine Festival Committee has paid for extra police services in the past and has 
agreed to pay for extra police services this year.  These services include the towing of parked vehicles 
on the morning of the first day of the event and the security of booths in the village during the first night 
of the event.  The projected overtime costs to the Festival Committee are as follows: 
 
 Number Position Hours  Rate  Total____ 
      2  Officers    12  $115.00 $2,760.00 
 
Public Works generally supplies equipment and labor services in the form of signs, barricades and 
cleanup costs.  The projected costs to the city from Public Works are as follows: 
 
 Number Position Hours  Rate  Total___ 
      1   Supervisor    5 (overtime)  $90.00  $ 450.00 
      1  Maint. Worker    4 (straight) $45.00  $ 180.00 
      1  Maint. Worker    2 (overtime)  $70.00  $ 140.00 
       Materials $ 100.00 
         $ 870.00 
 
   Total projected event costs to the city: $3,630.00 
   Permits:     $1,433.00 
   Total:      $5,063.00 
  
 
  
 
 
 
 



2-10-11 AGENDA REPORT:  SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT ART & WINE FESTIVAL              Page 3 

  

 
Application/ Permit Fee Breakdown: 
 

Entertainment App. $    31.00 
Entertainment Permit $    31.00 
Banner Permit $    34.00 
Amp. Sound Permit $    27.00 
Encroachment  $    56.00 
SEP $    54.00 
Bandstand (2 days) $1200.00 
TOTAL $1433.00 

 
 

The Capitola-Soquel Chamber of Commerce is seeking a grant from the City for projected city costs, 
including $870 for Public Works and $1433 for permit fees, totaling $2,303. The Chamber has agreed 
to pay the $2,760 in additional security costs for Police Department personnel. 
            
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Special Event Permit Application 
 
 
Report Prepared By: Tom Held, Captain 
 
Approved By: Mike Card, Chief of Police 
   
 

 Reviewed and Forwarded 
           By City Manager: _______ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
R:\Agenda Staff Reports\2011 Agenda Reports\02-10-11\Art and Wine Festival 2011_stf.doc 































                                                             Item #:  3.G. 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 

 
FROM:  POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  FEBRUARY 3, 2011 
 
SUBJECT: SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT REQUEST BY THE CAPITOLA ART & CULTURAL 

COMMISSION FOR THE 2011 TWILIGHT CONCERT SERIES IN 
ESPLANADE PARK AND BANDSTAND DURING ELEVEN SUMMER 
WEDNESDAY EVENINGS FROM 6 TO 8 P.M. BEGINNING JUNE 22 AND 
ENDING AUGUST 31, 2011, AND THE HANGING OF A BANNER PRIOR TO 
EACH CONCERT. 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommended Action:  By motion, that the City Council take the following actions: 
1) Approve the Special Event Permit for the 2011 Twilight Concert Series and authorize the 
Capitola Police Department to issue said permit;  
2) Authorize Public Works to hang the event banner on the Monday preceding each concert.   
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Capitola Art & Cultural Commission has sponsored a series of Wednesday evening 
concerts in the Esplanade Park for over twenty years.  The concerts are attended typically by 
local residents, requiring little in the way of City services. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Until the 2003 Twilight Concert series, the number of concerts presented was limited to eight.  
During 2003 and 2004, Council permitted an increase of two concerts for a total of ten.  In 
2005, Council granted an increase of one additional concert for a total of eleven.  This 
application for 2011 again asks for a total of eleven concert dates and the use of the 
Bandstand.  The permit application does not vary as to the intent of the Art & Cultural 
Commission’s series of Wednesday evening concerts from 6 p.m. to 8 p.m. as presented in 
the past.  The Concert Series is planned for local residents, which usually generates walk-in 
participation thus creating negligible impacts.  There are usually less than 800 attendees at 
the concerts.  Few calls for Police Department services have been noted.   
 
The Art & Cultural Commission requests the following assistance from Public Works staff: 
 

 Hang event banner announcing the event on Monterey Avenue the Monday preceding 
the concerts. 
 



R:\Agenda Staff Reports\2011 Agenda Reports\02-10-11\Twilight Concerts Special Event Permit.doc 

2-10-11 AGENDA REPORT:  Twilight Concert Series    Page 2 
 
 

 Empty trash receptacles prior to the concerts and provide additional receptacles at 
entrances to the beach and in Esplanade Park.  Empty trash receptacles as needed 

 Clean and stock Esplanade Park restrooms prior to and during the concerts as 
needed. 

 Place signs at the entrance to Esplanade Park and the beach with alcohol, smoking, 
and dog ordinance information. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Because the concerts are incorporated within the City budget, there is little if any fiscal impact. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
2011 Special Event Permit application 
 
 
Report Prepared By: Captain Tom Held 
 
Report Approved By: Mike Card, Chief of Police 
 

Reviewed and Forwarded 
         By City Manager: _______ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF CAPITOLA 

2011 Twilight Concerts

SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT 
APPLICATION 



 
 

 Event Name:  2011 Twilight Concert Series 

 Event Description: Musical Concerts 

 Event Purpose: Summer evening entertainment for community and visitors 

 Sponsor: City of Capitola - Capitola Art & Cultural Commission   

 Sponsor’s Address: 420 Capitola Avenue-Capitola, CA 95010 

 Sponsoring Organization’s Phone:  831.475-7300  ext. 297 

 FAX Number: 831.479-8879   E-Mail Address:    

 

Will you be using a professional Special Event Organizer?  If yes, please include all foregoing 

information about the organizer on a separate sheet of paper and attach to your application. 

 

 

 Type of event:  Run    Festival    Parade    Sale     Motion Picture     Block Party 

 Other (specify) musical concerts 

 Event Location: Esplanade Park, Beach area at park 

 Event Date: 11 Wednesday evenings (June 22, 29-July 6,13,20,27-August 3,10,17,24,31)  

 Anticipated Attendance: 400-1000 Attendance varies depending on the weather, 

holiday calendar and band performing 

 Web Site Information: www.ci.capitola.ca.us    

 Will the public be invited? Yes X     No 

Actual hours open to the public or “advertised” event hours: 

 Date: 11 Wednesdays      Time: 6 pm to 8 pm    

 Date: ___________         Time: ____________ AM/PM to ___________ AM/PM 

 Date: ___________         Time: ____________ AM/PM to ___________ AM/PM 

 Has this event taken place before?  Yes X   No  

  Any changes to this event?  Yes   No X 

 

 

 

SPONSORING ORGANIZATION AND APPLICANT INFORMATION 

EVENT INFORMATION



 

 

 If yes, what changes?  

 
 If yes, please attach a copy of your last permit for this event, if available. 
 Will this event be promoted, advertised or marketed in any manner?    Yes X   No 

A post card mailing to each residential address in Capitola announcing the event, 

Wednesday night dates and names of each band and sponsor, on the city’s public access 

channel & website, event banner hung at the Monterey Avenue banner pole location,  

local print media-calendar of events, event posters in local business windows 

 Will there be live media coverage during your event?   Yes    No X 

 If yes, please explain 

 Are admission, entry or vendor participant fees required?  Yes   No X 

 If yes, explain:  Public admission fees:     $ ___________ per person 

    Participant entry fees:     $ ___________ per person 

 Vendor fees:      $ ___________ per booth  

 Number of vendors: ________________________ 

 How many vendors are for profit? _____________ 

 How many vendors are nonprofit? _____________ 

 $13,200.00         Total estimated gross receipts, including tickets, product and 
                                     sponsorship sales from this event.  Explain how this amount 
                                     was computed.  Indicate amount per item. 

$_____________ Admission fees 
$_____________ Product fees 
$   13,200.00         Sponsorship ($1,200.00 per band concert) 
$_____________ Participant entry fees 
$ _____________Other (Please specify):  

 $13,200.00       Total estimated expenses for this event. 
$______X______Advertising 
$______X______Wages, salaries 
$_____________ City services (police, fire, street closures) 
$_____________ Insurance 
$_____________ Business license fee 
$______X______Other (Please specify): postcard graphics/ 

  postcards/mailing service & postage/ banner preparation 

 Is the organization a “tax exempt, nonprofit” organization? Yes X   No 

PROMOTION – ADVERTISING – MARKETING - INTERNET 



 Projected amount of revenue the Sponsoring Organization(s) will receive as a result of this 
event.   --0-- 
Specify the organization(s) to receive funding:  

City sponsorship requested?  Yes  X   No   

If yes, please describe: Grant permit fees 

 

 
 Will a staging/setup/assembly location be required?  Yes X    No  

 If yes, begin day/date: 11 Wednesdays     Start time: 3:30 – 5:00 pm 

 Location: Esplanade Park & Bandstand 

Description of the scope of the setup/assembly work (Attach additional pages and 

drawings as needed): 1) Sound/mixing board with public address system for sound 

engineer- parking at rear of park.  2) Each band will be unloading/loading instruments 

and equipment within the park or at the loading zone. 

 If yes, dismantle day date: 11 Wednesdays   Completion time: 8:00-10:00 pm 

 packing up of band instruments/equipment, sound board/mixing board and public   

address system.   

List the street(s) requiring closure as a result of this event.  Include street names, day, date 

and time of closing and the time of reopening:  None 

City of Capitola to conduct street closures as needed (cost to be specified) 

 List street(s) requiring the posting of “No Parking” signs.  Indicate days, dates, and times 

needed and an explanation of necessity for “No Parking” zone:  ___________ 

NOTE:  “No Parking” signs will be posted twenty-four hours in advance of required days, 

dates and time. Cost for the posting of “No Parking” signs will be specified upon review 

of the application by City staff. 

 Attach a diagram (please try to make diagram reasonably to scale), showing the overall 
layout and setup locations.  Using the letters below, indicate the site for these on your 
diagram. 
A Alcoholic and nonalcoholic concession 
B First-aid facilities 
C Tables and chairs ~ small table for Arts Commission information   
D Fencing, barriers and/or barricades- blocking of life guard tower  
E Generator locations and/or sources of electricity 
F Canopies or tent locations  
G Booths, exhibits, displays or enclosures 
H Scaffolding, bleachers, platforms, stages, grandstands, related structures 

OVERALL EVENT DESCRIPTION



I Vehicles and/or trailers: Sound engineer and band members parking near 
dumpster in rear of park 

J Trash containers or dumpsters-Extra trash containers required 
K Non-food vendor locations 
L Food concession and/or food preparation areas 
M Portable toilet locations 
N Other related event components not covered above (describe separately) 

 

 

 

 Please describe how food will be served at the event: ________________________ 

 Will food be cooked in the event area?      Yes      No  X 

 If yes, specify method:  Gas   Electric    Charcoal      Other (specify): ____________ 

 Does the event involve the sale or use of alcoholic beverages?       Yes     No  X 

 If yes, please describe: ________________________________________________ 

 If alcohol is to be sold, how will the alcohol sales be regulated?  ________________ 

Please attach a copy of your ABC license. 

 Will there be items or services sold at the event?    Yes   No  X   If yes, please describe:  

 Do the vendors have City of Capitola business licenses?      Yes      No   
 

      Portable and/or permanent toilet facilities: 

 Number of portable toilets:  __________ (Recommended: 1 for every 250 people) 

 Number of ADA–accessible toilets: ________ (Recommended: 10% of total toilets) 

          (NOTE: Unless the Applicant can substantiate the availability of both accessible and non-accessible 

toilet facilities in the immediate area of the site, the above is required.  Portable toilet 

facilities must be in place 24 hours in advance, cleaned and sanitized daily during the 

event, and must be removed by 8:00 a.m. the next business day following the event.  

Location sites for portable toilets must be pre-approved prior to installation.) 

 Number of trash receptacles:     _____________   

 Number of dumpsters with lids: _____________  (Recommended 1 per 400 people) 

 Number of recycling containers: _____________ (Voluntary) 

Describe the plan for cleanup and removal of waste and garbage during and after the 

event:  Announcements at the concert to “clean area, pack trash and/or place trash in 

receptacles”, 1) Request the Public Works empty the trash receptacles prior to event and 

OVERALL EVENT DESCRIPTION (continued)



the provide additional receptacles at entrances to beach and in park 2) empty as needed 

during and following event Art & Cultural Commission, Capitola Police Department, 

Capitola Public Works Department will work together to enforce the Alcohol Ordinance 

and maintain clean and safe environment for the attendees of the concerts                                                    

            (Note: It is the event organizer’s responsibility to dispose of waste and garbage daily throughout the 

term of the event, unless otherwise contracted with City staff, which will require a fee.  

Immediately upon conclusion of the event, the venue must be returned to a clean condition.  Street 

sweeping can be arranged with City crews for an additional fee.) 

 

 
 

 Please provide a detailed description or diagram that indicates the proposed parking plan 
and/or shuttle plan for the event.  Include a description of the parking plan/shuttle plan 
for the disabled.  This event is planned for local residents, which usually generates walk-in 
participation thus creating little to no impact 

 Describe plan to notify those residents, businesses, churches, etc. that will be impacted by 
this event. A post card with the dates are mailed to each address in Capitola announcing 
the event, Wednesday night dates with the band name/sponsor  

 Does this event involve a moving route of any kind along streets or sidewalks? 

 Yes     No X 

 If yes, highlight your proposed route on the enclosed map, indicating the directions of 
travel, and provide a written narrative to explain your route and its impact. 
 

 Does this event involve a fixed venue site?     Yes: Esplanade Park, Stage and Beach   No 

 

 If yes, highlight the site on the enclosed map, showing all the streets impacted by the 

event.  

 Is there a professional security organization to handle security arrangements for this event?     
Yes      No  X 
 If yes, please name security company: _________________________________ 

 If no, do you wish to contract police services from the Capitola Police Dept.?  

      Yes     No   X     (See fee schedule) 

 Security company’s address: ________________________________________ 
                                                     street 

______________________________________________________________ 
         city                                                      state                   zip code 

PARKING PLAN – SHUTTLE PLAN – MITIGATION OF IMPACT 

SAFETY - SECURITY



 Security Director’s name: _____________________________________________ 

 Security Director’s phone number: ( __ )__________________________________ 

 Security company’s state license number: _________________________________ 

 Security company’s business license number: ______________________________ 

 Security company’s insurance carrier: _________________City or privately secured? 

 On-site contact person (security supervisor): ______________________________ 

 Any searches prior to entering?   Yes       No 

 Bottle and can check?     Yes       No 

 Metal detectors?     Yes       No 

 How many security guards at each entrance? _______________________________ 

Parking Lot Patrol (Private Security): 

 Security company: ___________________________________________________ 

 Contact person (security supervisor): _____________________________________ 

 Number of security guards patrolling the parking lot: ________________________ 

Lighting: 

 If this is an evening event, please state how the event and surrounding areas will be 
illuminated to ensure the safety of the participants and spectators.  
_________________________________________________________________ 

Medical:  

 Indicate what arrangements have been made for providing first-aid staffing: 

 

 
 

 Is there any musical entertainment or amplified sound related to your event?  

Yes  X    No 

If yes, what kind: Sound engineer with a soundboard and instruments amplifiers 

 Contact person’s name: Classified Sound Service Jon DuFour 

 Phone number: 335-2234    Contact person’s address:   

 Number of stages: -0-   Number of bands: one band per Wednesday night 

 Type of music: variety      Sound amplification?      Yes X     No 

 If yes, start time: 6:00 pm      Finish time: 8:00 pm 

ENTERTAINMENT – ATTRACTION – RELATED EVENT ACTIVITIES



 Have you applied for a sound permit?   Yes    No  X  (Refer to city ordinance 9.12.040) 

 Will sound checks be conducted prior to the event?      Yes    X  No    Sound checks are 

held between 4:45 – 5:15 

 If yes, do you wish to have the city provide the checks?     Yes     No   X 

Describe sound equipment that will be used: soundboard/speakers  

 Will fireworks, rockets or other pyrotechnics be used?    Yes      No  X 

 If yes, name and phone number of pyrotechnic company: ____________________ 

_______________________________________________________________ 

 Describe (indicate dates, times and locations for launching and fallout areas): 

 Has a permit been issued?      Yes     No     

 Will there be any type of open flames used?     Yes     No  X 

 If yes, please describe: ________________________________________________ 

 Will any signs, banners, decorations or special lighting be used?     Yes  X     No 

 If yes, please describe:   

 Request event banner provided to Public Works Department be hung at the Monterey 

Avenue banner location prior to the Wednesday night concert  (Monday)   **Assistance 

with possible Sponsor banner to be hung in the park 

(Refer to city ordinance chapter 17.57) 

 Sponsors banners to be displayed the day of the event on the bandstand.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
INSURANCE 
Applicant must provide insurance at the following minimal limits:  $1,000,000 (one million) 
combined single limit. This Certificate of Insurance must name the City as an additional insured 
throughout the event duration, including setup and breakdown.  The Certificate of Insurance, 
including limits of insurance, must be received by the Special Events Coordinator by 
___________________________ to finalize this permit. 
 

HOLD HARMLESS 
The Applicant will, at its sole expense, provide the City with evidence of insurance for general 
liability and Worker’s Compensation benefits for accidents or injuries that occur or are sustained 
in connection with the special event which is the subject of this permit application and contract.  
The Applicant agrees on behalf of itself and on behalf of its agents and employees that the 
Applicant will not make a claim against, sue, attach the property of, or prosecute the City or any of 
the City’s agencies, employees, contractors or agents for injury or damages resulting from 
negligence or other acts, however caused, which might be asserted against the City in connection 
with actions taken by the City or the City’s employees or agents in connection with this Special 
Event Permit.  In addition, Applicant, on behalf of itself and its agents and employees, as well as 
its successors and assigns, hereby releases, discharges and holds the City harmless from, and 
indemnifies the City against, all actions, claims or demands Applicant, or Applicant’s employees, 
agents, successors or assigns, or any third person now has or may hereafter have for personal 
injury or property damage resulting from the actions of the Applicant, the Applicant’s employees 
or agents, or any other person under the control of the Applicant, taken pursuant to this Special 
Event Permit whether said actions are characterized as negligent or intentional. 
 
Applicant Signature: _______________________________________________________ 
 

ADVANCED CANCELLATION NOTICE REQUIRED 
 
If this event is cancelled, notify the Special Events Coordinator at (831) 475-4242  at least 48 
hours in advance. 
 
I certify that the information contained in the foregoing application is true and correct to the best 
of my knowledge and belief, that I have read, understand and agree to abide by the rules and 
regulations governing the special event under Capitola Municipal Code, and that I understand that 
this applications is made subject to the rules and regulations established by the City Council 
and/or the City Manager or the City Manager’s designee.  I agree to comply with all permit 
conditions and with all other requirements of the City, County, state and federal governments and 
any other applicable entity that may pertain to the use of the event premises and the conduct of 
the event.  I agree to abide by these rules and further certify that I, on behalf of the organization, 
am also authorized to commit that organization and, therefore, agree to be financially responsible 
for any costs and fees that may be incurred by or on behalf of the event to the City of Capitola. 
Name of Applicant (print):  Kelly Barreto 

Title:   Administrative Assistance to the Art and Cultural Commission 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS



 

Signature of Applicant: ________________________________  Date: _______________ 

 
  

C = Completed N/A = Not Applicable 

    Completed Application Package 

    All Fees Paid in advance        Minor Event 30 days            General Event 90 days 

 Copies of IRS 501(c) Tax Exemption Letter 

    Projected Event Gross Project Budget 

     Detailed Plans With Times Lines (for set-up exceeding one day) 

     Santa Cruz Health Services Agency Food Permit 

     Dept. of Alcoholic Beverage Control Daily License  

        Diagram of Event Layout and Set-Up Locations 

     Notice of Mitigation Measures for Negative Consequences 

     Event Traffic Advisory Signs 

     Description of Proposed Parking and/or Shuttle Plan 

     City Building Permit 

     Insurance Certificate 

X Banner(s) and/or sign(s) 

Check if Required   Sign if Approved 

     Police Department ____________________________ 

      Fire Department ______________________________ 

     Public Works _________________________________ 

    Finance _____________________________________ 

     County Health ________________________________ 

      City Manager _________________________________ 

CITY OF CAPITOLA 
SPECIAL EVENTS CHECKLIST AND REVIEW 



ATTACHMENT 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project approval consists of a Master Conditional Use Permit for the light industrial 

buildings located at 100-200 Kennedy Drive 
 
2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 

approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
3.  Truck loading and unloading hours shall be limited to 7:30AM – 8PM Monday through 

Friday, and 8:00AM – 8:00PM Saturday, Sunday, and holidays in order to minimize noise 
impacts to neighboring residents. 

 
4.  All signs shall be consistent with the master sign program.  The approved sign program shall 

permit tenants signage along the north elevation of the new building where the main 
entrances to the office areas will be located.  Each of the five tenant spaces will be 
permitted one wall sign, with a maximum height of 20” and a maximum length of 8’.  Signs 
are to be of wood or metal construction with vinyl graphics.  These sign requirements will 
also apply to the existing building when new tenants are incorporated and the existing 
nonconforming signs are removed. 

 
5.  All businesses shall obtain a sign permit from the Community Development Department. 

 
6.  No roof equipment is to be visible to the general public.  Any necessary roof screening is to 

match the color of the building as closely as possible.  Plans for any necessary screening 
shall be submitted to the Community Development Department prior to, or in conjunction 
with, building permit submittal. 

 
7.  Rosedale Avenue shall be open to vehicular access for the proposed project and Cabrillo 

Estates Mobile Home Park at all times. 
 
8.  The property owner shall maintain a gate, for which they control access, at the location of 

the previous gate that was removed.  The gate shall cross the entire roadway. 
 

9.  All lighting shall be focused downward and away from adjacent properties.  The Planning 
Commission shall review lighting upon receipt of a legitimate complaint. 

 
10. All uses shall be conducted wholly within an enclosed building, except for off-street parking 

and loading facilities and no merchandise shall be displayed outside the building without an 
individual Conditional Use Permit being issued for the business. 

 
11. All businesses within the center shall obtain a business license and shall comply with all 

local and state regulations prior to commencing business. 
 
12. Prior to leasing of any space upon the subject property, the holder of the master use permit 

shall inform all prospective tenants, or tenants renewing or extending leases, of the 
conditions of the master use permit and of the requirements of 17.60.160 of the Capitola 
Municipal Code. 

 
13. Prior to leasing of any space upon the subject property, the holder of the master use permit 

shall submit in writing a description of the prospective tenant, including the name of the 
business, type business, number of employees and the square footage of the space to be 



ATTACHMENT 1 

leased to the Community Development Department.  Upon inspection of the property and 
verification that the landscaping is in good repair and that all the conditions of the master 
use permit are being met, the tenant use permit shall may be issued by the Community 
Development Director or designee, or referred to the Planning Commission.  Any proposed 
new use in the original building at 200 Kennedy Drive shall require a conditional use permit 
approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
14. A tenant us permit shall be revoked in the manner provided in Section 17.60.120 if the 

tenant is the cause of violation of a condition of the Master Use Permit. 
 
15. Businesses occupying over 12,000 square feet of building shall obtain a standard 

conditional use permit with approval from the Planning Commission. 
 
16. Manufacturing and industrial processes shall use only gas or electricity as a fuel; provided, 

however, that equipment using other fuel may be installed for standby purposes only. 
 

17. No owner or invitee shall use or permit any sound system including, but not by way of 
limitation, loudspeakers, public address, systems, sound amplifiers, radio or broadcast 
within the project in such a manner that any sounds reproduced, transmitted or produced 
shall be directed beyond the interior of the building towards the residential areas. 

 
18. No vehicle used regularly on site and under control of a business owner or invitee shall be 

equipped with back up noise devices audible more than twenty feet from vehicle and owner 
and invitee shall encourage delivery vehicles outside of their control to approach the facility 
in such a way to minimize noise. 

 
19. Hours of normal operation on site shall be 7:30AM until 8PM unless a Conditional Use 

Permit has been obtained, and any activity outside of these hours shall be confined to quiet 
indoors activity not audible outside of the building.  Vehicles coming and going at any non-
business hours shall be quiet and conform to normal sound levels. 

 
20. Equipment or machinery regularly used in the production of goods or services on site that 

produces audible at the property boundaries, including but not limited to sawing, cutting, 
grinding, shall require a Conditional Use Permit.  Air compressors shall be of a quiet type 
and enclosed inside the building in sound containing enclosures. 

 
21. Approved uses to be permitted by the Master Use Permit are as follows: 

 Administrative, executive and financial offices; 
 Experimental, film or testing laboratories; 
 Manufacture, assembly or packaging of products from previously prepared materials 

such as cloth, plastic, paper, leather, precious or semi-precious metals or stones, but not 
including such operations as saw and planing mills, any manufacturing uses involving 
primary production of wood, metal or chemical products from raw materials; 

 Manufacture of food products, pharmaceuticals and the like, but not including the 
production of fish or meat products, sauerkraut, vinegar or the like, or the rendering or 
refining of fats and oils; 

 Manufacture of electric and electronic instruments and devices such as television sets, 
radios, and television, radio and phonographic equipment; 



ATTACHMENT 1 

 Any other research or light manufacturing use which the planning commission finds not 
to be inconsistent with the purpose of this chapter and which will not impair the present 
or potential use of adjacent properties; 

 Agriculture, horticulture, gardening but not including the raising of rabbits, dogs, fowl or 
other animals for commercial purposes, or the sale of any products on the premises. 

 Retail commercial and service use, including sale and consumption of food and 
beverage products manufactured on site.  Food and wine tasting shall be limited to the 
quantity to enable a retail customer to develop an appreciation of the food or beverage 
product.  In no case shall food and wine tasting constitute a meal.  No restaurant or table 
service is permitted without a separate conditional use permit, nor will any outdoor 
seating be allowed; and 

 Public and quasi-public uses of an educational or recreational measure, including 
classes or educational instruction pertaining to products or services on site. 

22. Trash enclosures shall be covered, gated and maintained to provide a clean and sanitary 
area. 

 
23. A new trash enclosure shall be constructed adjacent to the original building at 200 Kennedy 

Drive prior to any new tenant occupying the space. 
 

24. A landscape plan shall be submitted that enhances the landscaping around the original 
building at 200 Kennedy Drive.  The landscaping shall be installed prior to any new tenant 
occupying the space. 

 
25. Any outdoor washdown of equipment shall be prohibited. 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 

the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all 
reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the development standards of the IP 
(Industrial Park) Zoning District. Conditions of approval have been included to carry out 
the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 

 
B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
 Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  

The project conforms to the development standards of the IP (Industrial Park) Zoning 
District and will not negatively impact the surrounding neighborhood. Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and 
integrity of the neighborhood. 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 



ATTACHMENT 1 

Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the operation, leasing, or minor 
alteration of existing facilities that involve negligible or no expansion of use.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 

 



































































































































































ATTACHMENT 7 

CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project approval consists of Conditional Use Permits for a small winery with retail sales 

and a tasting room (Pelican Ranch Winery), one small micro brewery with retail sales and a 
tasting room (Santa Adairius), and one small bakery or food producer with retail sales and a 
tasting room for the light industrial buildings located at 100-200 Kennedy Drive.  The above 
mentioned uses shall allow the sale and consumption of food and beverage products 
manufactured on site.  Food and wine tasting shall be limited to the quantity to enable a 
retail customer to develop an appreciation of the food or beverage product.  In no case shall 
food and wine tasting constitute a meal.  No restaurant or table service is permitted without 
a separate conditional use permit, nor will any outdoor seating be allowed 

 
2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 

approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
3.  Truck loading and unloading hours shall be limited to 7:30AM – 8PM Monday through 

Friday, and 8:00AM – 8:00PM Saturday, Sunday, and holidays in order to minimize noise 
impacts to neighboring residents. 

 
4.  All signs shall be consistent with the master sign program.  The approved sign program shall 

permit tenants signage along the north elevation of the new building where the main 
entrances to the office areas will be located.  Each of the five tenant spaces will be 
permitted one wall sign, with a maximum height of 20” and a maximum length of 8’.  Signs 
are to be of wood or metal construction with vinyl graphics.  These sign requirements will 
also apply to the existing building when new tenants are incorporated and the existing 
nonconforming signs are removed. 

 
5.  All businesses shall obtain a sign permit from the Community Development Department. 

 
6.  No roof equipment is to be visible to the general public.  Any necessary roof screening is to 

match the color of the building as closely as possible.  Plans for any necessary screening 
shall be submitted to the Community Development Department prior to, or in conjunction 
with, building permit submittal. 

 
7.  All lighting shall be focused downward and away from adjacent properties.  The Planning 

Commission shall review lighting upon receipt of a legitimate complaint. 
 

8. All uses shall be conducted wholly within an enclosed building, except for off-street parking 
and loading facilities and no merchandise shall be displayed outside the building without an 
individual Conditional Use Permit being issued for the business. 

 
9. All businesses within the center shall obtain a business license and shall comply with all 

local and state regulations prior to commencing business. 
 
10. Manufacturing and industrial processes shall use only gas or electricity as a fuel; provided, 

however, that equipment using other fuel may be installed for standby purposes only. 
 

11. No owner or invitee shall use or permit any sound system including, but not by way of 
limitation, loudspeakers, public address, systems, sound amplifiers, radio or broadcast 
within the project in such a manner that any sounds reproduced, transmitted or produced 
shall be directed beyond the interior of the building towards the residential areas. 



ATTACHMENT 7 

 
12. No vehicle used regularly on site and under control of a business owner or invitee shall be 

equipped with back up noise devices audible more than twenty feet from vehicle and owner 
and invitee shall encourage delivery vehicles outside of their control to approach the facility 
in such a way to minimize noise. 

 
13. Hours of normal operation on site shall be 7:30AM until 8PM unless a Conditional Use 

Permit has been obtained, and any activity outside of these hours shall be confined to quiet 
indoors activity not audible outside of the building.  Vehicles coming and going at any non-
business hours shall be quiet and conform to normal sound levels. 

 
14. Equipment or machinery regularly used in the production of goods or services on site that 

produces audible at the property boundaries, including but not limited to sawing, cutting, 
grinding, shall require a Conditional Use Permit.  Air compressors shall be of a quiet type 
and enclosed inside the building in sound containing enclosures. 

 
15. Trash enclosures shall be covered, gated and maintained to provide a clean and sanitary 

area. 
 
16. Any outdoor washdown of equipment shall be prohibited. 
 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 

the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all 
reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the development standards of the IP 
(Industrial Park) Zoning District. Conditions of approval have been included to carry out 
the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 

 
B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
 Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  

The project conforms to the development standards of the IP (Industrial Park) Zoning 
District and will not negatively impact the surrounding neighborhood. Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and 
integrity of the neighborhood. 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the operation, leasing, or minor 
alteration of existing facilities that involve negligible or no expansion of use.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 

 



           Item #: 4.A. 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 

 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  FEBRUARY 1, 2010 
 
SUBJECT: 100-200 KENNEDY DRIVE  #10-104  APN: 036-031-01 

Appeal of a Planning Commission approval for a Master Use Permit for an existing 
industrial property in the IP (Industrial Park) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

 Property Owner:  John McCoy 
 
  
Recommended Action:   
The City Council may choose from the following four options: 
 

1) Deny the appeal and approve the Master Conditional Use Permit as approved by the 
Planning Commission, or 

  
 2) Deny the Master Conditional Use Permit, or 
  

3) Deny the Master Conditional Use Permit but approve a Conditional Use Permit for a small 
winery with retail sales and a tasting room (Pelican Ranch Winery), subject to the conditions 
provided (Attachment 7), or 

  
4) Deny the Master Conditional Use Permit but approve Conditional Use Permits for the uses 

discussed at the Planning Commission, including a small winery with retail sales and a 
tasting room (Pelican Ranch Winery), one small micro brewery with retail sales and a tasting 
room (Santa Adairius), and one small bakery or food producer with retail sales and a tasting 
room, subject to the conditions provided (Attachment 7). All other conditional uses for the 
property must be approved by the Planning Commission. 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Planning Commission considered the above-mentioned application on January 20, 2011.  
After hearing from several members of the public, including new tenants Pelican Ranch Winery 
and Santa Adairius Micro Brewery, the Commission unanimously (5-0) approved the proposed 
Master Conditional Use Permit with the following revised or added conditions of approval: 
 

3. Truck loading and unloading hours shall be limited to 7:30AM – 8PM Monday through Friday, 
and 8:00AM – 8:00PM Saturday, Sunday, and holidays in order to minimize noise impacts to 
neighboring residents. 

 
4. All signs shall be consistent with the master sign program.  The approved sign program shall 

permit tenants signage along the north elevation of the new building where the main entrances to 
the office areas will be located.  Each of the five tenant spaces will be permitted one wall sign, 
with a maximum height of 20” and a maximum length of 8’.  Signs are to be of wood or metal 
construction with vinyl graphics.  These sign requirements will also apply to the existing building 
when new tenants are incorporated and the existing nonconforming signs are removed. 



 2

 
11. All businesses within the center shall obtain a business license and shall comply with all local 

and state regulations prior to commencing business operating. 
 

13. Prior to leasing of any space upon the subject property, the holder of the master use permit shall 
submit in writing a description of the prospective tenant, including the name of the business, type 
business, number of employees and the square footage of the space to be leased to the 
Community Development Department.  Upon inspection of the property and verification that the 
landscaping is in good repair and that all the conditions of the master use permit are being met, 
the tenant use permit shall may be issued by the Community Development Director or designee, 
or referred to the Planning Commission.  Any proposed new use in the original building at 200 
Kennedy Drive shall require a conditional use permit approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
21. Approved uses to be permitted by the Master Use Permit are as follows: 

 Administrative, executive and financial offices; 

 Experimental, film or testing laboratories; 

 Manufacture, assembly or packaging of products from previously prepared materials such as 
cloth, plastic, paper, leather, precious or semi-precious metals or stones, but not including such 
operations as saw and planing mills, any manufacturing uses involving primary production of 
wood, metal or chemical products from raw materials; 

 Manufacture of food products, pharmaceuticals and the like, but not including the production of 
fish or meat products, sauerkraut, vinegar or the like, or the rendering or refining of fats and 
oils; 

 Manufacture of electric and electronic instruments and devices such as television sets, radios, 
and television, radio and phonographic equipment; 

 Any other research or light manufacturing use which the planning commission finds not to be 
inconsistent with the purpose of this chapter and which will not impair the present or potential 
use of adjacent properties; 

 Agriculture, horticulture, gardening but not including the raising of rabbits, dogs, fowl or other 
animals for commercial purposes, or the sale of any products on the premises. 

 Retail commercial and service use, including sale and consumption of food and beverage 
products manufactured on site.  Food and wine tasting shall be limited to the quantity to enable 
a retail customer to develop an appreciation of the food or beverage product.  In no case shall 
food and wine tasting constitute a meal.  No restaurant or table service is permitted without a 
separate conditional use permit, nor will any outdoor seating be allowed; and 

 Public and quasi-public uses of an educational or recreational measure, including classes or 
educational instruction pertaining to products or services on site. 

 
22. Trash enclosures shall be covered, gated and maintained to provide a clean and sanitary area. 

 
23. A new trash enclosure shall be constructed adjacent to the original building at 200 Kennedy 

Drive prior to any new tenant occupying the space. 
 

24. A landscape plan shall be submitted that enhances the landscaping around the original 
building at 200 Kennedy Drive.  The landscaping shall be installed prior to any new tenant 
occupying the space. 

 



 3

25. Any outdoor washdown of equipment shall be prohibited. 
 
 
An appeal letter from Councilmember Termini was received on January 28, 2011 (Attachment 3).  
Councilmember Termini believes that the subject building is close enough to residential areas to 
warrant Planning Commission review for each use.  The appeal letter, Planning Commission staff 
report, and minutes from the hearing are attached for your information as Attachments 2 through 4. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
The applicant is requesting approval of a Master Conditional Use Permit for the light industrial 
buildings located at 100-200 Kennedy Drive in the IP (Industrial Park) zoning district.  The 45,725 
square foot site at the end of Kennedy Drive is currently occupied by an older 4,803 square foot 
building (former Moto Italiano) as well as a newly constructed 7,072 square foot light industrial building 
with an additional 2,448 square feet of interior mezzanine space.  The new building is split into five 
individual commercial units which range from 1,318 to 1,455 square feet.  Being recently developed, 
the site conforms to current city parking and landscaping requirements.  At present, the new building is 
vacant with the exception of Pelican Ranch Winery which recently moved into the building.  The wine 
production use falls under the category of “Manufacture of food products” and is therefore a principally 
permitted use in the IP zoning. 
 
The proposed Master Conditional Use Permit for the industrial complex would allow not only the 
principally permitted uses listed in the IP zoning, but also a list of specific uses that would normally 
require an individual use permit.  The applicant would like to develop a group of food production 
related companies at the site, similar to the Swift Street Courtyard in Santa Cruz (Kelly’s French 
Bakery, Bonny Doon Winery, etc.) The industrial complex would host a mix of specialty foods, 
including the potential for tasting rooms and food education classes.  With that in mind, he is 
requesting the following uses be permitted under the Master Conditional Use Permit: 
 

1. Retail commercial and service use, including sale and consumption of food and beverage 
products manufactured on site; and 

2. Public and quasi-public uses of an educational or recreational measure, including classes 
or educational instruction pertaining to products or services on site. 

 
Per Zoning Code Section 17.60.160, after a Master Use Permit has been issued, tenant use permits 
that occupy less than 12,000 square feet shall be approved by the Community Development Director 
upon inspection of the property, and verification that it and its landscaping are in good repair, and that 
all other conditions of the master use permit are being met.  If one of the above-mentioned uses was 
proposed and of concern to the Director, the Director can require that a Conditional Use Permit be 
approved by the Planning Commission.  In addition, a tenant use permit may be revoked if the tenant 
is the cause of violation of a condition of the Master Use Permit. 
 
Recommendation Options 
 
Staff has presented the following four options to the City Council for consideration: 
 

1) Deny the appeal and approve the Master Conditional Use Permit as approved by 
the Planning Commission. 
This would approve the Master Conditional Use Permit as it was approved by the 
Planning Commission.  The Council may also add or amend conditions as it sees fit.  
Community Development staff supports the application as approved by the Planning 
Commission. 

 
2) Deny the Master Conditional Use Permit.  

This option would deny the proposed Master Conditional Use Permit outright, and 
require that any newly proposed conditional uses submit a new application for a 



 4

Conditional Use Permit and obtain approval from the Planning Commission. 
 

3) Deny the Master Conditional Use Permit but approve a Conditional Use Permit for 
a small winery with retail sales and a tasting room (Pelican Ranch Winery), subject 
to the conditions provided (Attachment 7).  
Option three would deny the proposed Master Conditional Use Permit, but would 
approve a Conditional Use Permit for the existing Pelican Ranch Winery to add retail 
sales and a tasting room to their current wine production facility.  The use would be 
approved under the conditions of approval listed on attachment 7, in addition to any 
deemed appropriate and added by the Council.  Any other conditional uses for the 
remaining commercial spaces will be required to submit a new application for a 
Conditional Use Permit and obtain approval from the Planning Commission. 

 
4) Deny the Master Conditional Use Permit but approve Conditional Use Permits for 

the uses discussed at the Planning Commission, including a small winery with 
retail sales and a tasting room (Pelican Ranch Winery), one small micro brewery 
with retail sales and a tasting room (Santa Adairius), and one small bakery or food 
producer with retail sales and a tasting room, subject to the conditions provided 
(Attachment 7). All other conditional uses for the property must be approved by 
the Planning Commission. 
The final option would deny the proposed Master Conditional Use Permit, but would 
approve three Conditional Use Permits.  The three approved uses would include: 
 

1. A small winery with retail sales and a tasting room (Pelican Ranch Winery) 
2. A small micro brewery with retail sales and a tasting room (Santa Adairius). 
3. A small bakery or food producer (excluding fish or meat products, sauerkraut, 

vinegar or the like, or the rendering or refining of fats and oils) with retail sales 
and a tasting room. 

 
The three uses would be approved under the conditions of approval listed on attachment 
7, in addition to any deemed appropriate and added by the Council.  Any other 
conditional uses for the remaining commercial spaces will be required to submit a new 
application for a Conditional Use Permit and obtain approval from the Planning 
Commission. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT – None  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachment 1 – Conditions and Findings for the Master Conditional Use Permit 
Attachment 2 – Appeal Letter from Councilmember Termini 
Attachment 3 – January 20, 2011 Planning Commission Staff Report 
Attachment 4 – January 20, 2011 Planning Commission Minutes 
Attachment 5 – Letter from John Hibble, dated January 19, 2011 
Attachment 6 – Letter from Gail Levey, dated January 20, 2011 
Attachment 7 – Conditions and Findings for individual Conditional Use Permits (Options 3 & 4) 
    
  
Report Prepared By:  Ryan Bane               Forwarded 
    Senior Planner   By City Manager:  ________ 
 
 
R:\Agenda Staff Reports\2011 Agenda Reports\02-10-11\Kennedy Dr 100-200 MUP Appeal.doc 



 DRAFT ATTACHMENT 1 

URGENCY ORDINANCE NO._____ 
 

AN UNCODIFIED ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 
ADOPTED AS AN URGENCY MEASURE IMPOSING A TEMPORARY 

MORATORIUM ON THE INSTALLATION OF PG&E SMARTMETERS AND 
RELATED EQUIPMENT IN, ALONG, ACROSS, UPON, UNDER AND 
OVER THE PUBLIC STREETS AND OTHER PLACES WITHIN THE 

CITY OF CAPITOLA 
 

 The City Council of the City of Capitola finds as follows: 
 
A. WHEREAS, the City of Capitola (“City”) through its police powers granted by Article XI of 
the California Constitution, retains broad discretion to legislate for public purposes and for the 
general welfare, including but not limited to matters of public health, safety and consumer 
protection; and 
 
B. WHEREAS, the City has a franchise agreement with PG&E that has been in effect since 
April 18, 1949; and 
 
C. WHEREAS, in addition, the City retains authority under Article XII, Section 8 of the 
Constitution to grant franchises for public utilities, and pursuant to California Public Utilities Code 
Section 6203, "may in such a franchise impose such other and additional terms and conditions.. " 
whether governmental or contractual, as in the judgment of the legislative body are to the public 
interest;" and 
 
D. WHEREAS, Public Utilities Code section 2902 reserves the City's right to supervise and 
regulate public utilities in matters affecting the health, convenience and safety of the general 
public, "such as the use and repair of public streets by any public utility, the location of the poles, 
wires, mains, or conduits of any public utility, on, under, or above any public streets, and the speed 
of common carriers operating within the limits of the municipal corporation;" and 
 
E. WHEREAS, Pacific Gas & Electric Company ("PG&E") is now installing SmartMeters in 
Central and Northern California and is installing these meters within the City of Capitola; and 
 
F. WHEREAS, concerns about the impact and accuracy of SmartMeters have been raised 
nationwide, leading the Maryland Public Service Commission to deny permission on June 21, 2010 
for the deployment of SmartMeters in that state. The State of Hawaii Public Utility Commission also 
recently declined to adopt a smart grid system in that state; and 
 
G. WHEREAS, major problems and deficiencies with PG&E SmartMeters in California have 
been brought to the attention of the City Council of the City of Capitola, including PG&E's 
confirmation that its SmartMeters have provided incorrect readings costing ratepayers untold 
thousands of dollars in overcharges.  In addition, PG&E records outline "risks" and "issues" 
including an ongoing inability to recover real-time data because of faulty hardware originating with 
PG&E vendors; and  
 
H. WHEREAS, the ebb and flow of gas and electricity into homes discloses detailed 
information about private aspects of daily life. Energy usage data, measured moment by moment, 
allows the reconstruction of a household's activities: when people wake up, when they come home, 
when they go on vacation, and even when they take a hot bath. SmartMeters represent a new form 
of technology that relays detailed hitherto confidential information reflecting the times and amounts 
of the use of electrical power without adequately protecting that data from being accessed by 



ORDINANCE NO.  2 

unauthorized persons or entities and as such pose an unreasonable intrusion of utility customers’ 
privacy rights and security interests.  Indeed, the fact that the CPUC has not established 
safeguards for privacy in its regulatory approvals may violate the principles set forth by the U.S. 
Supreme Court in Kyllo v. United States (2001),533 U.S. 27; and 
 
I. WHEREAS, there is now evidence showing that problems with SmartMeters could 
adversely impact the amateur radio communication network that operates throughout California 
and neighboring states, as well as other radio emergency communication systems that serve first 
responders, government agencies, and the public; and 
 
J. WHEREAS, significant health questions have been raised concerning the increased 
electromagnetic frequency radiation (EMF) emitted by the wireless technology in SmartMeters, 
which will be in every house, apartment and business, thereby adding additional human-made 
EMF to our environment around the clock to the already existing EMF from utility poles, individual 
meters and telephone poles; and 
 
K. WHEREAS, FCC safety standards do not exist for chronic long-term exposure to EMF or 
from multiple sources, and reported adverse health effects from electromagnetic pollution include 
sleep disorders, irritability, short term memory loss, headaches, anxiety, nausea, DNA breaks, 
abnormal cell growth, cancer, premature aging, etc, Because of untested technology, international 
scientists, environmental agencies, advocacy groups and doctors are calling for the use of caution 
in wireless technologies; and 
 
L. WHEREAS, the primary justification given for the SmartMeters program is the assertion that 
it will encourage customers to move some of their electricity usage from daytime to evening hours; 
however, PG&E has conducted no actual pilot projects to determine whether this assumption is in 
fact correct.   Non-transmitting time-of-day meters are already available for customers who desire 
them, and enhanced customer education is a viable non-technological alternative to encourage 
electricity use timeshifting.  Further, some engineers and energy conservation experts believe that 
the SmartMeters program could well actually increase total electricity consumption and therefore 
the carbon footprint; and 
 
M. WHEREAS, Assembly member Jared Huffman has recently introduced legislation (AB 37) 
which would add a section to the Public Utilities Code to require the CPUC to identify alternative 
options for customers who do not wish to have a wireless SmartMeter installed and allow 
customers to opt-out of wireless SmartMeter installation, including removing existing SmartMeters 
where requested by the customer.  Most importantly, the legislation would suspend deployment of 
SmartMeters until the CPUC meets the above requirements; and  
 
N. WHEREAS, the  City Council of the City of Capitola on September 23, 2010 adopted a 
resolution demanding PG&E halt the installation of SmartMeters and related equipment within the 
City of Capitola until concerns regarding the accuracy and safety of the SmartMeters is addressed 
and demanding that PG&E implement mechanisms to allow residents to opt-out and remove 
SmartMeters from resident’s houses who do not want them; and  
 
O. WHEREAS, PG&E has declined to honor the City’s request in this regard; and 
 
P. WHEREAS, because the potential risks to the health, safety and welfare of City residents 
are so great the City Council wishes to adopt a moratorium on the installation of PG&E 
SmartMeters and related equipment within the City of Capitola.  The moratorium period will allow 
the legislative process referenced above to be completed and for additional information to be 
collected and analyzed regarding potential problems with these SmartMeters; and  



ORDINANCE NO.  3 

Q. WHEREAS, there is a current and immediate threat to public health, safety and welfare 
because, without this urgency ordinance, PG&E SmartMeters or supporting equipment will be 
installed or constructed or modified in the City and will subject residents of Capitola to the privacy, 
security, health, accuracy and consumer fraud risks of the unproven SmartMeter technology; and 
 
R. WHEREAS, the City Council hereby finds that it can be seen with certainty that there is no 
possibility that the adoption and implementation of this Ordinance may have a significant effect on 
the environment. This Ordinance does not authorize construction or installation of any facilities 
and, in fact, imposes greater restrictions on such construction and installation in order to protect 
the public health, safety and general welfare. This Ordinance is therefore exempt from the 
environmental review requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to 
Section 15061(b)(3) of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations; and 
 
S. WHEREAS, there is no feasible alternative to satisfactorily study the potential impact 
identified above as well or better with a less burdensome or restrictive effect than the adoption of 
this interim urgency moratorium ordinance; and  
 
T. WHEREAS, based on the foregoing it is in the best interest of public health, safety and 
welfare to allow adequate study of the impacts resulting from the SmartMeter technology; therefore 
it is appropriate to adopt a temporary moratorium that would remain in effect from the date of its 
adoption through December 31, 2011, unless the City Council acts to repeal it prior to that date. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Capitola as 
follows: 
 
Section 1.  Moratorium. From and after the effective date of this Ordinance, no PG&E SmartMeter 
may be installed in or on any home, apartment, condominium or business of any type within the 
City of Capitola, and no equipment related to PG&E SmartMeters may be installed in, on, under, or 
above any public street or public right of way within the City of Capitola. 
 
Section 2.  Violations of this moratorium may be charged as infractions or misdemeanors as set 
forth in Chapter 4.04 of the Capitola Municipal Code. In addition, violations shall be deemed public 
nuisances, with enforcement and abatement by injunction or any other remedy authorized by law. 
 
Section 3.  The City Council finds and determines that: (a) there is a current and immediate threat 
to the public peace, health, or safety; (b) this moratorium must be imposed in order to protect and 
preserve the public interest, health, safety, comfort and convenience and to preserve the public 
welfare; and (c) it is necessary to preserve the public health and safety of all residents or 
landowners adjacent to such uses as are affected by this interim ordinance as well as to protect all 
of the citizens of the City of Capitola by preserving and improving the aesthetic and economic 
conditions of the City. 
 
Section 4.  If any provision of this interim ordinance is held to be unconstitutional, it is the intent of 
the City Council that such portions of such ordinance shall be severable from the remainder and 
the remainder be given full force and effect. 
 
Section 5.  This interim ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
pursuant to Section 15060(c)(2) - the activity will not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable 
indirect physical change in the environment and Section 15060(c)(3) - the activity is not a project 
as defined in Section 15378 of the CEQA Guidelines, because it has no potential for resulting in 
physical change to the environment, directly or indirectly. 
 



ORDINANCE NO.  4 

Section 6.  Effective Dates. This ordinance shall take effect immediately based on the findings by 
the City Council that this ordinance is necessary for the protection of the public health, safety, and 
general welfare. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from the date of its adoption by the 
City Council through December 31, 2011, at which time its terms and provision shall expire and no 
longer remain in effect. 

 This ordinance was passed and adopted on the 10th day of February, 2011, as an Urgency 
Ordinance to be effective immediately, by the following vote:  

AYES:     

NOES:    

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:    

DISQUALIFIED:   

 

APPROVED:  
 
_______________________________ 

     Dennis R. Norton, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________, MMC 
     Pamela Greeninger, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
R:\Agenda Staff Reports\2011 Agenda Reports\02-10-11\SmartMeter Discussion_Ordinance.docx 







ATTACHMENT 2 

C:\Documents and Settings\mdeiter\Desktop\Agenda Working Folder\SmartMeter Monning Ltr_Att 2.docx 

      420 Capitola Avenue 
            Capitola, California 95010 

            Telephone:    (831) 475‐7300 
            FAX:    (831) 479‐8879 

            Website: www.ci.capitola.ca.us   

 
 

 
<date> 
 
Assemblymember Bill Monning 
27th Assembly District 
State Capitol 
P.O. Box 942849 
Sacramento, CA 94249‐0027 
 
RE:    City of Capitola Support of Assembly Bill 37 (Huffman) concerning the 

  Pacific Gas & Electric SmartMeter Program 
 
Dear Assemblymember Monning: 
 
The City Council of the City of Capitola is again writing you concerning Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s 
continued installation of SmartMeters in our jurisdiction.    We remain deeply concerned about the 
protecting the public health of City residents and visitors to our community and believe both California 
Public Utilities Commission and the PG&E have proven to be non responsive to public concerns regarding 
the SmartMeter program. 
 
Based on our City Council’s well founded concerns regarding public health, on September 23, 2010 the 
Council passed a resolution demanding that PG&E implement mechanisms to allow residents to both 
opt‐out, and remove SmartMeters from resident’s houses who do not want them.    
 
On February 10, 2011 the City Council heard additional information on the continuing PG&E SmartMeter 
program and voted in support Assembly Bill 37 introduced by Assembly Member Huffman on December 6, 
2010 requiring the CPUC by January 1, 2012 to identify alternate options for customers of electrical 
corporations that decline the installation of wireless advanced metering options.    This opt‐out program is 
essential to protecting the safety of our residents who feel threatened by the intrusion of SmartMeters.   
 
We ask that you take all necessary actions to complete the adoption of AB 37 and its placement into law.   
We look forward to hearing from you regarding this matter of public importance. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
CITY OF CAPITOLA 
 
 
Dennis Norton 
Mayor 
 
cc:      Council Members 
          Jamie Goldstein, City Manager 
 









































































































































              Item #: 4.B. 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 

 
FROM:  DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

 
DATE:  FEBRUARY 2, 2011 
 
SUBJECT: DISCUSSION ON THE CONTINUED INSTALLATION OF SMARTMETERS BY 

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY IN THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 
 
 
Recommended Action:  By motion and roll call vote take the following action: 
 

 Authorize the Mayor to send a letter of support to Assembly Member Bill Monning for 
Assembly Bill 37 (Huffman) amending the California Public Utilities Code to include an opt 
out provision in the California Public Utilities Code for customers who do not want a 
SmartMeter including the ability to remove SmartMeters already installed. 

 
The Council may also want to consider the following separate action, although it is not 
recommended by staff: 

 
 By 4/5 vote, adopt an urgency ordinance imposing a temporary moratorium on the 

installation of PG&E SmartMeters and related equipment in, along, across, upon, under and 
over the public streets and other places within the City of Capitola until December 31, 2011. 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
BACKGROUND   
 
On July 22, 2010 and again on September 23, 2010 the City Council held hearings concerning 
Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s (PG&E) installation of SmartMeters in the City of Capitola.  At 
these two meetings the City Council took the following actions: 
 
July 22, 2010 

 The City sign onto both the City and County of San Francisco petition and the EMF 
Safety Network petition to the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) and 
that the City Council reviews its petitions in October of this year. 

 
September 23, 2010 

 Staff was directed to request the Legislature, through our local Assembly member 
Bill Monning and Senator Joe Simitian, to order a thorough analysis of the 
environmental and health effects of this technology; 

 The City Attorney was directed to prepare a letter to the CPUC requesting a halt to 
the installation of SmartMeters in Capitola until a health, safety and accuracy 
analysis has been completed. (This letter was prepared for the Mayor’s signature 
and sent by Mayor Storey on October 6, 2010.) 



2-10-11 AGENDA REPORT:  Installation of SmartMeters by PG&E in Capitola  2 
  

  

 The City Council adopted Resolution No. 3831, Resolution of the City Council of the 
City of Capitola Demanding PG&E Halt the Installation of SmartMeters and related 
equipment within the City of Capitola. 

DISCUSSION 
 
The petitions filed with the CPUC from the City and County of San Francisco and the EMF Safety 
Network were denied. 
 
California Assembly Members Huffman and Monning requested that the California Council on 
Science and Technology (CCST) perform an “independent science-based study that would help 
the policy makers and the general public resolve the debate as to whether SmartMeters present a 
significant risk of adverse health effect.”  The report from the CCST was issued in January 2011.  
This report in its entirety is included as Attachment 4.   
 
To date several agencies including the Marin County, City of Watsonville, and the County of Santa 
Cruz have adopted urgency ordinances establishing a moratorium on the installation of 
SmartMeters.  PG&E has continued SmartMeter installation in all these jurisdictions.  PG&E is 
regulated by the CPUC which has exclusive authority over this matter and CPUC has taken the 
position that local ordinances have no bearing on the PG&E SmartMeter program and that the 
local laws are pre-empted by State law.  If the Council chooses to impose a moratorium, City 
enforcement would entail an application to the court for an order directing PG&E to cease and 
desist SmartMeter installation in the City during the pendency of the moratorium. It is questionable, 
given the preemption issue mentioned above, whether the court would grant such an application.  
Given that the Council has already voiced its opposition to the installation of SmartMeter by PG&E 
via the adoption of Resolution No. 3831, staff is does not recommend the adoption of an ordinance 
given the lack of likely successful enforcement options. 
 
On December 6, 2010 Assembly Member Huffman  introduced legislation (AB 37) which would add 
a section to the Public Utilities Code to require the CPUC to identify alternative options for 
customers who do not wish to have a wireless SmartMeters installed and allow customers to opt-
out of wireless SmartMeter installations, including removing existing installations when requested 
by the customer.  This legislation would also suspend the deployment of SmartMeters until the 
CPUC met these conditions.  On January 24, 2011 this bill was referred to the Assembly 
Committee on Utilities and Commerce.  Staff recommendations include support of the legislation. 
 
In Capitola PG&E continues to install SmartMeters on new accounts and meter replacements.  Full 
conversion to SmartMeters is expected by 2012 as directed by the CPUC. 
 
CEQA Findings 
 
The adoption of an urgency ordinance is not subject to CEQA pursuant to Section 15060(c)(2) – 
the activity will not result in a direct or reasonably forseeable indirect physical change in the 
environment.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Should the City Council choose to adopt a moratorium ordinance there may be unknown costs 
associated with enforcement, including legal fees. 
 
  



2-10-11 AGENDA REPORT:  Installation of SmartMeters by PG&E in Capitola  3 
  

  

ATTACHMENTS 
1. Draft ordinance 
2. Draft letter to Assembly Member Monning 
3. Assembly Bill 37 – introduced draft 
4. California Council on Science and Technology report on the Health Impacts of Radio 

Frequency from Smart Meters dated January 2011 
5. Minutes and Agenda Report (without attachments) from July 22, 2010 
6. Minutes and Agenda Report (without attachments) from September 23, 2010 
7. City of Capitola Resolution No. 3831 adopted September 23, 2010 
8. Letter from Mayor Sam Storey to Senator Joe Simitian dated September 27, 2010 
9. Letter from Mayor Sam Storey to Assembly Member Bill Monning dated September 27, 

2010 
10. Letter from Mayor Sam Storey to Paul Clanon, Executive Director of California Public 

Utilities Commission dated October 6, 2010 
 
 
Report Prepared By:   Steven Jesberg 
      Public Works Director 
         Reviewed and Forwarded 
           By City Manager:  

      ________ 
 
 
 
 
 

R:\Agenda Staff Reports\2011 Agenda Reports\02-10-11\SmartMeter Discussion.docx 



 DRAFT ATTACHMENT 1 
           

RESOLUTION NO.   
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 
ADOPTING THE CAPITOLA BICYCLE TRANSPORTATION PLAN,  

APPROVING THE NOTICE OF EXEMPTION, AUTHORIZING THE SUBMITAL OF A 
BICYCLE TRANSPORATION (BTA) GRANT APPLIATION FOR $147,500 FOR THE 

PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF VIDEO DETECTION SYSTEMS AND BICYCLE 
PARKING AND AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING  

THE CITY MANAGER TO SUBMIT THE PLAN TO THE STATE DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION FOR CERTIFICATION  

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Capitola recognizes its responsibility to plan for bicycle 
transportation in implementing the City General Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Bicycle Transportation Plan sets forth City policies that will direct City 
action toward the provision of bicycle facilities and programs in the community; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 891.2 of the Highway Code of the State of California sets forth 
the requirements for the preparation and adoption of the Bicycle Transportation Plan; and 
  

WHEREAS, a Notice of Exemption was prepared for the plan pursuant to sections 
15301 and 15304 of the California Environmental Quality Act; and  
 

WHEREAS, consistent with CEQA, it was determined that: and 
   
 WHEREAS, the Bicycle Transportation Plan has been developed through the 
participation and recommendations of the City’s Planning Commission, Capitola Commission 
on the Environment, and Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission Bike 
Committee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Planning Commission held a public hearing on August 5,2010  
and recommended that the City Council approve the Bicycle Transportation Plan with 
incorporated comments from the Planning Commission and the public; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Capitola’s Bicycle Plan has identified the installation of video 
detection systems at our signalized intersections and Village Bicycle Parking as an important 
component to providing greater bicycling safety; and 
 
 WHEREAS, video detection systems are the most effective way to detect bicyclists at 
signalized intersections and bicycle parking is in limited along the esplanade; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the Bicycle Transportation Account (BTA) provides State funds for city 
and county projects that improve safety and convenience for bicycle commuters; and  
 
  WHEREAS, the Bicycle Transportation Account (BTA) requires a local agency to 
provide a minimum of 10% of the total project cost. 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on February 10, 2011; and 
 



RESOLUTION NO.  2 

  

 WHEREAS, the City Council now finds:  
 
1. The proposed plan is deemed to be in the public interest.  Availability of bicycle 

facilities and programs is an issue of local and regional importance.  The Bicycle 
Transportation Plan makes adequate provisions for the existing and projected 
bicycle facilities city-wide.  The Bicycle Transportation Plan is also in the public 
interest since it addresses community safety, air quality and transportation 
alternatives.   

 
2. The proposed Bicycle Transportation Plan and goals, policies and projects 

therein are consistent and compatible with the City General Plan and 2010 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Plan. 
 

3. The potential impacts of the proposed plan have been assessed and have been 
determined not to be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare.  It is 
intended to promote the bicycle transportation needs of the community, including 
the maintenance of existing facilities, addition of new facilities and support of 
studies and programs that increase the safety of bicycle riders in the city. 

 
4. The Bicycle Transportation Plan was prepared in accordance with California 

State Highway Code Section 891.2 and reviewed by the Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation Commission to ensure compliance with State law.  A 
Notice of Exemption was prepared per the requirements of CEQA.  



RESOLUTION NO.  3 

  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Capitola 

as follows: 
 
1) The City Council of the City of Capitola hereby approves the Notice of 

Exemption, attached as Exhibit A hereto and made a part hereof, and  has determined the 
actions resulting from the implementation of the Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan fall 
within the Categorical Exemptions put forth in sections 15301(c) and 15304(h) of the 
California Environmental Quality Act; and  

 
2) That the City Council of the City of Capitola agrees to provide matching funds 

in the amount of $14,750 (10% of project cost) to be used as the local match for the grant 
should the BTA Grant Application be approved; and 

 
2) The City Council of the City of Capitola hereby adopts the Capitola Bicycle 

Transportation Plan dated February 2011; and 
 
3) The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to submit the Capitola 

Bicycle Transportation Plan to the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
for final certification. 
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the above and foregoing resolution was passed and 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Capitola at its regular meeting held on the 10th 
day of February, 2011, by the following vote: 

 
AYES:     
 
NOES:    
 
ABSENT:   
 
ABSTAIN:   
 
        __________________________ 
            Dennis R. Norton, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________, MMC 
 Pamela Greeninger, City Clerk 



RESOLUTION NO.  4 

  

EXHIBIT A 

 
NOTICE OF EXEMPTION 

 
TO:    CITY OF CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
FROM:   COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
ATTACHMENT: City of Capitola Bicycle Facilities Map 
 
Based on a preliminary review, the implementation of the City of Capitola Bicycle 
Transportation Plan will result only in projects and activities determined to be exempt from 
further environmental review requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) of 1970, as defined in the State Guidelines for the implementation of CEQA. 
Case No.: #XX-XXX 
Location: City-Wide; Urban Area Inside and Outside of the Coastal Zone and Appeals 
Jurisdiction 
Project Title: City of Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 
Project Description: The Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan proposes minor 
improvements to and maintenance of existing infrastructure, feasibility studies to improve 
safety or expand existing bikeways, and programs to improve bicycle safety and 
encourage ridership.  The projects are located in various parts of the city 
Exempt Status: (Check one) 
[  ]  Ministerial 
[  ]  Statutory 
[X] Categorical Exemption §15301 (c), 15304 (h), and no possibility of significant 
effect            
[  ]  Emergency Project 
[  ]  No Possibility of Significant Effect 
Cite specific CEQA Guideline Section: Sections §15301 (c), 15304 (h) 
Reasons to support exemption findings: 
Please see the attached impact discussion for the proposed amendment on the following 
pages. 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Department Representative        Date 
 
Note: A copy must be filed with the County Clerk of the Board after project approval and posted by the Clerk of the Board for a period of 
30 days to begin a 35 day statute of limitations on legal challenges. 

______________________ 
Date File of County Clerk 



RESOLUTION NO.  5 

  

Impact Discussion 
Section 15301 (c) of the CEQA Guidelines consists of the operation, repair, maintenance, 
permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing highways and streets, 
sidewalks, gutters and bicycle and pedestrian trails, involving negligible or no expansion of 
use beyond that existing at the time of the lead agency's determination. The key 
consideration is whether the project involves negligible or no expansion of uses. 
Section 15304 (h) of the CEQA Guidelines consists of minor public or private alterations in 
the condition of land, water, and/or vegetation which do not involve removal of healthy, 
mature, scenic trees except for forestry or agricultural purposes such as the creation of 
bicycle lanes on existing rights-of-way. 
In accordance with the above cited sections of the CEQA Guidelines, the creation, minor 
alteration or maintenance of bicycle lanes or trails within existing rights-of-ways shall be 
exempt from further environmental review. 
 
Discussion:  
 
The Bicycle Transportation Plan was prepared in accordance with California State 
Highway Code Section 891.2 and reviewed by the Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission to ensure compliance with State law.  The proposed projects 
listed in the Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan are consistent with the Capitola Municipal 
Code and the Capitola General Plan.   
 
The Capitola Bicycle Plan proposes to install, reposition, restripe and re-stencil bicycle 
lanes and sharrows on existing streets within the City of Capitola boundaries.  The plan 
also proposes to add bicycle parking in the Capitola Village, Jade Street Park and Capitola 
Mall Transit Center.  The maintenance of existing bicycle facilities is addressed in the 
language of Section 15301 (c) of the CEQA Guidelines, and the provision for the creation 
of bicycle lanes on existing rights-of-way is included in Section 1504 (h) of the CEQA 
Guidelines.  The addition of bicycle parking is a minor alteration to existing public right-of-
way and will not result in the removal of healthy, mature or scenic trees.   
 
Several projects consist of the study of intersections and creation of plans to improve the 
safety of bicyclists in certain areas of the city.  The implementation of these projects will 
result in a study or plan and therefore does not require environmental review.  When a 
study is prepared, it will include appropriate environmental review for any proposed action 
consistent with CEQA Guidelines.      
 
The potential impacts of the proposed plan have been assessed and have been 
determined not to be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare.  The Capitola 
Bicycle Transportation Plan is intended to promote the bicycle transportation needs of the 
community, including the maintenance of existing facilities, addition of new facilities and 
support of studies and programs that increase the safety of bicycle riders in the city.  
Furthermore, the expected increase in bicycle ridership resulting from the implementation 
of the plan may reduce vehicle trips.  The reduction of vehicle trips means a reduction of 
greenhouse gas emissions which contribute to air pollution and anthropogenic climate 
change.  Therefore the cumulative effect of the proposed projects will have a positive 
impact on the environment rather than a negative impact. 



 DRAFT ATTACHMENT 1 
CITY OF CAPITOLA BICYCLE FACILITIES MAP   

 



  

DRAFT CITY OF 
CAPITOLA BICYCLE 
TRANSPORTATION 

PLAN 

 

Adopted  
February 2011 
      



ii DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

CHAPTER 1|INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................. 1 

SECTION 1.1 PURPOSE OF THE PLAN ............................................................................................................. 1 

SECTION 1.2 HISTORY OF BICYCLES ............................................................................................................ 2 

SECTION 1.3 BENEFITS OF BICYCLE TRANSPORTATION ................................................................................ 3 

SECTION 1.4 SETTING .................................................................................................................................. 4 

SECTION 1.5 PLANNING PROCESS ................................................................................................................. 5 

SECTION 1.6 PLAN ORGANIZATION .............................................................................................................. 6 

SECTION 1.7 BTA COMPLIANCE .................................................................................................................... 6 

CHAPTER 2 GOALS AND OBJECTIVES ............................................................................................................... 7 

SECTION 2.1 CITY OF CAPITOLA PLANNING DOCUMENTS ............................................................................. 7 

SECTION 2.2 SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN ....................................................... 8 

SECTION 2.3 GOALS AND OBJECTIVES ....................................................................................................... 10 

CHAPTER 3|EXISTING CONDITIONS ................................................................................................................. 14 

SECTION 3.1 EXISTING BICYCLE FACILITIES ............................................................................................... 14 

SECTION 3.2 EXISTING LAND USE .............................................................................................................. 17 

CHAPTER 4|NEEDS ANALYSIS ......................................................................................................................... 19 

SECTION 4.1 TRIP GENERATORS ................................................................................................................. 19 

SECTION 4.2 COMMUTE PATTERNS AND COMMUTER NEEDS ....................................................................... 20 

SECTION 4.3 COLLISION ANALYSIS ............................................................................................................ 22 

CHAPTER 5|BICYCLE PLAN PROJECTS ............................................................................................................. 25 

SECTION 5.1 PROPOSED BIKEWAYS ............................................................................................................ 25 

SECTION 5.2 BIKEWAYS AND ROAD MAINTENANCE ................................................................................... 26 

SECTION 5.3 BICYCLE PARKING AND SUPPORT FACILITIES ......................................................................... 27 

SECTION 5.4 BICYCLE DETECTORS AND COUNTERS .................................................................................. 28 

SECTION 5.5 TRANSIT AND INTERMODAL FACILITIES ................................................................................. 31 

SECTION 5.6 SAFE ROUTES PLANNING AND RESEARCH ............................................................................. 32 

SECTION 5.7 MONTEREY BAY SANCTUARY SCENIC TRAIL .......................................................................... 34 

CHAPTER 6|BICYCLE SAFETY AND EDUCATION PROGRAMS ............................................................................ 36 



iii DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

SECTION 6.1 ORGANIZATIONS AND EDUCATION AND SAFETY PROGRAMS.................................................. 36 

CHAPTER 7|FUNDING SOURCES ...................................................................................................................... 38 

SECTION 7.1 FEDERAL FUNDING SOURCES ................................................................................................. 38 

SECTION 7.2 STATE FUNDING SOURCES ...................................................................................................... 38 

SECTION 7.3 LOCAL FUNDING SOURCES ..................................................................................................... 38 

WORKS CITED ............................................................................................................................................... 39 

APPENDICES .................................................................................................................................................. A1 

APPENDIX A-1 | LAND USE MAP ................................................................................................................ A1 

APPENDIX A-2 | BICYCLE FACILITIES MAP ................................................................................................ A2 

APPENDIX B | PAST EXPENDITURES AND FUTURE COSTS ............................................................................ B1 

APPENDIX C | BICYCLE TRANSPORTATION PLAN CHECKLIST ................................................................... C1 

APPENDIX D | 2011 PROPOSED PROJECTS LIST ......................................................................................... D1 

APPENDIX E| FUNDING MATRIX ................................................................................................................ E1 

APPENDIX F | GUIDELINES FOR CONSTRUCTION AREAS .............................................................................. F1 

 

 



1 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

CHAPTER 1|INTRODUCTION 

The City of Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan (BTP) assesses commuter needs, identifies 
funding sources and directs the future development of bicycle facilities in the City.  It also 
seeks to carry out the Five Es used by the League of American Bicyclists to identify and rank 
Bicycle Friendly Communities.  The five Es are Evaluation, Engineering, Education, 
Encouragement and Enforcement.   Listed below are questions that define each category.   

                       

 

 

Communities which support bicycling through the simultaneous achievement of the 5 Es are 
considered to be Bicycle Friendly Communities.  The goals and objectives of the Capitola 
Bicycle Transportation Plan were created with the 5 Es in mind in order to realize the vision 
of a pro-bicycle city.  The Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan was created as a result of 
community input, and reflects the needs of bicycle commuters in the City of Capitola and the 
greater region.  By meeting the 5 Es criteria and engaging members of the community, the 
implementation of the Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan will result in a safer, more 
convenient, and more pleasurable place to bicycle.   

SECTION 1.1 PURPOSE OF THE PLAN 

The Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan sets goals and objectives for the purpose of increasing 
the safety and convenience of bicycle commuting in the area.  The BTP is an update of the 2005 
City of Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan.  It includes or expands upon the goals and 
objectives put forth in 2005 to improve network connectivity, address dangerous or hazardous 
areas, and increase education and bicycle resources.  In addition to remaining consistent with 
major City planning documents, the 2011 Bicycle Transportation Plan implements the policies 
and programs of the Circulation Element of the General Plan.  The BTP is intended to aid City of 
Capitola planners and engineers in prioritizing bicycle improvement projects with the goal of 
increasing bicycle commuting, recreation, tourism and safety.  

• How well does a community evaluate its 
own bikeway network and systematically 
plan to improve it? 

Evaluation

• Is the physical bicycle infrastructure well 
connected, accessible , safe and well 
maintained?

Engineering

• Are  cycling  educational programs 
available to bicyclists and motorists of all 
ages?

Education

• Does the community support and 
promote bicycling through special events, 
clubs and recreational programs and 
facilities?

Encouragement

• Do well enforced laws  exist which 
improve bicycle safety?Enforcement



2 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

As traffic congestion, air pollution, obesity, and energy costs have become more serious 
problems, bicycling has become a practical alternative mode of transportation.  Comprehensive 
planning efforts will help the bicycle reach its full potential as a viable transportation mode for 
commuting and shopping as well as for recreation.  The Bicycle Transportation Plan defines 
goals, objectives, policies, and implementation programs involved in the planning, design, and 
construction of an integrated system of regional bicycle facilities.  The BTP defines a network of 
bikeways, with an emphasis on commuter routes, which coordinate with and compliment other 
routes in Santa Cruz County. 

 

 

SECTION 1.2 HISTORY OF BICYCLES 

The bicycle was originally developed as a transportation vehicle and gained prominence 100 
years ago as a sporty alternative to the horse drawn carriage.  With the emergence of the 
motor vehicle, however, the situation quickly changed.  Unlike in Europe, where automobiles 
took decades to supersede cycling, American cyclists never had the chance to coexist with the 
automobile community.  As a result, when the exchange of transportation modes occurred, 
bicycles experienced a rapid drop in status from high-class fashion to mere child's toy.  No 
merging of these two modes was made.  From there the bicycle's popularity fluctuated with 
the relative availability of cars and fuel costs, and was considered at best a working class 
mode of transportation. 

Cycling began its great comeback after the postwar urban sprawl.  More and more young 
people turned to bicycles as their only transportation to and from the suburbs and this, in turn, 
encouraged the development of more suitable bicycles.  Then other groups began catching on: 
open road lovers, fitness enthusiasts and recreational riders.  Enrollment in cycling clubs grew 
rapidly, and new and inexperienced members brought with them their childhood-taught "fear 
of motor vehicles." This viewpoint placed cyclists and motorists in competition with each 
other instead of encouraging cooperation and mutual respect.  This viewpoint, predominant at 
the time, led to the bicycle path trend of the 1970's.  Bicycle paths created at that time 
physically separated the two types of vehicles so that there could be no competition.  They 
also reinforced the “fear of motor vehicles” viewpoint by keeping cyclists off the road.  
Experience with separated bicycle paths proved that they alone could not meet the needs of 
bicyclists.  Firstly, bicyclists will not use poorly designed bicycle paths, due to 
inconveniences and safety problems.  Well designed separated paths function well for some 
trip purposes and poorly for others.  When riding for recreational purposes or commuting to 
only one destination, separated paths can be useful to bicyclists.  The issue of access arises 



3 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

when a trip destination is off of the bicycle path and can only be reached by a street network 
shared by motorized vehicles.  The two apparent solutions to the issue of access are to create 
separated bicycle paths that run throughout the city, or encourage motorists, cyclists and 
pedestrians to share the road.  

Today the cycling trend is to "share to road."  This viewpoint promotes the integration of 
motorists and cyclists by improving existing roadway systems to accommodate bicycles.  
Bicyclists then share the roadway along with general motor vehicle traffic.  Not only does this 
conserve funds, but it also unites the two groups under one set of rules of the road for better 
cooperation and safer operation.  Unfortunately, “share the road” signs have not been entirely 
successful as automobile drivers sometimes take “share the road” to mean that bicycles should 
not take the lane and slow down motorized vehicle traffic.  To reflect State law which states 
that bicycles have a rightful place on the road the City of Capitola has installed several 
“Bicycles may use full lane”  signs on streets lacking bicycle facilities. 

 

SECTION 1.3 BENEFITS OF BICYCLE TRANSPORTATION 

Bicycle riding not only improves physical health through exercise, and the environment by 
offsetting green house gas emissions, but it requires less expensive operational and 
infrastructure maintenance than driving an automobile.  Investment in bicycle infrastructure 
has also proven to benefit local economies by attracting environmental and bicycle tourism 
(Flusche, 2009).  It is difficult to realize the daily cost of driving an automobile, as not all 
costs are direct such as a bus fare, and many costs are subsidized or hidden.  In order to help 
people quantify the financial and environmental impacts of driving, the Santa Cruz Regional 
Transportation Commission created an online interactive tool which calculates the “True Cost 
of Driving” (http://www.commutesolutions.org/calc.htm).  The tool counts direct costs such as 
fuel, maintenance, insurance and parking in cents per mile.  What is unique about the 
calculator is that it also includes indirect costs which are often overlooked such as 
infrastructure improvements and maintenance, air and water pollution, land use impacts, noise 
and congestion costs.  By inputting the number of miles driven annually, the calculator can 
tally the costs and assign a dollar value to the amount of driving an individual does in a year.  
According to Commute Solutions.org, the true cost of driving is $1.36/mile.  Therefore, a 
person who drives 5 miles to and from work each day spends approximately $3,000 each year.  
Most people drive to places other than work, which means that $3, 000 per year is a low 
estimate, and for many the total cost of driving will exceed this amount.   

Increasing the bicycle mode share and improving bicycle facilities can also reduce automobile 
congestion.  Bicyclists will often choose different routes than automobiles, and physically take 
up less space on the road which reduces the traffic load on major arterial streets.  Bicycles also 
take up less space than an automobile when parked, which frees up land for other uses.  

http://www.commutesolutions.org/calc.htm�


4 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Approximately 8 to 10 bicycles can fit in the space of one car parked on the street.  A standard 
curb parking space is 8 feet by 22 ft or 176 ft2.  If businesses could meet a portion of their 
parking requirements by providing bicycle facilities instead of car parking, it could potentially 
free up a substantial amount of land for uses other than parking in the future.  Bicycles also 
increase the accessibility of public transit which reduces congestion by transporting more 
occupants than a car.  Congestion caused by parents driving their children to school can be 
reduced by encouraging children to walk or ride their bicycles.      

Another benefit of bicycling is that it increases the mobility and independence of non-drivers 
such as youth under age 16, low income groups who cannot afford automobiles, and the 
elderly and disabled.  In Capitola approximately 16% of the population is younger than 16 
years old and 14% is over the age of 65.  There is no specific age at which a driver’s license is 
revoked, so there are individuals who are legally allowed to drive past the age of 65.  
However, there are 8 million people in America over the age of 60 who no longer have a 
driver’s license (Gotschi, 2008).  As the Baby Boom population ages, it is expected that the 
number of senior citizens living in Capitola will increase, creating a demand for alternative 
transportation modes.  For some, loss of balance or diminished capacity for physical activity 
becomes a limiting factor in regards to their mobility.  Tricycles and electric bicycles mitigate 
such problems, and make it easier for those with disabilities or health issues to get around 
safely.  The County of Santa Cruz offered an electric bicycle subsidy program which has been 
discontinued.  However, there are several retailers in Santa Cruz County that offer electric 
bicycles at affordable prices.  Electric bicycles are helpful to some, although unnecessary for 
many individuals, as bicycles are the most efficient means of human powered transportation 
(Wilson, 1973).   

SECTION 1.4 SETTING 

The City of Capitola is a small city of 10,015 people located on the Monterey Bay Coast in 
Santa Cruz County (Figure 1-1).   With an area of two square miles, the compact nature of the 
city, mild weather, and mostly flat terrain make Capitola an ideal place for bicycling.  The 
City is connected by a network of bikeways to the City of Santa Cruz, a “Silver” Bicycle 
Friendly Community (League of American Bicyclists) and other parts of the county.   The 
historic Capitola Village is a popular tourist destination over the summer months, and its 
narrow streets encourage bicycling and walking.   

The Union Pacific railroad runs through the southern portion of the city along the Monterey 
Bay National Marine Sanctuary.  The Union Pacific railroad is currently being purchased by 
the SCCRTC although as of February, 2011 escrow has not closed.  Freight service will 
continue on the rail line.  The possibility of constructing bicycle and pedestrian facilities 
alongside the railroad tracks will be considered as part of the planning effort for the 
transportation network.  Such facilities would provide access to major commercial areas, 
beaches and parks within Capitola. 

 

 

 

 



5 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SECTION 1.5 PLANNING PROCESS 

The 2011 Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan is the result of community input and staff 
recommendations.  A public meeting was held before the Capitola Planning Commission on 
August 5, 2010 to receive comments and suggestions from members of the public.  The plan 
was written in coordination with the public works department in order to insure the efficiency 
and cost-effectiveness of bicycle facility improvement projects.  The Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation Commission’s Bicycle Advisory Committee reviewed the draft BTP 
in October to confirm the plan was consistent with the Regional Transportation Plan and State 
Highway Code Section 891.2.  In February 2011, the Capitola City Council adopted the 
Bicycle Transportation Plan and Notice of Exemption by resolution.  The Capitola Bicycle 
Transportation Plan was approved by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission in February 2011. 

 

 

Figure 1-1 Map of Santa Cruz County 



6 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

SECTION 1.6 PLAN ORGANIZATION 

The Plan is organized in the following chapters: 

CHAPTER 1 Introduction 
CHAPTER 2  Goals, Policies and Objectives 
CHAPTER 3  Existing Conditions 
CHAPTER 4  Needs Analysis 
CHAPTER 5  Bicycle Plan Projects  
CHAPTER 6  Bicycle Safety and Education Programs 
CHAPTER 7  Funding Sources 

 

SECTION 1.7 BTA COMPLIANCE 

The Bicycle Transportation Account (BTA) was created to implement the California Bicycle 
Transportation Act, Streets and Highway Code Sections 890-894 (1994).  BTA money may be 
used for infrastructure projects aimed at improving bicycle commuting and safety.  Only 
projects which are listed and described in the local Bicycle Transportation Plan are eligible to 
receive BTA funding.  The Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan is consistent with the criteria 
stated in the California Streets and Highways Code section 891.2 listed in Appendix C: 
Bicycle Transportation Plan Checklist.  Therefore, the projects listed within the Bicycle 
Transportation Plan are eligible for BTA funding.



7 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

CHAPTER 2 GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

This chapter introduces the goals and objectives of the 2011 Capitola Bicycle Transportation 
Plan, and discusses the consistency of the Plan with other City and Regional planning 
documents.  Bicycling currently falls into four general use categories: commuting/utility, 
recreational, touring, and racing.  The goals and objectives of the Capitola Bicycle 
Transportation Plan focus primarily on improving bicycle facilities and programs for 
commuters.  Commuting/utility riders are those who regularly travel to and from a specific 
destination, usually as quickly and directly as possible, for very practical purposes, such as to 
purchase or transport goods and services or to travel to and from work, school, or events.  
Many people commute by bicycle for environmental or economic reasons, exercise and for the 
pleasure of riding.   

Recreational cyclists include those who take day-long local excursions and are generally 
riding for pleasure or fitness.  The Pacific Coast Bicycle Route, a California designated 
facility promoted by CT and the Adventure Cycling Association traverses through the City of 
Capitola and facilitates tourist activities.  Off-road mountain bicycling is a very popular 
recreational activity.  Touring, on the other hand, extends over longer periods of time.  
Touring requires more planning since the destination and routes are important factors.  Racing 
is a specialized sport and race courses may use public roadways with appropriate public 
agency approval and permits.   

To accommodate all cycling types, route systems should be accessible and frequent enough to 
be within a few blocks of all residents.  They should be understandable and have adequate 
signs and graphics to make clear where routes are, and where they are going.  Route systems 
should be safe, visible, relatively flat, and have adequate lane width.  In addition, it is 
important to keep in mind that excessive motor vehicle traffic volume and speed make 
bicycling less safe and less fun.  There is a need to design transportation systems that provide 
more balance between modes, a more efficient use of energy in the movement of people, and a 
more harmonious interaction between transportation and the environment.  The goals and 
objectives of this plan address the aforementioned needs and seek to improve the bicycle 
infrastructure in Capitola for commuters and other cycling enthusiasts.  

 

SECTION 2.1 CITY OF CAPITOLA PLANNING DOCUMENTS 

The City of Capitola General Plan Circulation Element includes objectives, policies and 
programs to develop a safe and efficient bikeway system. The Element supports the 
improvement and expansion of bikeways and bicycle facilities (Policies 30, 31, 32, 33 and 
34).  The preparation and implementation of a Bicycle Plan facilitates achieving these 
objectives by developing an action plan that can be used as part of the County, regional, and 
statewide funding and grant programs.  The Bicycle Plan is in support of the following City of 
Capitola General Plan Circulation Element Policies and Programs: 



8 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

 

SECTION 2.2 SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN 

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) was adopted by the Santa Cruz 
County Regional Transportation Commission in June 2010.  The 2010 RTP contained only 
minor changes to the 2005 RTP, thus many of the goals and objectives from 2005 have been 
continued in the 2010 plan.  Similarly to the Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan, the 2010 
Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) also seeks to increase bicycle travel, reduce conflicts 
between bicycles and other modes of travel and increase the potential of combining bicycle 
travel with other modes of transportation.  The RTP seeks to develop bikeway systems, 
including bicycle lanes, which provide for safe bicycle travel.  The Bicycle Plan is consistent 
with RTP bicycle planning policies that seek to update bikeway plans and implement projects 
to close gaps in the bikeway network and provide safe and convenient bicycling facilities 
(Figure 2-1). 

•Support the development of the bikeway 
system as planned.Policy 30 

•Make every effort to provide for bicycles 
along all arterials and minor arterials. The 
desired objective is a Class II bikeway.

Policy 31 

•Require bicycle parking or storage facilities 
at new private and public developments 
where appropriate.

Policy 33

•Bicycle facilities are not recommended on 
collector streets unless traffic volumes are 
close to the limits of collector street 
standards and/or bicycle traffic is estimated 
to be high or related to school or park access. 

Policy 34



9 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

 
 
 
 

2010 Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Plan Policies 
 

1.4.1 Encourage signal standardization and signal timing improvements, with respect for pedestrian 
mobility and bicycle access, and discourage unwarranted stops on streets. 
1.5.4 Retain and/or enhance existing sidewalks, bikeways and bus turnouts in road improvement 
projects incorporating “Complete Streets” concepts. 
1.6.2 Reduce bicycle and pedestrian collisions by reducing the potential for conflicts between bicycles 
and autos and between pedestrians and autos. 
1.6.3 Minimize adverse impacts on bicyclists and pedestrians during construction and maintenance 
activities by prompt repair, sweeping, and avoiding longitudinal seams on all road edges and curb areas 
including bicycle lanes and by following current best practices. 
1.6.4 Encourage law enforcement agencies to take a more active role in the enforcement of laws 
governing the operation of bicycles and of motorists who are at fault in bicycle-motor vehicle 
accidents. 
1.6.5 Encourage driver instruction about sharing the road with bicycles and encourage bicyclists to 
attend safety education programs; support continuation of bicycle traffic school for bicyclist offenders. 
1.6.9 Improve bicyclists’ safety by eliminating impediments along all streets and bikeways, including 
but not limited to conducting regular street and pathway sweeping, bike lane repainting, trimming 
vegetation, and implementing traffic signal detection of bicycles. 
2.1.1 Consider the needs of the non-motorized traveler in all programming, planning, maintenance, 
construction, operations, and project development activities and products. Whenever feasible, the 
incorporation of pedestrian, bicycle, and transit facilities should be incorporated in all capital projects. 
2.7 Increase percentage of work trips done by bicycle to five percent of all trips and 
20 percent of all work trips by 2035; do so by prioritizing bikeway projects based on: 1) increased 
safety or access; 2) complete gaps in the regional bicycle network; 3) high-demand, high-density areas 
and commute routes; 4) along popular recreational routes. Develop a program to measure and monitor 
growth rates. 
2.7.1 Construct and mark bikeways on roads and bridges consistent with state standards. 
2.7.2 Locate bikeways as bicycle lanes on roads unless a more direct bike path can be provided. 
2.7.3 Maintain adequate outside travel lane width (14 feet) when no bicycle lane can be accommodated. 
2.7.4 Support promotion and transportation safety programs to encourage safe and frequent use of 
alternative transportation modes. 
2.7.5 Ensure that the public is informed about safe bicycling routes and options. 
2.7.6 Support programs which deter bicycle thefts. 
2.7.7 Facilitate cooperation among adjacent jurisdictions, both in-county and with adjacent counties, to 
install continuous bikeways and bike routes; Support programs to increase access to bicycles such as 
bike-sharing; discounts for bikes, helmets and other accessories; free bikes; inexpensive bike loans or 
rentals. 
2.8.1 Provide bicycle racks and/or lockers that are consistent with best practice design guidelines at 
park and ride lots, transit centers and bus stops; bicycles on transit and pedestrian connections to transit; 
and potential inter-connections with future uses of the rail line within Santa Cruz County. 
3.4.2 Encourage showers/lockers in new commercial and industrial development. 
3.4.3 Encourage new recreation/visitor-serving development to include transit and bicycle 
improvements. 
3.4.4 Provide alternative transportation information as well as adequate and secure bicycle parking at 
special 
3.4.6 Limit the number of driveways in new commercial developments to reduce auto/bike conflicts. 
3.7.2 Encourage safe routes to schools by providing improved bicycle and pedestrian facilities, 
improved transit service traffic-calming measures, and bicycle rider training programs for students. 

Figure 2-1: List of Consistent Policies 



10 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

SECTION 2.3 GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

The Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan identifies goals and objectives which seek to 
improve bicycle transportation in the City.  The goals and objectives serve to guide bicycle 
transportation projects and programs from 2011 to 2016.    

 

    

 

GOAL 1 Improve bicycle circulation, connectivity and access 

Objective 1.1| Construct and mark bicycle routes in conformance with the County-wide 
Bicycle Route Signage Program and state standards, as outlined in the 
Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) and the California 
Supplement. 

Objective 1.2| Locate bikeways as bicycle lanes adjacent to the main traveled way unless a 
more direct and useful separated bicycle path can be provided.  Where 
bicycle lanes are not possible due to right-of-way restrictions, etc., include a 
wide curb lane, or shared lane pavement marking 

Objective 1.3| Coordinate with other jurisdictions to adopt a system of bikeways that 
complements the County system. 

Objective 1.4| Coordinate the planning, design and construction of bikeway facilities with 
all implementing agencies. 

Objective 1.5| Install in all existing and proposed signalized intersections inductive loop 
sensors or video sensors (devices to trigger traffic signal phasing) that are 
positioned to detect bicycles, and are appropriately stenciled. 

GOALS 

1 | Improve bicycle circulation, connectivity and access 

2 | Increase bicycle ridership and replace motor vehicle trips with bicycle 
trips.  Achieve a city-wide goal of 5% of all trips and 20% of work trips 
made by bicycle by 2020. 

3 | Improve bicycle safety 

4 | Design a city-wide multi-modal transportation system that    
accommodates bicycles 

5 | Maintain new and existing bicycle infrastructure 

 

 



11 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Objective 1.6| Design regional bicycle routes to connect residential areas with major 
activity centers (employment, educational, civic, etc.) by including bikeway 
network development as part of the Capital Improvements Program to 
prioritize construction or retrofits for completion of specific routes.  

Objective 1.7| Build all bridges with enough width to safely accommodate bicycle travel.  
Comply with or exceed the Caltrans standard requirement of a 4-foot (1.2m) 
minimum bicycle lane, or a 5-foot lane if a gutter is present. 

Objective 1.8| Where possible exceed the minimum lane width for Class II bicycle lanes to 
allow more bicycle traffic and separation from parked cars and automobile 
traffic.  

Objective 1.9| Improve the flow of bicycle traffic through the Capitola Village.  

 GOAL 2 Increase bicycle ridership and replace motor vehicle trips with 
bicycle trips.  Achieve a city-wide goal of 5% of all trips and 20% of work trips 
made by bicycle by 2020. 

Objective 2.1| Require that event sponsors provide safe bicycle access and secure bicycle 
parking at special events 

Objective 2.2| Encourage employers to offer incentives to employees who ride a bicycle 
instead of driving a car to work.  

Objective 2.3| Encourage the provision of bicycle racks, showers, lockers, and other storage 
facilities at destinations, where practical and economically feasible, when 
reviewing discretionary permits for major activity centers and new 
developments.   

Objective 2.4| Plan a bikeway network to integrate with other modes of transportation (train 
or transit stations and Park and Ride lots, etc.) in order to encourage and 
support the use of bicycling and reduce the use of motor vehicles. 

Objective 2.5 Provide convenient, secure bicycle parking at private and public facilities and 
commercial districts through parking ordinance requirements. 

Objective 2.6 Provide bicycle parking stands (facilities) at all primary public access points 
and at appropriate neighborhood access points. 

Objective 2.7| Identify several street parking spaces located in front of commercial and 
retail stores to be converted into bicycle parking.  

Objective 2.8| Increase modal split of Capitola employee commuter trips to 25% of all trips 
made by bicycle, transit, walking or carpool by 2020. 

Objective 2.9| Replace Capitola vehicle fleet trips with bicycle trips when feasible. 

Objective 2.10| Work with New Brighton Middle School and local Bicycle advocacy groups 
to establish a year-round incentive and tracking program for students to 
encourage active transportation. 



12 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

  

GOAL 3 Improve bicycle safety 

Objective 3.1 Support bicycle rider safety training programs for elementary and middle 
school students. 

Objective 3.2 Encourage establishments that teach driver education to include lessons on 
sharing the road and the rights and responsibilities of bicyclists according to 
the California Vehicle Code. 

Objective 3.3 Continue to support stable funding for local bicycle safety and education 
programs. 

Objective 3.4 Require that contractors and utility companies doing roadside work maintain 
the road edge in the best possible condition during construction and adhere to 
the “Guidelines to Protect the Safety of Bicyclists, Pedestrians, and Disabled 
Travelers during Road Construction” in Appendix F. 

Objective 3.5 When feasible, avoid lengthwise concrete seams in bicycle lanes and require 
prompt repair (including pavement) and restriping of bicycle lanes before the 
project is considered complete. 

Objective 3.6 Limit on-street parking on arterial and collector streets, encourage parking 
alternatives, pursue off-street parking development as methods to provide 
Class II bicycle lanes and do not eliminate joint bicycle lanes/parallel 
shoulder parking unless the new bicycle lanes are effectively as wide or 
wider. 

Objective 3.7 Limit the number of driveways when planning new commercial and 
multiple-family residential developments in order to reduce automobile-
bicycle conflicts. 

Objective 3.8 Maintain adequate outside travel lane width (14 feet) when no bicycle lane 
can be accommodated.  

Objective 3.9 Encourage bicyclists to take the lane on Class III bikeways by exceeding the 
minimum standard distance sharrows shall be placed from the curb as 
defined in the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) 
Section 9C.07.   

Objective 3.10 Encourage car parking arrangements which increase the visibility of 
pedestrians and bicyclists.  Consider reverse angled parking.  

Objective 3.11 Remove botts dots from streets during scheduled road maintenance. 

GOAL 4 Design a city-wide multi-modal transportation system that 
accommodates bicycles 

Objective 4.1 Encourage other modes of transportation (buses, trains, etc.) to plan for, and 
provide space for carrying recreational and commuting bicyclists on public 



13 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

transportation systems.  Include secure bicycle parking facilities with 
development of transit shelters incorporating Santa Cruz County Transit 
District design approval. 

Objective 4.2 Include bicycle access in all fixed guideway planning and design. 

Objective 4.3 Make provisions for bicycle commuter facilities in any and all future 
planning documents regarding the Capitola Mall and Transit Station.   

Objective 4.5 Require new recreation and visitor-serving developments in the Coastal Zone 
to support alternative transportation to the beaches and other tourist 
destinations. 

Objective 4.6 Ensure that all major corridors provide a choice of transportation modes and 
are designed with multi-model amenities such as bus stops, turnouts and 
shelters, and bicycle lanes and sidewalks.  

GOAL 5 Maintain new and existing bicycle infrastructure 

Objective 5.1 Ensure that bicycle facilities remain in a usable condition through regular 
maintenance and sweeping. 

Objective 5.2 Retain all existing bikeways along with roadway improvement projects.  

Objective 5.3 Secure a portion of local and State funding for bikeway maintenance. 

Objective 5.4 Maintain bicycle parking facilities. 

 



14 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

CHAPTER 3|EXISTING CONDITIONS 

SECTION 3.1 EXISTING BICYCLE FACILITIES 

 

The California Department of Transportation recognizes three types of bikeways, Class I, 
Class II and Class III.  The City of Capitola bicycle network is composed of a combination of 
all three.  Each Class of bikeway is distinguishable by its structural design and location in 
relation to the road.  Descriptions of Class I, Class II and Class II bikeways are as follows:     

Class I Bikeway (Bicycle Path) is typically grade-separated from motor vehicles, providing 
two-way bicycle and pedestrian travel on a single wide path.  Bicycle paths work best in areas 
with few crossings (i.e., along edges, such as river fronts).  Where bicycle paths do cross 
motor vehicle routes, extreme care must be taken to make the crossing for bicyclists as safe as 
possible.  Caltrans minimum width is 8 feet or 2. 4 meter (4 feet {or 1.2 meters} each way, 
with a stripe down the center), with a 2 foot or 0.6 meters graded shoulder on each side.  A 
Class I bicycle path is conceptually illustrated in Figure 3-1.  The bicycle/pedestrian bridge 
over Soquel Creek between Wharf Rd and Peery Park is currently the only Class I bicycle 
path in Capitola. 

 

Figure 3-1: Class I Bikeway 

 



15 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

(Caltrans, 2009) 

 

 

Figure 3-2: Class I Bikeway Section 

 

(Caltrans, 2009) 

 

Class II Bikeways (Bicycle lanes) are striped lanes on roadways that are marked by signage, 
pavement striping, and/or stencils (Figure 3-3).  The Caltrans minimum recommended width 
against a curb is 5 feet or 1.5 meters.  Where parallel auto parking occurs against a curb, 
Caltrans recommends a minimum of 12 feet or 3.6 meters from curb to lane stripe, producing 
a bicycle lane width of approximately 4 feet or 1.2 meters, but only one foot when a car door 
is open.  Where practical, a wider and safer lane width is suggested, however, with a total 
width of 13 feet or 4 meters for auto parking and bicycle lane space combined.  This will 
accommodate bicycle trailers as well as opening doors.  Class II bicycle lanes are located on 
arterial streets and major collector streets in accordance with the City of Capitola General 
Plan. 

Figure 3-3: Class II bikeway (41st Avenue) 

 



16 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Class III Bikeways (Bicycle Routes) are shared with motorized vehicle traffic and are characterized 
by signs that help guide bicyclists on recommended routes to certain locations.  They are used on 
streets where auto traffic volume and speed do not warrant other facilities.  Signing streets as bicycle 
routes does not necessarily make streets any safer for bicyclists to use.  The purpose is mainly to guide 
bicyclists on recommended routes.  The minimum auto/bicycle lane width when adjacent to the curb 
should be 14 feet or 4.2 meters.  Where a shared lane is present adjacent to parallel auto parking, the 
lane width (including parking lane) may be 18 feet or 5.4 meters greater. 

A Bicycle Boulevard is an enhanced route for cross-town bicycle travel (traffic signals or 4-way stops 
at all arterial crossings are essential), which also prevents or discourages motor vehicles from also 
using the street as a thoroughfare.  Successful bicycle boulevards have low volumes of auto traffic and 
slow auto speeds, and therefore do not require striped bicycle lanes.  The primary way to prevent the 
street from being used as an auto thoroughfare (which the recommended traffic controls at arterial 
crossings would otherwise encourage) is to use "traffic-calming" devices to slow down traffic.  
Traffic-calming devices include speed humps, bulbouts, mid-street islands with trees or foliage, and 
narrow traffic lanes.   

The City of Capitola has several narrow arterials and major collector streets that require the 
use of shared lane pavement markings, aka “sharrows”.  Sharrows are used to indicate to 
bicyclists and motorists the appropriate footprint for bicycle travel away from the dangerous 
open or opening doors of cars parked on the street (Figure 3-4). 

Figure 3-4: Sharrow 

 

The City of Capitola currently has approximately 14.41 miles of Class II paths and 0.17 miles 
of Class I paths (Table 3-1).  By the end of 2011, there will be an additional 0.23 miles of 
Class II paths and 0.72 miles of Class III paths for a total of 15.53 bikeway miles (Appendix 
A-2, Capitola Bicycle Facilities Map). 

Table 3-1: Santa Cruz County Bikeway Miles 2009 

 

Bi-
directional   Centerline     

Jurisdiction Miles Type Miles Type TOTAL 
Capitola 14.41 Class II  0.17 Class I 14.58 
Santa Cruz 47.90 Class II  9.42 Class I 57.32 
Scotts Valley 15.26 Class II  1.00 Class I 16.26 
Watsonville 18.10 Class II  9.10 Class I 27.20 
Unincorporated 91.73 Class II  4.13 Class I 95.86 



17 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

UCSC 2.07 Class II  1.30 Class I 3.37 

Santa Cruz County Total 189.47 Class II  25.12 Class I 214.59 

Source: (Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission, 2009) 

 A comprehensive bikeway map of Santa Cruz Count is produced by the Santa Cruz County 
Regional Transportation Commission and provided to the community free of charge.  The 
map provides a detailed look at existing bicycle lanes and paths within the City of Capitola 
and throughout Santa Cruz County, informational items on bicycling tips and laws, and local 
bicycle resources. 

There are several Class II paths in the City which are scheduled for maintenance in 2010-
2011.  The arterials and major connectors which require bicycle lane repair or maintenance 
are: 

• 41st Avenue 
• Brommer Street 
• Gross Road 
• Park Avenue 

 

• Bay Avenue 
• Monterey Avenue 
• Wharf Road 

 

Figure 3-5 Brommer Street 

 

 

SECTION 3.2 EXISTING LAND USE 

Land use and housing density are directly related to transportation systems.  Certain 
transportation modes such as train or light rail depend on medium to high density populations 
in order to be successful.  Conversely, low-density development is dependent upon the 
automobile.  Bicycle transportation can be successful in both high-density downtown areas as 
well as low-density suburban development, provided that adequate infrastructure exist.    

It is important that bikeways and bicycle paths connect residential neighborhoods to 
commercial and entertainment areas and employment zones.  The City of Capitola is split 
roughly down the center by Soquel Creek.  The dominant land use to the east of Soquel Creek 



18 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

is single-family residential neighborhoods with several moderately sized commercial areas 
near the creek.  The majority of commercial land lies to the west of the creek and includes the 
Capitola Mall, a regional shopping center.  Residential zones are connected to commercial 
zones primarily by Class II and Class III bikeways, however, the Class I bikeway also 
connects the two sides of the City.  The City of Capitola Zoning Map can be found in 
Appendix A-1 for a detailed illustration of land use patterns in the City.  



19 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

CHAPTER 4|NEEDS ANALYSIS 
  
 
The need for bicycle transportation does not exist solely on the local level, but on the State 
and National level as well.  This chapter will discuss the issues that can be addressed through 
increased bicycle travel, current local bicycle commuter trends and statistics, and commuter 
needs. 
  
Perhaps the greatest issue which is applicable on the local, State and National levels, is a 
heavy dependence on fossil fuels for transportation, energy and agriculture amongst other 
things.  Not only does the burning of fossil fuels pollute the environment, but its limited 
accessibility and national supply can leave consumers vulnerable to fluctuating prices.  
Because housing development and land use have centered on the automobile over the past 50 
years, an increase in gas prices can have a significant financial impact on commuters.  This is 
evidenced by the fact that in many households in the U.S., transportation is the second greatest 
household expense after housing.  Gas prices and driving are inversely related; when gas 
prices are low more people drive.  Conversely, in 2008 the price of gas increased to $4 per 
gallon and the total Vehicle Miles Travelled (VMT) in the United States decreased by 57.8 
billion miles from 2007 (Flusche, 2009).  Although high gas prices can be devastating 
especially to low income working families or those who commute great distances by car, they 
can also be an opportunity for change.  When fuel is expensive and fewer people drive, 
alternative modes of transportation should be promoted and improved to increase and sustain 
ridership.      
 
In response to the problems caused by the burning of fossil fuels, the State of California 
passed Senate Bill 375: Redesigning Communities to Reduce Greenhouse Gasses.   The bill 
requires that local jurisdictions plan for alternative modes of transportation and stop urban 
sprawl amongst other strategies to reduce harmful emissions.  Although SB 375 is aimed at 
reducing emissions and not necessarily reducing fossil fuel consumption, the two are 
intrinsically connected, and therefore the latter may also be addressed in the implementation 
of the bill.  Bicycling as a mode of transportation is not only greenhouse gas emission-free, 
but it allows more freedom in time of travel than public transit, and allows for travel of greater 
distances than walking.  The bicycle has built in incentives and is widely applicable, as it is an 
inexpensive alternative to the automobile that is viable in low-density or high-density 
neighborhoods alike. Because of this, increasing bicycle ridership through programs and small 
infrastructure improvements is a relatively quick and affordable way for local jurisdictions to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

SECTION 4.1 TRIP GENERATORS 

Trip generators are popular destinations that are regularly frequented.  They include popular 
parks and public buildings, beaches, regional shopping centers, schools and tourist attractions.  
Because these places attract more people, they are good candidates for public transit service 
and alternative modes of transportation.  Alternately, traffic congestion, large parking lots and 
the presence of many cars can detract from the charm, attractiveness or accessibility of a 
place.   

One benefit to bicycling is that often times it is possible to park much closer to the desired 
destination than with other modes of transportation.  In order to encourage individuals to 
choose to ride a bicycle instead of drive, it is important to have ample and secure bicycle 
parking at popular destinations.  The most popular trip destinations in the City of Capitola, in 
no particular order are as follows: 



20 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Capitola Beach 

Capitola Village 

Capitola Mall 

New Brighton Beach State Park 

Jade Street Community Center 

Capitola Library 

New Brighton Middle School 

Capitola Mall 

Brown Ranch Marketplace 

Kings Plaza 

City Hall 

 

SECTION 4.2 COMMUTE PATTERNS AND COMMUTER NEEDS 

It is important to analyze commute patterns when addressing climate change and pollution, as 
the majority of commuter trips are taken by automobile and 45% of greenhouse gas emissions 
in Santa Cruz County are attributed to transportation.  The modal split is a useful indicator as 
to whether or not a transportation network adequately accommodates multiple modes of 
transportation.  In the case of commuting, the modal split is the percentage of employees that 
travel by each mode of transportation to and from work.  An uneven modal split may indicate 
a transportation system that favors one mode of transportation over others.  The modal split 
for City of Capitola employees commuting to work in 2008 was: 

• 63% drove alone  
• 5% used a bicycle, public transit, carpooled or walked 
• 32% split their commuting methods between driving alone and carpooling  

The overwhelming percentage of automobile trips made by City employees suggests that the 
transportation system in the City of Capitola and surrounding areas favors the automobile.  
This theory is strengthened by the fact that the majority of employees live within 5 miles of 
the workplace, a distance that is within the range of alternative modes of transportation such 
as bicycling, walking and transit.  The result of an automobile-dominant mode split is poor air 
quality, traffic congestion and a large portion of land devoted to parking.  City employee 
commute trips accounted for 8% of the overall emissions due to City government operations, 
or 66 metric tonnes of C02 (AMBAG, 2009).  In order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, the 
City will lead by example and strive for a modal split for commute trips of: 

• 43% drive alone 
• 25% use a bicycle, public transit, carpool or walk 
• 32% split their commuting methods between driving alone and carpooling 



21 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

This goal will be achieved if the above modal split is accomplished by 2020.  In order to 
increase bicycle ridership the City will offer incentives to those who do not drive to work.  
Some incentives may include monetary compensation, bicycle commuter facilities, discounted 
transit passes, zero interest bicycle loans and emergency ride home services.  The City will 
also analyze vehicle fleet trips, which account for 35% of greenhouse gas emissions due to 
government operations.  Bicycles will be added to the City fleet, and when feasible, fleet 
vehicle trips will be replaced with bicycle trips. 

Table 4-1: City of Capitola Commuter Mode Split 

 Commuters Percent of Total 
Car, Truck or Van  
Drove Alone 4394 80.5% 
Carpooled 517 9.5% 
Alternative Transportation  
Walk 298 5.5% 
Bicycle 92 1.7% 
Bus 74 1.4% 
Other means 57 1.0% 
Motorcycle 25 0.4% 
TOTAL 5457 100% 
Source: (U.S. Census, 2000) 

 

In 2000, only 92, or 1.7% of all commuters who lived in Capitola rode their bicycles as their 
main mode of transportation to work (Table 4-1).  In terms of alternative transportation to the 
automobile, walking was the most popular with 242 people, followed by bicycling, and the 
third most popular mode was the bus with 74 riders.  These figures are most likely lower than 
actual ridership, as the U.S. Census only counts the primary mode of transportation to work.  
According to this method of counting, an individual who primarily drives alone to work but 
rides a bicycle once or twice a week would only be counted for “drove alone”.  Additionally, 
if an individual rides a bicycle to the bus or transit, transit will be counted for the trip.  In 
order to obtain more accurate bicycle commuter data, the City will install bicycle sensors on 
several popular bicycle commuter routes and conduct bicycle counts (Appendix D: Proposed 
Projects List).  Bicycle commuters typically ride at 10 miles per hour, which is often more 
time efficient than driving a car for distances of 3 miles or less, especially during peak hours 
of travel (League of American Bicyclists, 2000-2010).  Yet an overwhelming number of 
workers “drove-alone” even though 50% of workers commuted less than 20 minutes away.  
The uneven mode split suggests that there are factors other than distance which deter people 
from commuting on bicycle.  The most common barriers to bicycle commuting are concerns 
about safety, hygiene, distance and the ability to run errands after work or reach family 
quickly in an emergency (michianabiketowork.org; Voiland, 2008).  Local jurisdictions are 
working to break down these barriers by offering incentives and programs such as Ecology 
Action’s Sustainable Transportation Employer Membership which offers bicycle loans, 
discounted transit passes and an “Emergency Ride Home Service”.   



22 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Table 4-2: Travel time to Work 

Travel Time to Work City of Capitola % of Commuters 

Less than 15 minutes 1,787 32.7% 

15 to 29 minutes 1,691 31% 

30 to 44 minutes 501 9.2% 

45 to 59 minutes 762 14% 

60 minutes or more 716 13.1% 

Total 5,457 100% 

Source: US Census 2000.  Summary File 3, QT-P23: Journey to Work. 

 

In 2000, roughly one third of all commuters in Capitola had a less than 15 minute trip to work, 
which suggests that the distance travelled was likely less than 9 miles if driving at 35 mph, 2.5 
miles if bicycling, or 1.25 miles if walking briskly (Table 4-2).  All of these trips are 
achievable on a bicycle in less than one hour.  By breaking down barriers to bicycle 
commuting especially to those who live within 9 miles of work, the City of Capitola will 
strive to achieve 5% of total trips and 20% of commuter trips by bicycle by the year 2020.   

 

 

SECTION 4.3 COLLISION ANALYSIS 

According to the California Highway Design Manual, car/bicycle collisions are most likely to 
happen at an intersection (Highway Design Manual, 2006).  This is the case in Capitola, 
Nearly 60% of bicycle collisions from 2005 to 2009 occurred at an intersection.  Fortunately, 
there have been no fatalities as a result of collisions involving bicycles in the City of Capitola, 
however there have been 26 injuries from 2005 to 2008 (Table 4-3: Bicyclists Injured and 
Killed 2000-2008).  The majority of collisions involving a bicycle have occurred at the 
following intersections: 



23 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

    

 

Several collisions involving bicycles have occurred along 41st Avenue which is known to have 
high volumes of automobile traffic throughout the day due to the regional shopping center and 
access to Highway 1.  Future City plans will specifically address bicycle infrastructure 
surrounding the Capitola Mall and the 41st Avenue corridor.  Restriping and bicycle 
infrastructure improvements along 41st Avenue have been scheduled for 2010-2011.         

Collisions between bicycles and cars are not always the fault of the car.  In fact in 
approximately half of the accidents involving cars and bicyclists in Capitola from 2005-2009, 
the bicyclist was at fault usually because they were riding on the sidewalk which is illegal in 
Capitola.  Riding on the sidewalk is hazardous for bicyclists and pedestrians.  Bicyclists travel 
at higher speeds than pedestrians, thus leaving less time for each party to react if a conflict 
emerges, and increasing the likelihood of a collision.  Drivers backing out of driveways will 
also not expect to see a bicyclist riding on the sidewalk, and have less time to react due to the 
travel speed of the bicyclist.  In order to prevent such collisions in the future, the City will 
concentrate on bicycle education, enforcement and improvement of bicycle infrastructure so 
that bicyclists feel comfortable riding on the street rather than on the sidewalk.   

 

41st Avenue x Gross Rd (3)

41st Avenue x Brommer Street (3)

Bay Avenue x Capitola Avenue (2)

Bay Avenue x Highway 1 (2)

Monterey Avenue x Bay Avenue (2)

Park Avenue x McGregor Drive (2)

41st Avenue x Capitola Road (1)

Capitola Road x 38th Avenue (1)

Capitola Road x 42nd Avenue (1)

Clares Street x 42nd Avenue (1)

41st Avenue x Jade St (1)



24 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Table 4-3: Bicyclist Injuries and Fatalities for Santa Cruz County 

 

(Bicyclist Injuries and Fatalities for Santa Cruz County, 2008) 

 

The Community Traffic Safety Coalition compiles data from the Statewide Integrated Traffic 
Records System (SWITRS) each year regarding bicyclist injury and death rates.  SWITRS 
collects fatal and non-fatal traffic accident data from CHP areas and police departments across 
California.  The Santa Cruz County Bicycle Injuries and Fatalities 2000-2008 data, put out by 
the Community Traffic Safety Coalition, can be found in Table 4.3.  The data from these 
reports is used to inform local jurisdictions within the county of collisions involving 
bicyclists, so that appropriate measures can be taken to improve safety.



25 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

CHAPTER 5|BICYCLE PLAN PROJECTS 

The City of Capitola seeks to provide bikeways for commuting and connections that will 
provide greater access between residential, employment, and educational centers.  The 
development of new bikeways is prioritized by the criteria listed below in the following order: 

  1. High density, high demand areas and school routes 

  2. Low density areas where cyclist's safety is a concern (neighborhoods) 

  3. Recreational routes in low density, low demand areas 

Critical needs that are met with each project also are identified in the Proposed Project List 
(Appendix D) to enable planners and decision-makers to prioritize funds as they become 
available.  

The Planning and Design Chapter of the Caltrans Highway Design Manual provides specific 
detail on design speeds, signing, striping, and other related bikeway design issues as does the 
U.S. Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices for streets and highways (MUTCD).   

The high priority bicycle plan projects include the completion of bicycle lanes on existing 
streets, on-street bicycle safety improvements and studies, a bicycle safety and education 
program for students, and the installation of bicycle detector loops or video sensors at 
signalized intersections and replacement of antiquated or ineffective infrastructure.  These 
projects have the clear benefit of providing greater convenience and safety for bicyclists.  
Other projects that improve bicycle facilities and encourage cycling include bicycle lane 
maintenance, parking facilities, and inter-modal connections, as well as studies to address 
unsafe areas for bicyclists.  Proposed bicycle projects are described in this chapter; existing 
bicycle safety and education programs are discussed in Chapter 6.  The implementation of the 
proposed bicycle projects is expected to achieve 10% of work trips and 2.5% of all trips taken 
by bicycle by 2016.  This will keep the City of Capitola on track to reach the goal of 20% of 
work trips and 5% of all trips taken by bicycle by the year 2020.   

SECTION 5.1 PROPOSED BIKEWAYS 

Bicycle Path (Class I)  

 Class I bicycle paths can be useful to bicyclists for commute or recreational purposes.    
Because bicycle paths are separated from motor vehicle traffic and have few intersections, 
they are safer than Class II or Class III bikeways.  If designed and situated appropriately, 
Class I bikeways can be a safe and convenient route for inexperienced or young bicyclists.  A 
bicycle path can also create opportunities for individuals to experience the natural features of 
their community in a unique way.  The current Class I bikeway in Capitola allows bicyclists to 
enjoy Soquel Creek and the historic Rispin Mansion site.  If the path was extended north to 
Soquel Elementary School alongside Soquel Creek, it would create a safe alternative to the 
Bay Avenue Highway 1 intersection for children riding to and from school, and allow all 
cyclists the opportunity to enjoy the flora and fauna in the riparian area.  A study will be 
conducted to determine the feasibility of extending the path north along Soquel Creek toward 
Highway 1 (Appendix D: Proposed Project List).      



26 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Bicycle lanes (Class II) 

A 0.23 mile Class II bicycle lane will be installed on 38th Avenue between Capitola Road and 
Brommer Street in 2011 (Appendix A-2: Bicycle Facilities Map).  

Bicycle Routes (Class III)  

In addition to re-stenciling existing sharrows, the City plans to add sharrow markers on Clares 
Street near the Brown Ranch Shopping Center, and on Wharf Rd between Clares Street and 
Grace Street (Appendix A-2: Bicycle Facilities Map).  The City will also identify future 
bicycle and pedestrian improvements in the General Plan update and specific plans for the 
area. 

For a comprehensive list of proposed bikeways refer to Appendix D: Proposed Project List 
and the Capitola Bicycle Facilities Map in Appendix A-2.   

 

SECTION 5.2 BIKEWAYS AND ROAD MAINTENANCE 

California Vehicle Code requires bicyclists to ride in a bicycle lane if provided.  Bicyclists are 
permitted to ride outside of the bicycle lane if there is an obstruction or unsafe conditions.  If 
not maintained, Class II paths can collect debris and crack making them unfit for the use of 
bicyclists.  The City of Capitola and the Regional Transportation Commission have 
recognized that to facilitate bicycling, bikeways must be maintained.  Traditionally, two types 
of projects have continued to be funded.  Maintenance funds go primarily to sweeping bicycle 
lanes according to a set schedule, restriping faded lane markings, patching potholes, and 
cutting overhanging vegetation.   

The City plans to use maintenance funds to eliminate root intrusion on Park Avenue and 
restripe numerous Class II and Class III bikeways over the next five years (See Appendix D: 
Proposed Projects).  "Conflict bikeway" funds go to spot improvements to bring existing 
bikeways up to current standards.  Such maintenance and improvements are important for the 
right edges of all streets, as bicycle travel is not limited to those roads with bicycle lanes.   

Construction activities typically occur in the portion of the road where cyclists travel, so it is 
important that such activities maintain a safe environment for bicyclists.  Through the 
encroachment permit process, the City of Capitola will work with contractors and utility 
companies to insure that roadway standards are maintained during and after construction 
projects are completed. To this end, the City supports and upholds the recommended 
guidelines for construction areas put forth by the Santa Cruz County Community Traffic 
Safety Coalition (Appendix F). 

  

Maintaining the integrity of bikeways during construction is an appropriate use of conflict 
bikeway funds.  Such funds can also be used to remove hazardous fixed objects, which 
include features of existing infrastructure.  The Class II bike lane northbound on Wharf Road, 
north of the Capitola library is narrow and confined further by cone barriers.  The cones were 
placed on the left side of the bike lane to protect bicyclists from motorists.  In reality, the 
cones create an unnecessary hazard for bicyclists, and confine them to a narrow lane.  The 



27 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

City will remove the cones and widen the bike lane if feasible.   The City will also remove 
botts dots from the southern portion of Wharf Road (Appendix D: Proposed Projects). 

    

 

SECTION 5.3 BICYCLE PARKING AND SUPPORT FACILITIES 

There are several additional components to a successful bicycle network besides bicycle lanes.  
Facilities and amenities that support and encourage bicycling include secure and convenient 
bicycle parking facilities, employee shower and changing facilities, bicycle sensitive signals at 
intersections, and intermodal connections. 

Providing convenient and secure bicycle parking is a good way to increase bicycle ridership.  
Several cities in California and across the Country have converted street parking spaces into 
permanent bicycle parking in commercial areas.  Although there was an initial concern that 
removing a space for car parking would be detrimental to local businesses, it was soon 
realized to be the opposite.  Ten to twelve bicycles can be parked securely in place of one car, 
thus the number of potential patrons of local businesses increases dramatically when spaces 
are converted to bicycle parking.  

A common myth is that individuals who ride their bicycle to 
commercial areas do not spend as much money at retail 
stores as individuals who drive.  A 2010 study conducted by 
San Luis Obispo Regional Rideshare, shows that drivers do 
not spend more money downtown than bicyclists on average.  
Although drivers spend more money per trip, bicyclists take 
more trips downtown than drivers.  Bicycle parking 
requirements are established in the City of Capitola Zoning 

Ordinance for new development.  Rates vary according to the type of use.  The bicycle 
parking standards will be updated to specify the number of bicycle racks required, where they 
should be located and basic design requirements.  The City will consider increased bicycle 
parking in certain commercial or recreational areas including the conversion of parking spaces 
into bicycle corrals (Appendix D: Proposed Project List).     

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission also administers a program to 
help fund the installation of secure bicycle racks and lockers in commercial and public facility 
areas.  Since 1993, the "Bicycle Secure” program has provided inverted u racks or subsidized 
bicycle lockers for agencies and businesses resulting in the installation of over 2000 new 
bicycle parking spaces. 

The following locations in the City of Capitola have been constructed through this program: 

1. Capitola Village streetscape – 12 spaces 

2. Capitola Community Center – 8 spaces 

3. Capitola City Hall – 6 spaces 

4. Brown Ranch Marketplace, 3335 Clares Street –10 spaces 



28 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Currently, there are few public places for changing and storing bicycle clothes and equipment.  
Changing areas are limited to public restrooms and or locker rooms at City Hall, Capitola 
Beach and New Brighton Middle School (although only used by students).  To encourage 
commuter bicycling use, some jurisdictions have adopted ordinances, which require new 
employment-generating uses to provide onsite bicycle parking, lockers, and facilities for 
showering and changing clothes.  These types of requirements for new or expanded 
development provide incentives for employees to use bicycling as a commuting alternative.  
City-wide site design requirements for worksites have not been adopted.  If considered in the 
future, ordinances should include requirements for bicycle storage, showers, and clothes 
lockers to further encourage bicycle commuting. 

(www.cycle2city.com.au)

 

 

SECTION 5.4 BICYCLE DETECTORS AND COUNTERS 

The City of Capitola has ten signalized intersections.  Currently none of the intersections are 
equipped with sensors that can detect bicycles.  As a result, a bicyclist must wait for a car to 
drive up to trigger the green light.  Traffic signals that are triggered by inductive loop sensors 
or video sensors can significantly increase the convenience of bicycle commuting.  Both types 
of sensors also encourage bicyclists to position themselves in the correct location on the road.  
Push-button sensors can also be useful if situated properly.  Unfortunately, it is often times 
that case that push-button sensors are located on the sidewalk or far over to the right-hand side 
of the bicycle lane, which ultimately decreases the visibility of bicyclists on the road.  For the 
strengths and weaknesses of loop detectors and video detectors see Table 5-1. 

Loop Detectors 

 Inductive loop detectors are commonly used to sense the presence of vehicles (including 
bicycles) at intersections for the purpose of triggering traffic signals.  Loop detectors are 
installed below the surface of the road and are activated by the metal in motorized vehicles or 
bicycle spokes when positioned above.  Although loop detectors encourage bicyclists to 
position themselves in the safest location on the road, they are difficult to install correctly, 
repair and maintain, and are unreliable.  Local jurisdictions and Caltrans are moving away 
from the use of loop detectors to overhead traffic detectors which use Video Image Processing 
Systems (VIPS) to sense and control vehicle traffic (UC Davis Department of Mechanical and 
Aeronautical Engineering, 2007).     

Video Detectors   



29 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Given good weather conditions and proper installation and maintenance, video detectors can 
be more than 95% accurate (US Department of Transportation, 2006).  Video detectors are 
often mounted on existing traffic signals or other infrastructure and can detect multiple lanes 
and zones.  If mounted over a street, it may be necessary to close the road for maintenance 
however, video detectors can be mounted on the side of the roadway to avoid inconvenience.  
Unlike loop detectors, video cameras are subjected to weather and other environmental factors 
which may require more frequent maintenance.  Nevertheless, video detectors tend to be more 
reliable and more accurate than inductive loop sensors. 

Both loop detectors and video detectors are capable of sensing the presence of vehicles, 
triggering traffic actuated signals, counting vehicles and measuring the speed of vehicles.  
Unlike loop detectors, video detectors can be used for multiple lanes or detection zones.  This 
can be useful to bicyclists who may need to position themselves outside of the bicycle lane, to 
make a left turn for instance.  The City of Capitola will install inductive loop detectors and/or 
video sensors at ten signalized intersections to collect data on bicyclist trips and enable 
bicyclists to trigger traffic signals.  The eight signalized intersections are all located within the 
Community Commercial zone district, at the following locations: 

• 41st Avenue and Clares Street 
• 41st Avenue and Capitola Mall 
• 41st Avenue and Capitola Road 
• 41st Avenue and Brommer Street 
• Capitola Road and 38th Avenue  
• Capitola Road and Clares Street 
• Capitola Road and 30th Avenue 
• Clares Street and Capitola Mall 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



30 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Table 5-1: Sensor Technologies, Strengths and Weaknesses 

Technology Strengths Weaknesses 
In

du
ct

iv
e 

L
oo

p 

• Flexible design 
to satisfy large 
variety of 
applications 

• Mature, well 
understood 
technology. 

• Large 
Experience base. 

• Provides basic 
traffic 
parameters (e.g., 
volume, 
presence, 
occupancy, 
speed, headway, 
and gap). 

• Insensitive to 
inclement 
weather such as 
rain, fog, and 
snow. 

• Provides best 
accuracy for 
count data as 
compared with 
other commonly 
used techniques. 

• Common 
standard for 
obtaining 
accurate 
occupancy 
measurements 

• High frequency 
excitation 
models provide 
classification 
data 

 

• Installation requires pavement cut. 
• Improper installation decreases 

pavement life 
• Installation and maintenance require 

lane closure. 
• Wire loops subject to stresses of 

traffic and temperature. 
• Multiple loops usually required to 

monitor a location 
• Detection accuracy may decrease 

when design requires detection of a 
large variety of vehicle classes 



31 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Technology Strengths Weaknesses 

V
id

eo
 im

ag
e 

pr
oc

es
so

r 
• Monitors 

multiple lanes 
and multiple 
detection 
zones/lane. 

• Easy to add and 
modify detection 
zones. 

• Rich array of 
data available. 

• Provides wide-
area detection 
when 
information 
gathered at one 
camera location 
can be linked to 
another 

• Installation and maintenance, 
including periodic lens cleaning, 
require lane closure when camera is 
mounted over roadway (lane 
closure may not be required when 
camera is mounted at side of 
roadway) 

• Performance affected by inclement 
weather such as fog, rain, and snow; 
vehicle shadows; vehicle projection 
into adjacent lanes; occlusion; day-
to-night transition; vehicle/road 
contrast; and water, salt grime, 
icicles, and cobwebs on camera 
lens. 

• Reliable nighttime signal actuation 
requires street lighting. 

• Requires 30 to 50 ft camera 
mounting height (in a side-
mounting configuration) for 
optimum presence detection and 
speed measurement. 

• Some models susceptible to camera 
motion caused by strong winds or 
vibration of camera mounting 
structure. 

• Generally cost effective when many 
detection zones within the camera 
field of view or specialized data are 
required. 

(US Department of Transportation, 2006) 

   

 

SECTION 5.5 TRANSIT AND INTERMODAL FACILITIES 

There is a need to design transportation systems that provide more balance between modes, a 
more efficient use of energy in the movement of people, and a more harmonious interaction 
between transportation and the environment.  This can be achieved by requiring that all users 
be considered when planning new transportation infrastructure.  For example, bicycle parking 
should be required along with automobile parking for new development.     

Capitola is serviced by Santa Cruz Metro for regional bus transportation.  Santa Cruz Metro 
makes an effort to be “bicycle friendly” by offering bicycle racks mounted on the front of 
each bus, bicycle lockers at the Metro Center in downtown Santa Cruz, and allowing folding 
bicycles on board the buses.  By combining bicycle and bus, bicyclists are able to travel 
further distances without the use of an automobile. 



32 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

The closest Metro Center to the Santa Cruz Metro Center is located in front of the Capitola 
Mall, the only regional shopping center in Santa Cruz County.  The Capitola Mall stop 
currently offers uncovered bicycle parking, but no bicycle lockers.  The location of the bus 
stop is not easily or safely accessible, as pedestrians and bicyclists must travel through a large 
parking lot with no bicycle or pedestrian facilities to get there.  Future plans for the Capitola 
Mall Area will address the lack of bicycle and pedestrian access to the transit center and the 
mall and require all users be kept in mind in the design of any new development that occurs.    

SECTION 5.6 SAFE ROUTES PLANNING AND RESEARCH 

 

Safe Routes to School 

Safe Routes to School is a state and federal funding program as well as a local education 
program.  Safe Routes to School funding can be used for infrastructure improvement projects 
and bicycle and pedestrian facilities as well as educational programs.  It is important for 
children to be encouraged to ride bicycles and walk to school, and be educated on bicycle and 
pedestrian safety from a young age.  Not only will such encouragement and knowledge result 
in safer cyclists and pedestrians, eventually, those children will become drivers who are more 
conscious of bicyclists and pedestrians.  It is equally important to provide safe and accessible 
routes and secure parking facilities for children travelling to and from school and local activity 
centers.  The programs that have been generated and maintained by Safe Routes to School and 
local funds are listed in Chapter 6.  The City of Capitola supports Safe Routes to School 
programs and projects, and is committed to work with the Soquel Unified School District, 
Ecology Action, the Santa Cruz County Department of Health and Safety, and other 
organizations with programs that meet the goals of Safe Routes to School.  

New Brighton Middle School Active Transport Tracking Program 

New Brighton Middle School is the only school located in the City of Capitola.  Out of 676 
students only about 30 students ride their bicycles to school and the majority arrives by car.  
The entire school participates in Bike to School day and 6th graders also participate in Bike 
Smart workshops.  During such events New Brighton Middle School experiences high levels 
of participation.  Unfortunately, ridership returns to low levels after the events have ended.  In 
order to sustain increased ridership, the City of Capitola will work in cooperation with New 
Brighton Middle School to establish and support an on-going incentive program to encourage 
active transportation. 

Porter St-Bay Ave/Highway 1 underpass study 

Bay Avenue is a four-lane arterial street in Capitola and is a major route for commuter and 
recreational bicyclists alike.  Importantly, Bay Avenue is one of the only routes for school 
children who live in Capitola and attend Soquel Elementary or children who live in Soquel 
and attend New Brighton Middle School.  Currently the intersection of Porter Street/Bay 
Avenue and Highway 1 is not bicycle friendly.  On the northbound side of the street, 
motorized vehicles cut off bicyclists riding in the bicycle lane as they turn right onto the 
Highway 1 on-ramp.  The same problem is true for southbound bicyclists on Porter Street just 
before the Highway 1 underpass.  The intersection is equipped with push buttons which allow 
bicyclists to trigger the demand-actuated traffic signal, however, the push buttons are located 



33 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

on the far end of the sidewalk so a bicyclists must get off of their bike to change the light (see 
Figure 5-1).    

   

Figure 5-1: Push button on Bay Avenue & Highway1 

  

 

 

Bicycle improvements on Capitola Ave/Highway 1 overpass 

Capitola Avenue is a two-lane arterial that overpasses Highway 1.  The overpass is too narrow 
for a Class II bikeway, and currently does not have a Class III bikeway.  The overpass is in the 
project area for the proposed Highway 1 widening, and the development of pedestrian and 
bicycle facilities should be considered as conditions of the project.  A study will be conducted 
to determine the cost and preferred design of such facilities, as well as identify short term 
solutions.   

   

Bicycle improvements on 41st Avenue and Highway 1 overpass and Gross Road 
intersection 

41st Avenue is a major 6-lane arterial street that runs through the major commercial/retail 
portion of the City of Capitola.  The Capitola Mall, a regional shopping center is located on 
41st Avenue as well as two other large shopping centers.  These popular destinations generate 

 



34 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

traffic congestion which in turn leads to unsafe conditions for cyclists.  The intersection at 
Gross Road is difficult for bicyclists to maneuver due to congestion, right-turning traffic and 
low visibility of cyclists and pedestrians.    

Bay Avenue-Capitola Ave Roundabout study 

Bay Avenue and Capitola Avenue are both 4-lane arterials which meet at a four-way stop.  
Due to the size and angles of the streets, it is sometimes difficult for drivers and cyclists to tell 
which vehicle has the right-of-way when crossing the intersection.  One solution to this 
problem that the City of Capitola is considering is to transform the intersection into a 
roundabout.  No engineering studies have been conducted thus far however, when a study is 
conducted special attention will be paid to the safety of bicyclists in the design.      

Future planning efforts (Mall area, Esplanade parking design) 

The City of Capitola General Plan update process will begin in 2010 and incorporate the 
principles of sustainability into all goals, policies and programs therein.  Specific areas may be 
focused on as a part of the update such as the 41st Avenue corridor and the Capitola Village.  
The promotion of sustainable transportation will be a key consideration in the future 
development of these areas and throughout the entire city.   

 

SECTION 5.7 MONTEREY BAY SANCTUARY SCENIC TRAIL 

 

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC) has programmed 
$6.8 million to date to develop the Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail (MBSST) Network. 
The multi-use trail is envisioned to be a recreational, interpretive and transportation facility 
for bicyclists and pedestrians that will span the county’s coastline. Previous projects such as 
the Rail Trail and the Coastal Trail Network have been consolidated into the MBSST Network 
project as they all share the goal of developing new accessible bicycle and pedestrian trail 
facilities on or near the coast. Once the RTC completes purchase of the Santa Cruz Branch rail 
line, the rail right of way will be evaluated through a Master Planning process for the 
possibility of accommodating such a trail adjacent to the active rail line. The 32 mile rail right 
of way spans the length of most of the county, is often very near the coast, and offers a perfect 
gradient for an accessible bicycle and pedestrian facility.  The City of Capitola will coordinate 
with the trail efforts listed above to ensure an effective and efficient bicycle facilities system.  

 



35 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission is currently evaluating options 
for implementing passenger rail service from the City of Santa Cruz to Davenport.  In 
planning for the Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network and potential commuter rail 
service, consideration should be given to provision of the following bicycle facilities:   

• Bicycle parking at rail/transit parking lots/stops 
• Provision for allowing bicycles on trains; and parallel bicycle routes within the right-

of-way 
• Establishment of bicycle paths along railroad right of way 
• Bicycle and pedestrian access from multi-user trail to important destinations within 

the City 

 

 

Figure 5-2 MBSST rendering at Monterey Avenue and Park Avenue



36 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

CHAPTER 6|BICYCLE SAFETY AND EDUCATION PROGRAMS 

The City of Capitola has an abundance of safety and education programs, as well as advocacy 
groups, at its disposal.  Bicyclists need to know the vehicle laws and they also need to develop 
good cycling skills, so that they can coexist safely with motorists.  Motorists need to know 
that cyclists have a legal right to the roadways and they need to learn coexistence strategies, as 
well.  Education programs can provide motorists with valuable information they need and 
bicyclists with on-bicycle training.  The safety benefits of helmets and other protective 
measures also need to be stressed.  The bicycle education and safety programs and resources 
are listed in the following sections of this chapter.  

 

SECTION 6.1 ORGANIZATIONS AND EDUCATION AND SAFETY 
PROGRAMS 

Bicycle education is a critical piece of bicyclist safety.  Programs that teach individuals the 
importance of safety equipment and bicycle maintenance, as well as road etiquette and 
bicyclist rights and responsibilities, save lives every year.  There are several education and 
safety programs available to bicyclists in Capitola.  In addition to educating bicyclists, it is 
also important to reach out to automobile drivers who may not be familiar with the legal rights 
of bicycles on the road.  The California Department of Transportation currently does not 
require bicycle education as a part of the permitting and licensing of automobile drivers, so it 
is up to local organizations and government to inform the public.  The following organizations 
offer bicycle safety training, education and bicycle support to Capitola residents:   

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission - Plans for, funds, and supports 
numerous bicycle projects.  A SCCRTC Transportation Planner serves part-time as a Bicycle 
Coordinator and staff person for the Bicycle Advisory Committee; handles bicycle hazard 
reporting (of potential or existing hazards on roadways or bikeways), applications for Bikes 
Secure, providing bicycle parking at private lots, vanpools and other locations 
(http://www.sccrtc.org/).  The SCCRTC also produces the Santa Cruz County Bikeways Map 
which is distributed free to the public. 

 Commute Solutions - A rideshare program that provides callers with commute information, 
such as carpool and vanpool matching, transit schedules, bicycle commuter brochures, 
bikeway maps, and route suggestions, amongst other resources 
(http://www.commutesolutions.org/). 

Bicycle Advisory Committee – advises the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission (SCCRTC) on bicycle planning and policy related issues.  The Committee 
provides technical review of proposed bicycle projects and funding applications as well as 
theft prevention, bicycle parking programs, education and safety, and other bicycling related 
issues (http://www.sccrtc.org/ros-bike.html). 
 
 
Ecology Action – a non-profit environmental consultancy that offers bicycle education and 
safety programs, technical support, and incentive programs to encourage active transportation.  

http://www.sccrtc.org/�
http://www.commutesolutions.org/�
http://www.sccrtc.org/ros-bike.html�


37 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Ecology Action works closely with local jurisdictions, schools and businesses, and is an active 
presence in the community (http://www.ecoact.org/Programs/Transportation/index.htm). 

Bike to Work/School Program - Offers two County-wide Bike to Work/School Day events per 
year as well as the Spring Bike Week.  These events are fun, inclusive, and educational, and 
encourage, support, and promote more people to bicycle for transportation. 
 
Bike Smart – A Safe Routes to School program run by the Transportation Division of Ecology 
Action, a local non-profit organization.  Bicycle safety training is done in the classroom and 
outside where youth of all ages participate in “Bicycle Rodeo” obstacle courses. 
 
Cabrillo College Go Green (Partnered with Ecology Action) – Offers up to $500 no-interest 
loan to purchase a bicycle for commuting to and from school and/or work.  The College also 
hosts a bicycle co-op and offers bicycle lockers and secure bicycle parking. 
 
 
Community Traffic Safety Coalition - a public safety organization representing over 30 
community and government organizations, funded by a grant from the State Office of Traffic 
Safety. Some of its activities include: "Share the Road" with bicyclist signs, low-cost helmet 
distribution, outreach and education of enforcement agencies, Latino Community outreach, 
night-riding education (http://www.sctrafficsafety.org/). 
 
Ride n’ Stride Bicycle and Pedestrian Safety Program – Teaches elementary school children 
to safely ride their bicycles and walk.  The program covers traffic and safety laws including 
helmet use and proper street crossing. 
 
Bicycle Traffic School – A program aimed to hold bicyclists who receive traffic violations 
responsible for illegal behavior and educate them so the behavior is not repeated.  Bicycle 
traffic safety classes are offered to individuals who receive traffic violation tickets in lieu of 
paying the fine.  
 
 
People Power - a grass-roots advocacy group that monitors and advocates for positive bicycle 
associated issues (http://peoplepowersc.org/). 

 

http://www.ecoact.org/Programs/Transportation/index.htm�
http://www.sctrafficsafety.org/�
http://peoplepowersc.org/�


38 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

CHAPTER 7|FUNDING SOURCES 

There are a variety of funding sources on the Federal, State and local levels available for 
bicycle facilities and programs.  As the opportunity arises the City of Capitola Public Works 
Department will apply for such funding.  A detailed list of current funding options is included 
in Appendix E of this Plan.   Adoption of this Bicycle Plan by the Capitola City Council will 
enable the City of Capitola to apply for Bicycle Transportation Account (BTA) funding 
offered by the State of California. 

 

SECTION 7.1 FEDERAL FUNDING SOURCES 

• Safe Routes to School Program (SRTS) 
• Section 402 – State and Community Highway Safety Program 
• Federal Lands Highway Funds 
• Recreational Trails Program 
• Federal Highway American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) 
• Transportation Enhancement (TEA) 

SECTION 7.2 STATE FUNDING SOURCES 

State funding sources: 

• Bicycle Transportation Account (BTA) 
• Wildlife Conservation Board Public Access Program 
• California Conservation Corps 
• California Safe Routes to School (SR2S) 
• State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) 
• Environmental Enhancement and Mitigation (EEM) 

 

SECTION 7.3 LOCAL FUNDING SOURCES 

Local funding sources: 

• Transportation Development Act (TDA)  
• Vehicle Registration Surcharge Fee (AB 2766) 
• City Sales Tax 

 

 

 



39 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

WORKS CITED 

(2008). Bicyclist Injuries and Fatalities for Santa Cruz County. Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission. 

Bike PGH! (2007, June 12). The Paint is to the Pavement on Liberty Ave. Retrieved July 27, 
2010, from Bike PGH: http://bike-pgh.org/blog/2007/06/12/the-paint-is-to-the-pavement-on-
liberty-ave/ 

Caltrans. (2009). Highway Design Manual Chapter 1000: Bikeway Planning and Design. 
California Department of Transportation. 

Census, U. (2000). Summary File 3, QT-P23: Journey to Work. US Census. 

Collaborative, A. E. (2009). City of Capitola Local Government Operations Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions Inventory: 2005 Baseline Report. AMBAG. 

Flusche, D. (2009). The Economic Benefits of Bicycle Infrastructure Investments . League of 
American Bicyclists. 

Gotschi, T. (2008). Active Transportation for America: The case for increased Federal 
investment in bicycling and walking. Rails-to-Trails Conservancy. 

(2006). Highway Design Manual. California Department of Transportation. 

League of American Bicyclists. (n.d.). Bicycle Friendly Community. Retrieved July 2010, 
from League of American Bicyclists: 
http://www.bikeleague.org/programs/bicyclefriendlyamerica/communities/ 

League of American Bicyclists. (2000-2010). Tips for Commuters. Retrieved July 6, 2010, 
from League of American Bicyclists: 
http://www.bikeleague.org/resources/better/commuters.php 

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission. (2009). Bikeway Miles.  

U.S. Census. (2000). Means of Transportation to Work for Workers 16 and Older (P30) 
Summary File 3.  

UC Davis Department of Mechanical and Aeronautical Engineering. (2007). Overhead Traffic 
Detector Mounting System Final Technical Report.  

US Department of Transportation. (2006). Traffic Detector Handbook: Third Edition. Vol 1.  

Wilson, S. (1973). Bicycle Technology. Scientific American . 

www.cycle2city.com.au. (n.d.). Retrieved July 27, 2010, from www.cycle2city.com.au 

 

 



A-1 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A-1 | LAND USE MAP 

 

 



A-2 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

APPENDIX A-2 | BICYCLE FACILITIES MAP 



B-1 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

APPENDIX B | PAST EXPENDITURES AND FUTURE COSTS 

 

 

Completed 2005 Bicycle Plan Projects 

Project Cost 

Install bicycle lane/ sharrows use on Wharf Rd, from Clares St  
to Grace St. 

$2,000 

Monterey Ave sharrows, Park to Capitola Avenue   
Southbound 

$1,000 

Install sharrows, on Capitola Ave from Stockton Ave $5,000 

Install bicycle lanes on Monterey Ave  southbound  bicycle $3,000 

Restripe Class II bikeways; reposition and re-stencil sharrows 
on 41st Ave, Clares St, Brommer St, Monterey Ave and Bay 
Ave; Stripe left hand turn pocket on Bay Ave at Center Ave 

$9,300 

Stencil Sharrows on Clares Ave by Brown Ranch Shopping 
Center 

$1,700 

Total Cost of 2005 BTP Projects $22,000 

Total Projected Cost of 2011 BTP Projects $509,000 



C-1 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

APPENDIX C | BICYCLE TRANSPORTATION PLAN CHECKLIST 

 

Requirement Location 
(a) The estimated number of existing bicycle commuters in the plan area and 
the estimated increase in the number of bicycle commuters resulting from 
implementation of the plan. 

Chapter 4 | Table 4-1 | pg 21 

(b) A map and description of existing and proposed land use and settlement 
patterns which shall include, but not be limited to, locations of residential 
neighborhoods, schools, shopping centers, public buildings, and major 
employment centers. 

Appendix A-1 | pgs 18-20 

(c) A map and description of existing and proposed bikeways. Appendix A-2 | pgs 14-17, 25-35 

(d) A map and description of existing and proposed end-of-trip bicycle 
parking facilities. These shall include, but not be limited to, parking at 
schools, shopping centers, public buildings, and major employment centers. 

Appendix A-2 | pgs27-28 

(e) A map and description of existing and proposed bicycle transport and 
parking facilities for connections with and use of other transportation modes. 
These shall include, but not be limited to, parking facilities at transit stops, 
rail and transit terminals, ferry docks and landings, park and ride lots, and 
provisions for transporting bicyclists and bicycles on transit or rail vehicles 
or ferry vessels. 

Appendix A-2 | pg 31 

(f) A map and description of existing and proposed facilities for changing 
and storing clothes and equipment. These shall include, but not be limited to, 
locker, restroom, and shower facilities near bicycle parking facilities. 

Appendix A-2 | pg 28 

(g) A description of bicycle safety and education programs conducted in the 
area included within the plan, efforts by the law enforcement agency having 
primary traffic law enforcement responsibility in the area to enforce 
provisions of the Vehicle Code pertaining to bicycle operation, and the 
resulting effect on accidents involving bicyclists. 

Chapter 6 | pg 26-27 

(h) A description of the extent of citizen and community involvement in 
development of the plan, including, but not limited to, letters of support. Chapter 1 | pg 5 

(i) A description of how the bicycle transportation plan has been coordinated 
and is consistent 
with other local or regional transportation, air quality, or energy 
conservation plans, including, but not limited to, programs that provide 
incentives for bicycle commuting. 

Chapter 2 | pg 7-8 

(j) A description of the projects proposed in the plan and a listing of their 
priorities for implementation. Appendix D 

(k) A description of past expenditures for bicycle facilities and future 
financial needs for projects that improve safety and convenience for bicycle 
commuters in the plan area. 

Appendix B 



D-1 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

APPENDIX D | 2011 PROPOSED PROJECTS LIST 
Project Priority Existing Conditions Goal(s) Achieved Projected 

Cost 
Potential Funding 

1) Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail Network 
 
 

H Existing Railroad Right-of-way; 
Existing Coastal Route  
 

Goal 1 - 
Circulation, 
Connectivity and 
Access 
Goal 2 - Increase 
Ridership 

N/A RTC/BTA/Local/ 
STIP/TEA/Coastal 

Conservancy/Federal 
appropriations 

2) Install inductive loop sensors or video sensor 
at signalized intersections to detect bicycles  

H Existing model of wire loop actuated 
signals work for cars but not 
bicycles  
 

Goal 2 - Increase 
Ridership 

$380,000 BTA/Local 

3) Install bicycle sensors in several locations 
around the City to collect ridership data or 
develop and implement a bicycle count program 

H Limited Capitola-specific bicycle 
ridership data 

Goal 1 - 
Circulation, 
Connectivity and 
Access 
 

 BTA/Local 

4) Safe Routes to School planning; work with 
New Brighton Middle School to establish a year-
round bike to school incentive and tracking 
program  
 
 

H Limited safe routes to New Brighton 
Middle School  

Goal 1 – 
Circulation, 
Connectivity and 
Access 
Goal 2 – Increase 
Ridership 
Goal 3 - Safety 

$40,000 SR2S (State) 

5) Conduct a feasibility study for the extension 
of the Class I bikeway from Soquel Elementary 
to Perry Park 

H Limited safe routes to Soquel 
Elementary and New Brighton 
Middle School.  Only 0.17 miles of 
Class I bikeway in the City of 
Capitola 

Goal 1 - 
Circulation, 
Connectivity and 
Access 
Goal 2 - Increase 
Ridership 

$15,000 to 
$20,000 

SR2S, Local 

6) Porter-Bay underpass study  
 

H Current bicycle infrastructure makes 
bicyclists vulnerable to right-hook 
turns; route used by students  

Goal 3 - Safety $15,000 to 
$20,000 

Local 



D-2 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Project Priority Existing Conditions Goal(s) Achieved Projected 
Cost 

Potential Funding 

7) Conduct a study to further improve the 
bicycle route on Clares St around Brown Ranch 
Shopping Center 

H Lacking bicycle infrastructure, 
narrow right of way; Sharrows 
stenciled in 2010   
 

Goal 1 - 
Circulation, 
Connectivity and 
Access 
 

$15,000 to 
$20,000; 

$1700 

BTA/Local 
 

8) Eliminate root intrusion on Park Avenue; 
resurface, repave and restripe 

H Tree roots raise pavement creating 
a hazard for cyclists  

Goal 5 - 
Maintenance 

$3,000 to 
$4,000 

BTA/Local 
 

9) Add bicycle racks along the Esplanade and 
near the stage; create bicycle corrals for short 
term and long-term bicycle parking; consider 
space for a loading zone for bicycle-based 
businesses  

H Lack of secure bicycle parking  
 

Goal 2 - Increase 
Ridership 

$5,000 - 
$10,000 

 

BTA/Local 

10) Install racks at Jade Street Park H Lack of secure bicycle parking Goal 2 – Increase 
Ridership 

$500/rack BTA/Local 

11) Install bike lockers at the Capitola Mall 
Transit Station 

H Lack of secure bicycle parking 
 

Goal 4 - Multi-
modal  

$3,000 BTA/Local 

12) Participate in the County-wide Bicycle Route 
Signage Program 

H Lack of way-finding signage on 
popular bicycle routes  

Goal 1 - 
Circulation, 
Connectivity and 
Access 
 

$200/sign RTC/Local 

13) Update Bicycle Parking ordinance; create a 
bicycle facilities ordinance  

H Existing development standards for 
bicycle parking are out of date  

Goal 1 - 
Circulation, 
Connectivity and 
Access 
Goal 2 - Increase 
Ridership 

 Local 

14) Bicycle improvements on Capitola Ave/HWY 
1 overpass; short-term solutions and 
consideration in future plans  

H Lacking bicycle infrastructure, 
unsafe conditions for bicyclists 

 

Goal 3 - Safety  Local/BTA/Caltrans 



D-3 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Project Priority Existing Conditions Goal(s) Achieved Projected 
Cost 

Potential Funding 

15) Conduct study to make bicycle 
infrastructure improvements on 41st Ave and 
HWY 1 Overpass and Gross Rd intersection 

H Unsafe route and intersection for 
bicyclists 

Goal 3 - Safety  Local/BTA/Caltrans 

16) Bicycle design and safety component of Bay 
Ave-Capitola Ave Roundabout study  
 

H Busy 4-way stop intersection  Goal 1 - 
Circulation, 
Connectivity and 
Access 
Goal 3 - Safety 

$5,000 BTA/Local 

17) Install warning signs where bicycle bridge 
path exits on to Wharf Rd.  Install signage to 
distinguish between the two bridge paths.  

M Lack of signage notifying autos that 
bicycles are exiting onto roadway  
 

Goal 3 - Safety $200/sign? Local 

18) Include plans to develop a bicycle 
commuter facilities at the Capitola Mall Transit 
Station in the General Plan Update/future area 
plans 

M Insufficient commuter facilities for 
Capitola Mall employees and transit 
riders 

Goal 4 - Multi-
modal  

 Local 

19) Create plans to improve parking design 
along the Esplanade  

M Existing parking results in low 
visibility for drivers which is 
hazardous for bicyclists and 
pedestrians  

Goal 3 - Safety $15,000 - 
$20,000 

Local 

20) Work with senior centers to create a 
program that promotes senior bicycle ridership  

M Seniors have limited transportation 
options, and many are afraid to ride 
bicycles even if they are physically 
able  

 

Goal 2 - Increase 
Ridership 

 Local 

21) Work with Capitola Chamber of Commerce 
and hotels to create a bicycle rental program  

L Limited transportation options for 
tourists  
 

Goal 2 - Increase 
Ridership 

 Local 



E-1 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

APPENDIX E| FUNDING MATRIX 

 

Grant Source 

 

Due Date 

 

Administering 
Agency 

 

Annual Total 

 

% Match 
Required 

 

Eligible 

Applicants 

 

Comments 

 

FEDERAL SOURCES 

Congestion 
Mitigation and Air 
Quality 
Improvement 
(CMAQ 

 SCTA/MTC 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 Funds may be used for bicycle facilities and programs. 

Website:www.mtc.ca.gov/funding/STPCMAQ 

Transportation, 
Community and 
System 
Preservation 
Program (TCSP) 

 FHWA    Focuses on improving the efficiency and accessibility 
of the transportation system through planning and 
implementation. 

(www.fhwa.dot.gov/tcsp/pi_tcsp.htm) 

Highway Safety 
Improvement 
Program 

 Caltrans  10%  The HSIP provides funding for bicycle safety 
improvement projects. 
(www.dot.ca.gov/hq/localprograms/hsip.htm) 



E-2 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

Grant Source 

 

Due Date 

 

Administering 
Agency 

 

Annual Total 

 

% Match 
Required 

 

Eligible 

Applicants 

 

Comments 

Safe, 
Accountable, 
Flexible, Efficient 
Transportation 
Equity Act: A 
Legacy for Users 
(SAFETY-LU)  

  

RTPA & Caltrans 

 

varies 

 

11.47% 

Federally certified 
Jurisdictions 

SAFETY-LU is the major federal funding source for 
surface transportation funding.  The majority of funds 
are meant for capital improvement projects, however, 
10% of funds may be used for safety and education 
programs.   

Surface 
Transportation 
Program (STP) 

varies RTPA/MPO/ 

Caltrans/FHWA 

Approx. $200 
million to 
state 

11%-20% 
non federal 

Federally Certified 
jurisdictions 

Contact RTPA. Funds can be used for a wide variety 
of projects.  STP is exchanged every year. After 
exchange, money belongs to RTPA's. 
(www.mtc.ca.gov/funding/STPCMAQ) 



E-3 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

Grant Source 

 

Due Date 

 

Administering 
Agency 

 

Annual Total 

 

% Match 
Required 

 

Eligible 

Applicants 

 

Comments 

Transportation 
Enhancements 
(TE) 

 FHWA   Municipality, 
County, State 
agency, 
University, 
Federal 
government, or 
Non-profit. Only 
state and federal 
agencies can 
apply for ITIP TE. 

Surface transportation related bicycle infrastructure 
projects and education programs are eligible for 
funding. 

 

Section 402 – 
State and 
Community 
Highway Safety 
Grant Program 

 DOT Traffic and 
Safety 

   Funding may be used for bicycle safety and education 
programs, educational materials and/or safety 
equipment (helmets). 

 

STATE SOURCES 



E-4 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

Grant Source 

 

Due Date 

 

Administering 
Agency 

 

Annual Total 

 

% Match 
Required 

 

Eligible 

Applicants 

 

Comments 

 

State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) Related Programs. The statewide four-year Capital Improvement Program adopted biennially by the 
California Transportation Commission, which included all major transportation projects funded by state or federal funds.  These projects are submitted by 

the local jurisdictions through the RTPA’s RTIP/STIP budget process. 

 

Regional Share 

(Major Projects 
$300,000 and up.) 

 

July 1 odd 
years to 
RTPA 

 

CTC, RTPA 

 

varies 

 

11.47% for 
transit only 

 

RTPAs 

 

Emphasis is on reducing traffic congestion & 
increasing capacity. RTPA determines projects for the 

region within CTC guidelines. Must be adopted into 
RTIP by Dec. 1 of odd # years. 

(Except 12/98) 

Bicycle 
Transportation   
Account (BTA) 

December 
1 to 

Caltrans 
District 5 

Caltrans $7 million/yr n/a Cities, County Contact Caltrans.  State account designated to fund 
bicycle facilities. Local jurisdications must have a 
Bicycle Plan approved by RTPA & State.  Project 

requests must not exceed $170,000. 

State Highway 
Account (SHA) 

Summer in 
odd # years 

Caltrans, RTPA $360,000 n/a Caltrans District 
Offices 

Contact Caltrans.  Must be associated with State 
Highway and be able to provide for enhanced safety.  

Funds available to districts for bicycle facilities on 
state right of way. 



E-5 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

Grant Source 

 

Due Date 

 

Administering 
Agency 

 

Annual Total 

 

% Match 
Required 

 

Eligible 

Applicants 

 

Comments 

Minor A/B 
programs 

Ongoing,  
Approve by 
April, odd 

years 

Caltrans n/a Approx.$4 
mil/yr to Dist. 

5 

Local Jurisdictions 
& special districts 

Contact Caltrans.  For projects ($107,000-$750,000) 
Minor A program; Minor B for projects up to $107,000. 

Habitat 
Conservation 
Fund Grant 

Program 

 California State 
Parks & 

Recreation 

 

varies 50% non-
state match 

Local Jurisdictions 
& special districts 

Contact CA Parks & Rec.  Projects that attract people 
to park and wildlife areas. Fund will last until 2020. 
Must comply w/ CEQA, NEPA, & must demonstrate 

land ownership. 

Environmental 
Enhancement and  
Mitigation 
Program (EEM) 

 State Resources 
Agency 

$10mil/yr 0%, but 
favored 

Nonprofit 
agencies, local, 
state, and federal 
agencies. 

Contact State Resources.  Projects that enhance or 
mitigate existing or future transportation projects. Will 
be available until year 2000. $500 K is the maximum 
allocation for a project.   Must be above and beyond 
what CEQA requires for traffic-generating project. The 
Resources agency makes final recommendations to 
Caltrans. 

Safe Routes to 
School 

 Caltrans $22 million/yr 10%, $450k 
max 

Local Jurisdiction Contact Caltrans 



E-6 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

Grant Source 

 

Due Date 

 

Administering 
Agency 

 

Annual Total 

 

% Match 
Required 

 

Eligible 

Applicants 

 

Comments 

Land and Water 
Conservation 
Fund 

 California State 
Parks & 
Recreation 

varies 50% non 
state 

n/a Contact Parks & Rec.  States must adopt a State 
Comprehensive Outdoor Rec Plan. For recreational 
parks facilities. 

Recreational 
Trails Program 
(RTP) 

 California State 
Parks 

   Supports the development and maintenance of 
recreational trails. 

(www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/rectrails/index.htm) 

Coastal 
Conservancey 

 California State 
Coastal 
Conservancy 

   Encourages projects that will increase or improve 
public access to the coast, rivers and creeks.  It also 
supplies funding for resource conservation projects. 
(scc.ca.gov/category/grants/ 

 

LOCAL SOURCES 

Transportation 
Development Act 
(TDA), Article 3 

ongoing RTPA varies 0% Cities, County In Santa Cruz County, the funds are allocated 
annually according to formula. Local Jurisdiction 
proposes projects to the Bicycle Committee and the 
Regional Transportation Commission for final 
approval. Article 8 funds are used in Santa Cruz 
primarily for bicycle and pedestrian projects. 



E-7 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

Grant Source 

 

Due Date 

 

Administering 
Agency 

 

Annual Total 

 

% Match 
Required 

 

Eligible 

Applicants 

 

Comments 

Vehicle 
Registration 
Surcharge Fee 
(AB 2766) 

April MBUAPCD Est. over $1 
million/yr 
district wide 

0%, but 
preferred 

Private and Public 
agencies 

Contact MBUAPCD.  For projects that contribute to 
the reduction of motor vehicle air pollution emissions 
in the MBUAPCD District (3 counties are included: 
Santa Cruz, San Benito, and Monterey) 

 

TRANSPORTATION ACRONYMS 

for Grants Funding Information Matrix   

 

AMBAG 

 

Association of Monterey Bay  

Area  Governments 

 

A voluntary association of Santa Cruz, and Monterey Counties and the incorporated cities 
in the two counties.  Serves as the federal MPO for transportation planning purposes.  San 
Benito County is included in this Association with respect to transportation planning.  
Handles interregional issues including transportation planning, water quality, air quality 
conformity analyses and demographic forecasts. 

 

CEQA 

 

California Environmental Quality Act 

 

Legislation which requires state and local agencies to disclose, consider and mitigate any 
environmental impacts associated with their projects or actions. 



E-8 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

CTC  

 

California Transportation Commission 

 

A nine member board appointed by the Governor (with the Legislature’s confirmation) to 
oversee transportation funding and project delivery.  This board is responsible for review of 
the Regional Transportation Improvement Programs.  This board approves the State 
Transportation Improvement Program which allocates state and federal funding. 

 

DO 

 

District Office 

 

Shorthand for California Department of Transportation District Offices.  The DO for the 
Central Coast is Caltrans District 5 located in San Luis Obispo. 

 

FHWA 

 

Federal Highway Administration 

 

A branch of the US Department of Transportation.  This federal agency has responsibility 
for review and approval of transportation projects and programs which impact the 
designated federal interstate system.  Also oversees federal transportation planning 
agencies and MPO requirements.  

 

FTA 

 

Federal Transit Administration 

 

A branch of the US Department of Transportation.  This federal agency has responsibility 
for review and approval of transportation projects and programs which impact transit 
systems. 

 

MBUAPCD 

 

Monterey Bay Unified Air Pollution 
Control District 

 

This regional agency holds jurisdiction over the implementation and enforcement of state 
and federal air quality regulations and guidelines in the three county area which includes 
Santa Cruz, Monterey and San Benito counties. 



E-9 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

MPO 

 

Metropolitan Planning Organization 

 

This agency is designated by the Governor to administer the federally mandated 
transportation planning processes in metropolitan areas (over 50,000 population).  
AMBAG is the MPO for our region. 

 

RTIP 

 

Regional Transportation Improvement 
Program 

 

A state mandated capital improvement program for regional transportation projects which 
will use federal and / or state funding sources.  The Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission (SCCRTC) adopts the Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Improvement Program (RTIP) which is then forwarded to the CTC for 
inclusion in the final STIP.  A key component of the RTIP is the selection of projects for 
state “regional share” funds. 

 

RTPA 

 

Regional Transportation  

Planning Agency 

 

Local agencies designated by the State legislature to conduct state mandated regional 
transportation planning and programming activities.  In Santa Cruz County, Santa Cruz 
County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC) is the Regional Transportation 
Planning Agency.  The corresponding agency in Monterey County is the Transportation 
Agency for Monterey County (TAMC). RTPAs often coordinate the distribution of several 
different state and federal funds such as STP/CMAQ, TEA, TDA & STA. 

 

SAFE 

 

Service Authority for Freeway 
Emergencies 

 

An authority enabled by state law and established by local jurisdictions to collect a $1 fee 
for the purpose of developing and maintaining a highway motorist aid system with the 
cellular callboy as its main component. 



E-10 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

SCCRTC 

 

Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission 

 

SCCRTC is the designated Regional Transportation Planning Agency (RTPA) for Santa 
Cruz County.  It has primary responsibility for development of regional transportation 
policy and plans and programming of funds within the Santa Cruz County area.  SCCRTC 
is also the congestion management agency, the regional ride share agency (Commute 
Solutions), and the Service Authority for Freeway Emergencies (SAFE) for Santa Cruz 
County. 

 

TAMC 

 

Transportation Agency for Monterey 
County 

 

TAMC is the designated Regional Transportation Planning Agency (RTPA) for Monterey 
County.  It has primary responsibility for development of regional transportation policy and 
plans and for programming of funds within the Monterey County area. 

 

TDA 

 

Transportation Development Act 

 

A 1971 state law which provides for the collection of a ¼¢ sales tax dedicated for local 
transportation projects.  Revenues are allocated on an annual basis by the Santa Cruz 
County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC). 

 

 

 

 



F-1 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

APPENDIX F | GUIDELINES FOR CONSTRUCTION AREAS 

  
COMMUNITY TRAFFIC SAFETY COALITION 

Recommended Guidelines to Protect the Safety of Bicyclists, Pedestrians, and 
Disabled Travelers during Road Construction 

 

As stated in the California MUTCD (2003 Edition with Revisions Number 1 and 2 
Incorporated, December 2007), “The needs and control of all road users 
(motorists, bicyclists, and pedestrians within the highway, including persons 
with disabilities in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
(ADA) Title II, Paragraph 35.130) through a TTC zone shall be an essential part 
of highway construction, utility work, maintenance operations, and the 
management of traffic incidents.”  

THE PROBLEM 

There are three general situations which impact bicyclists, pedestrians, and disabled 
travelers:   

1. Work in the bikeway*

2. Work which is not in the bikeway or walkway but which puts equipment, 
debris, or warning signs in the bikeway or walkway. 

 or walkway which forces bicyclists or pedestrians to 
compete with motor vehicles in a narrow car lane. 

3. Work which blocks the direction of travel without a clear, safe, and convenient 
detour for cyclists, pedestrians, or wheelchair travelers. 

In addition, please be aware of these specific hazards for bicyclists, pedestrians, and 
disabled travelers. 

                                                             

* For the purposes of these guidelines, “bikeway” will be used to refer to where bicyclists 
usually travel on a given road, including painted bike lanes, paved shoulders, the right side of  
a wide travel lane, or the center of a narrow travel lane if there is no bike lane or shoulder.  
“Walkway” will be used to refer to sidewalks, shoulders, and paths where pedestrians and 
wheelchairs travel. 

 



F-2 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 

Hazards to Bicyclists 

• Signs, equipment, or debris in the bikeway.  
• Bikeway blocked without advance warning. 
• Rough pavement or gravel without advance warning. 
• Poor pavement transitions, especially when parallel to the line of travel (eg: 

metal plate edges or pavement removal/resurface areas which are not tapered). 
• Inadequate time to pass through a signalized one-lane, two-way traffic control. 

 

Hazards to Pedestrians 

• Blocked or hazardous walkway which is not marked in a way that is visible in 
advance, especially at night.  

• Alternate route or detour which is not negotiable by wheelchairs, strollers, carts, 
etc. 

 

Special Hazards to Visually Impaired Pedestrians 

• Blocked or hazardous walkway without a barrier which is solid enough to be 
discernible by guide dog or cane.  

 

Special Hazards to Wheelchair Travelers 

• Signs, equipment, or debris partially blocking the walkway. 
• Sidewalk blocked with no curb cut or ramp to exit sidewalk, or advance warning 

to exit at a prior curb cut.  
• Rough pavement, grooves, or gravel without advance warning.  Rocks of 3” 

diameter or greater are especially hazardous because they may cause the 
wheelchair to stop abruptly and eject the occupant 

 
THE SOLUTION 

The California MUTCD (Section 5-01-2) includes these “fundamental principles” for 
bicyclists and pedestrians in construction and maintenance work zones: 

1. Bicycle and pedestrian “movement should be disrupted as little as practicable”. 
2. “Pedestrians and bicyclists should be provided with access and passage 

through, or around, the temporary traffic control zone at all times.” 
3. Bicyclists and pedestrians “should be guided in a clear and positive manner 

while approaching and space traversing the temporary traffic control zone.” 

In addition, please consider the following specific safety and access measures. 



F-3 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

Detours 

• When construction blocks the bikeway, accommodations should be made for 
bicyclists if they are made for motor vehicles, including safe and well marked 
detours for cyclists when needed.  In some situations when motor vehicles are 
detoured, a safe corridor can be left open for bicyclists.   If not possible, post 
“End Bike Lane” and “Share the Road” (or “Merge Left”) caution signs to 
encourage cyclists to merge into the through lane.  Rather than directing 
bicyclists to walk their bikes in pedestrian zones, try to provide a rideable 
alternative.   

• If construction or signs must block the walkway, establish safe, well-signed 
detours for pedestrians which are accessible for wheelchairs, strollers, carts, etc.   

• When one-lane, two-way traffic control is done by temporary traffic signals, 
timing should accommodate bicyclists, who will be slower than motor vehicles 
especially in the uphill direction.  Consider push button signals for bicyclists or 
special bicycle loops, if practical. 

• Barriers should include a portion low enough and solid enough to be easily 
discernible by a cane, guide dog, or child.  If necessary, use flaggers to guide 
pedestrians.  

Signs 
• Whenever possible, construction warning signs should be placed out of the 

bikeway and walkway, so that the sign itself is not a barrier for bicyclists for 
wheelchair travelers.  Remove construction signs promptly when construction 
pauses or ends. 

• Any construction or sign which blocks the bikeway should have sufficient sight 
distance, including night-time visibility, to allow cyclists time to merge safely 
into the car lane.  Use “End Bike Lane” and “Share the Road” signs.   

• Any construction or sign which blocks the walkway should have prior warning to 
allow wheelchairs time to exit the walkway at a prior curb cut. 

• For all construction where the bikeway or walkway is blocked or the lane 
narrows, post “Share the Road” caution signs to warn motorists to slow down 
and watch for bicyclists and pedestrians. 

Pavement Surface 
• Temporary pavement or metals plates installed during construction should have 

cold mix asphalt tapered at the edges for bicyclist, pedestrian and wheelchair 
safety.  When locating metal plates, avoid placing edges in the middle of the 
bikeway.  Debris in the bikeway or walkway should be cleared at the end of each 
workday. 

• If no smooth surface is available for bicyclists, pedestrians, or wheelchairs, post 
signs warning “Rough Surface” or “Uneven Pavement” at the beginning of the 
work area.  Keep signs posted at the end of the workday.  Use reflective signage 
on barricades with flashers for night safety. 

• Prior to “sign off” on projects, verify that the pavement in the bikeway and 
walkway is even.  Overlay should be smoothed at drainage grates, manholes, and 
gutter pan, and after narrow trenching in the bikeway.



 DRAFT Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan 

 

 



          Item #: 5.A. 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
    MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 

 
FROM:  DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

 
DATE:  FEBRUARY 1, 2011 
 
SUBJECT: CITY OF CAPITOLA BICYCLE TRANSPORTATION PLAN AND BICYCLE 

TRANSPORTATION ACCOUNT GRANT 
 
 
Recommended Action:  By motion and roll call vote, that the City Council adopt the proposed 

Resolution Adopting the Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan, Approving the Notice of 
Exemption, and Authorizing and Directing the City Manager to Submit the Plan to the State 
Department of Transportation for Certification.  

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
BACKGROUND   
 
One objective of the City of Capitola General Plan is to promote bicycling as a viable mode of 
transportation within the City-wide transportation system.  In order to achieve this objective, the 
City adopted a Bicycle Transportation Plan which implements the objectives and policies of the 
General Plan.  The Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan identifies issues with existing 
infrastructure, analyzes the community’s bicycle safety and commuter needs, and proposes 
infrastructure projects and programs to meet those needs.  The current Capitola Bicycle 
Transportation Plan was adopted in 2005 and has reached the end of its five-year planning cycle.  
By updating the Bicycle Transportation Plan, the City of Capitola will be eligible to receive State 
funding to assist with capital improvements over the next five years.  

 

PROCESS 

In order to be eligible to receive funds from the Caltrans Bicycle Transportation Account (BTA), the 
2011 Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan, as well as the BTA grant application must be received 
by Caltrans no later than March 18, 2011. 

The process chart on the following page outlines the Bicycle Transportation Plan update process.  
There have been several opportunities for members of the community to comment on the Capitola 
Bicycle Transportation Plan: 

 Planning Commission:  August 5, 2010  
 SCCRTC meeting: October 2010 
 City Council: February 10, 2011.   

The comments and recommendations received from members of the public, Planning 
Commissioners and SCCRTC Bike Committee members and staff was incorporated into the 
chapters of the draft Bicycle Transportation Plan. 

 

  



AGENDA REPORT:  2-10-11  Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan Adoption  2 
   

  

2011 Bicycle Transportation Plan Update Process 

 

 

 

DISCUSSION 

The Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan (BTP) sets goals and objectives in order to increase the 
safety and convenience of bicycling in the City.  The BTP must be consistent with State Highway 
Code §891.2 as well as the City General Plan, Regional Transportation Plan and other relevant 
planning documents.  For the specific elements required in the plan, see the Bicycle 
Transportation Plan Checklist in Appendix C of the attached draft 2010 Capitola Bicycle 
Transportation Plan (Attachment 2).  

In addition to analyzing local need and existing infrastructure, the BTP must include a list of 
proposed projects.  The list gives a description of the proposed project, the existing conditions, and 
the plan goals achieved by the project.  It also identifies the projected cost and potential funding 
sources for each project. 

Overview of the Bicycle Transportation Plan: 

The draft Bicycle Transportation Plan contains seven chapters: 

Chapter 1. Introduction: The introduction provides a brief history of bicycling, discusses the 
benefits of bicycle transportation and outlines the organization of the plan and the 
planning process. 

 
Chapter 2. Goals and Objectives: This chapter establishes that the Capitola BTP is consistent 

with local and regional planning documents and lists the goals and objectives of the 
plan. 

 
Chapter 3. Existing Conditions: In order to improve the bikeway system in Capitola, the existing 

conditions of bicycle infrastructure in the city must be analyzed.  This chapter 
identifies the location of existing bikeways and the condition of those bikeways.  It 
also identifies current land use which ultimately affects transportation patterns.   
 

Chapter 4. Needs Analysis: Chapter 4 analyzes local bicycle commuter patterns, bicycle 
collisions and traffic accidents, and trip generators and attractors to establish the 
safety and commute needs of bicyclists in Capitola.  

 
Chapter 5. Bicycle Plan Projects: This Chapter contains an overview of the projects identified in 

the 2005 BTP which have since been completed and a list of proposed projects.   

SCCRTC Bicycle 
Committee Meeting 

(Oct 2010) 
Ensure consistency with 
the Regional 
Transportation Plan & 
State Highway Code 
section 891.2

City Council Hearing 
(Feb 10,2011) 

 Adopt BTP by Resolution.  
 Certify the environmental 

determination.   
 Approve 10% match of 

BTA projects 

Receive Letter of 
Certification from RTC  

(Feb/Mar 2011) 

Planning Commission 
Hearing 

(Aug 5, 2010) 
Receive community 
input on Draft Bicycle 
Transportation Plan 
(BTC). 

Capitola BTP and BTA 
application due 
(Mar 18, 2011) 



AGENDA REPORT:  2-10-11  Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan Adoption  3 
   

  

 
Chapter 6. Bicycle Safety and Education Programs: In accordance with State Highway Code 

Section 891.2, this chapter describes the local bicycle safety and education programs 
available to members of the community as well as public and private entities that 
support such efforts. 

 
Chapter 7. Funding Sources: This chapter identifies local, regional and State funding sources.  

It also reviews the cost of past bicycle projects and projected funding needs for future 
projects.  

CEQA  

Section 15301 (c) consists of the operation, repair, maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or 
minor alteration of existing public or private structures, facilities, mechanical equipment, or 
topographical features, involving negligible or no expansion of use beyond that existing at the time 
of the lead agency's determination.  Streets, sidewalks and bicycle and pedestrian trails are listed 
as “existing facilities” under the exemption.    
 
Section 15304 (h) provides that a project is exempt from CEQA if the project consists of minor 
public or private alterations in the condition of land, water and/or vegetation which do not involve 
removal of healthy, mature, scenic trees except for forestry or agricultural purposes.  The creation 
of bicycle lanes on existing rights-of-way is listed as an acceptable project under the exemption. 
 
A Notice of Exemption (Attachment 1) has been prepared for the Council’s consideration. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

The Capitola Bicycle Plan lists projects that will be funded locally, or with assistance from the 
State.  Projects that consist of maintenance, repair and creation of bicycle lanes on existing public 
right-of-way will be financed by the City Gas Tax Fund. 

The State provides funding for bicycle projects through the Bicycle Transportation Account (BTA).  
Once certified, the projects described in the Bicycle Transportation Plan will be eligible to receive 
funding from the Caltrans Bicycle Transportation Account (BTA).  In addition to adopting the 
Bicycle Transportation Plan by resolution, the City is required to match 10% of BTA funds.   

For the 2011-2012 fiscal year, it is recommended that $14,750 be allocated as a 10% match of 
BTA funds for Video Bicycle Sensor Systems and Village Bicycle Parking (Projects 2 and 9 in 
Appendix D, Capitola Bicycle Transportation Plan).   

 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Draft Resolution (includes Notice of Exemption) 
2. Draft Bicycle Transportation Plan dated February 2011 

 
Report Prepared By:  Derek Johnson     Reviewed and Forwarded 
    Community Development Director  By City Manager: _____  
  
 
 
 
 
R:\Agenda Staff Reports\2011 Agenda Reports\02-10-11\Bicycle Transportation Plan.docx      
     



 

 

           Item #: 5.B. 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF FEBRUARY 10, 2011 

 
FROM:  POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 
DATE:  FEBRUARY 2, 2011 
 
SUBJECT: REQUEST FROM THE CAPITOLA PUBLIC SAFETY AND COMMUNITY SERVICE 

FOUNDATION FOR APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT FOR THE 6th 
ANNUAL CAPITOLA ROD AND CUSTOM CLASSIC CAR SHOW IN CAPITOLA 
VILLAGE ON SATURDAY & SUNDAY, JUNE 11 AND 12, 2011, AND APPROVAL OF 
A GRANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,406 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommended Action:  By motion and roll call vote: 
 1) Approve the Special Event Permit for the 6th Annual Capitola Rod and Custom Classic 

Car Show to be held in Capitola Village on Saturday and Sunday, June 11 and 12, 2011; 
including approval of an Encroachment Permit, an Entertainment Permit, and authorization to 
serve beer and wine to select guests and sponsors (VIP’s) on the city property located in 
Esplanade Park behind the Bandstand during the event, and to sell beer in the parking lot of 
109 San Jose Avenue, and to Hang Banners prior to the event; and  

 2) Approve a grant in the amount of $1,406.00 for permit fees. 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Capitola Public Safety and Community Service Foundation, in cooperation with the Capitola  
Soquel Chamber of Commerce, wishes to host the 6th Annual Capitola Rod and Custom Classic Car 
Show in Capitola Village on June 11 and 12, 2011.  The show helps raise funds for the Foundation, 
which is a non-profit corporation dedicated to promoting public safety and community outreach within 
Capitola.  The Car Show also helps kick-off the Village summer tourist season.   
 
The 6th Annual Rod and Custom Classic Car Show is promoted by the Foundation and the Capitola 
Cam Snappers Hot Rod Club, which has over 500 members within Santa Cruz County.  The show is 
scheduled to take place on Saturday and Sunday, June 11 & 12, 2011 from 9:00 AM through 5:00 PM. 
on Saturday and 9:00 AM through 2:00 PM on Sunday.  In addition, a Disc Jockey will make 
announcements and play recorded music in Esplanade Park from 11:00 AM to 5:00 PM on Saturday 
and 10:00 to 2:00 PM on Sunday, with the exception of Saturday Afternoon when a live band will play 
from 2:00PM to 4:00PM.  The two-day event will be staffed by volunteers and members from the 
Chamber of Commerce, Cam Snappers Hot Rod Club, Police Department, and the Capitola Public 
Safety & Community Service Foundation.   
 
DISCUSSION 
Due to the success of this event over the past five years, organizers are requesting that the permit 
continue to be granted for two-days, although the show on Sunday will conclude at 2:00 PM, and 
vehicles will be consolidated in the lower Village area on Sunday in an effort to open Capitola Avenue 
to through traffic as early as possible.  Event organizers anticipate 310 vehicles at this year’s event 
and approximately 20-30 vendors.  Organizers of this event are requesting to hang banner(s) and 
allow vendors signage at their booths and a balloon arch at both the Esplanade and Monterey Avenue 
entrances to the village.  During the event 4 parking stalls will be reserved for organizers in the Pacific  



2-10-11 AGENDA REPORT:  Capitola Rod & Custom Classic Car Show 2 

  

 
Cove Parking Lot.  Handicap access parking, which is displaced from the village, will be temporarily 
replaced by additional handicapped parking located along the 300 block of Capitola Ave.  
 
The anticipated attendance is expected to be about 10,000-15,000 people on Saturday and 
approximately 8,000-10,000 people on Sunday and as in the past; admission to the show is free.  The 
Esplanade will be posted as a No Parking Zone 72 hours before the event and local merchants and 
residents will receive a letter and flyer noticing them of the event, restricted parking and road closures 
at least 10 days before the event.  Event organizers will promote the use of the City’s shuttle service 
for spectators in addition to providing a private 15-passenger van to shuttle registered car owners, 
visitors, and staff in and out of the village.  Central Fire paramedics will provide medical assistance to 
visitors to the village.  The Capitola Public Safety and Community Service Foundation in cooperation 
with the Chamber Of Commerce will secure liability insurance for this event in compliance with the 
city’s standard coverage requirements.  
 
The food and wine court (VIP area) anticipates 75-100 visitors per/day and will be located on the 
grassy area behind the bandstand.  Police and Foundation personnel throughout the event will monitor 
the Food and Wine VIP Court.  Once again, food will be provided in the food court area by 
Maragitaville’s owner and management.  Wine is provided and served by local wineries and their staff. 
 No food or beverages will be sold or available to the general public from this location, and all 
provisions of the ABC Code will be strictly enforced.  
 
This year, the event organizers are requesting to have beer available for sale in the parking lot at 109 
San Jose Avenue near Esplanade Avenue (“Beer Garden”).  At this time, the Beer Garden portion is 
tentative pending sponsorship.  Identification checks will be conducted on those wishing to purchase 
beer and the consumption would only be permitted in the parking lot.  This is a fenced and gated area 
that would be monitored by Foundation and Event staff, in a manner similar to the Art and Wine event. 
 The Foundation is applying for a two-day State Office of Alcohol Beverage Control (ABC) permit for 
this event. 
 
The event is scheduled to close at 5:00 PM on Saturday and the streets are expected to be open and 
accessible to vehicle traffic by 7:00 PM on Saturday and by 3:30 PM on Sunday.    
 
The Special Events Permit also serves as a permit for the stage in Esplanade Park, Car Show 
activities, recorded music in Esplanade Park, a live band at the bandstand, as well as a banner request 
with the following conditions: 
 

 Encroachment permit has been applied for   
 Entertainment permit has been applied for   
 A Certificate of Insurance indemnifying the City of Capitola has been requested 
 Security for the event will be provided by volunteers 
 Hours of operation have been clearly established 
 No open containers of alcohol in public, except in food-wine court VIP area and “Beer Garden”  
 Adequate portable restrooms and trash containers have been secured for the event 
 The Fire Marshal will review and approve the event 
 Public Works will hang banners as requested 
 Abide by all Capitola Municipal Codes 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The fiscal impact of this event to the City of Capitola is minimal.  Volunteer staff from both 
organizations and the car club will provide clean up and security for the event at no cost to the city. 
 
Public Works will supply the barricades and hang the banner(s).  Volunteer staff will place and remove 
the barricades, post the parking meters and perform all clean up after the event.   
 



2-10-11 AGENDA REPORT:  Capitola Rod & Custom Classic Car Show 3 

  

 
 
The Capitola Public Safety and Community Service Foundation is seeking a waiver from the City for 
projected costs and for permit fees totaling $1406.00.  The fees are as follows: Special Event Permit 
$54, Encroachment Permit $56, Entertainment Permit Application $31, Entertainment Permit $31, 
Banner Permit $34, Two Full Day Bandstand Rentals $1200.00. 
   
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Special Event Permit Application 
2. Map of the Event 

 
Report Prepared By: Tom Held 
 
Report Approved By:  Mike Card, Chief of Police 
           

Reviewed and Forwarded 
           By City Manager:  ________ 
 
 
 
 
 
R:\Agenda Staff Reports\2011 Agenda Reports\02-10-11\Rod & Custom Classic Car Show Special Event Permit.doc              
               






























	2-10-11 CC-RDA Agenda
	2.E.1. Hazardous Materials Advisory Commission Nomination
	2.F.1 City Check Register Report
	2.F.2 RDA Check Register Report
	3.B. RDA-Council Minutes
	3.C. Planning Commission Action Minutes
	3.D. RDA Treasurer's Report
	3.E. Vintage Motorcycle Show Special Event Permit
	3.F. Art and Wine Festival Special Event Permit
	3.G. Twilight Concerts Special Event Permit
	4.A. Kennedy Dr 100-200 Master Use Permit
	4.A. Attachment 1 Kennedy Dr 100-200 Conditions
	4.A. Attachment 2 Kennedy Dr 100-200 Appeal Ltr
	4.A. Attachment 3 Kennedy Dr 100-200 PC Staff Report
	4.A. Attachment 4 Kennedy Dr 100-200 PC Minutes
	4.A. Attachment 5 Kennedy Dr 100-200 Hibble Ltr
	4.a. Attachment 6 Kennedy Dr 100-200 Levey Ltr
	4.A. Attachment 7 Kennedy Dr 100-200 Conditions
	4.B. SmartMeter Discussion
	4.B. Attachment 1 SmartMeter Draft Ordinance
	4.B. Attachment 2 SmartMeter Monning Ltr
	4.B. Attachment 3 SmartMeter Assembly Bill 37
	4.B. Attachment 4 SmartMeter Health Impacts Report
	4.B. Attachment 5 SmartMeter Minutes July 22, 2010
	4.B. Attachment 6 SmartMeter Minutes September 23, 2010
	4.B. Attachment 7 SmartMeter Resolution No. 3831
	4.B. Attachment 8 SmartMeter Senator Simitian Ltr
	4.B. Attachment 9 SmartMeter Assembly Member Monning Ltr
	4.B. Attachment 10 SmartMeter CPUC Executive Director Clanon Ltr
	5.A. Bicycle Transportation Plan
	5.A. Attachment 1 Bicycle Transportation Plan Draft Res
	5.A. Attachment 2 Bicycle Transportation Plan Draft
	Chapter 1|Introduction
	Chapter 2 goals and Objectives
	Chapter 3|existing conditions
	Chapter 4|needs analysis
	Chapter 5|bicycle plan projects
	Chapter 6|bicycle safety and education programs
	Chapter 7|funding sources
	Works Cited
	appendices

	5.B. Rod & Custom Classic Car Show Special Event Permit

